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FOREWORD 

Welcome to our annual report for 2021/22. 

The last 12 months have been another incredibly tough year, heightened by ongoing 

demands of response and recovery to the coronavirus pandemic and business-as- 

usual activities. The continued resilience of our staff and partners has been 

incredible, and it is important to acknowledge the dedication and commitment during 

such a challenging period for us all. 

It is also important to acknowledge the partnerships developed through Health and 

Care Portsmouth. Our integrated working with Portsmouth City Council has been 

invaluable in responding effectively to the pandemic across the city, including 

delivery of the vaccination programme and supporting discharge from Queen 

Alexandra Hospital. The collaborative work with our other partners including Solent 

NHS Trust, Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust and Portsmouth Primary 

Care Alliance has strengthened the provision for health and care in Portsmouth. 

Voluntary organisation HIVE Portsmouth has also become an official partner of 

Health and Care Portsmouth and is embedded in programmes such as the 

Community Mental Health Framework and in supporting clinically vulnerable 

residents across the city. This builds on the army of volunteers they mobilised to 

support clinically vulnerable residents last year and volunteers for the mass roll-out 

of COVID-19 vaccinations this year. 

GP practices have also played a vital part in the vaccination roll-out - working 

together in primary care networks, delivering drop-in clinics, running outreach 

programmes with vulnerable groups such as rough sleepers and individuals with 

substance misuse, and delivering the offer for young people and individuals who are 

immunosuppressed. At the time of writing, more than 430,000 vaccinations have 

been given in Portsmouth. 

GP practices have also continued to adapt and embrace digital channels to provide 

care safely, offering telephone and video consultations as well as face-to-face 

appointments, with more appointments now being recorded than prior to the 

pandemic. 

Mental health services like Talking Change, PositiveMinds and mental health support 

teams in schools have been more important than ever before, and we have invested 

in additional services this year including The Harbour, for out of hours support, and 

the Community Mental Health Framework to discover how we can improve mental 

health services in Portsmouth. Our Kooth online counselling service has been used 

by more than 1,600 young people since its launch in January 2021, and we've 

launched new guidance for professionals and families around social, emotional and 

mental health guidance for young people aged 5-16 years. Mental health will remain 

a key focus for development and investment in the coming months and years. 
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All of this has been delivered on top of our annual flu jab campaign, overseeing 

premises moves for both the University Practice and the North Harbour Medical 

Group GP practices, delivering enhanced care to care homes, supporting primary 

care and urgent care through winter pressures, implementing a new Long COVID 

service, supporting refugees arriving into the city, and preparing for the transfer to 

the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board. 

The resilience and dedication shown by staff has been quite remarkable, and I would 

like to extend my gratitude to everyone who has contributed over the last year. 

In preparation for the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board (ICB), we 

have continued to work closely with the Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight 

Clinical Commissioning Group, especially within the context of the Portsmouth and 

South East Hampshire system. We have implemented new systems for staff 

engagement such as the Stay Connected app and website to replace the CCG 

intranet, and are working closely with HSICCG around HR, Governance, Digital and 

Communications as we head towards the transfer to the ICB in July 2022. This 

partnership working, especially in relation to the wider Integrated Care System, was 

particularly apparent ahead of winter with continued seasonal pressures and the 

move to National Major Incident Level 4, to mobilise support for a potential COVID- 

omicron outbreak in November 2021. We have worked more closely than ever with 

organisations across the region and will continue to do so in the ICS. 

As we now enter a period of restoration and recovery, I'd like to talk about 

Portsmouth's vision for the future. Thousands of people contributed to a vision for the 

city in 2040 that reflected not just the things people hope to see, but also the way 

they want the city to feel. People told us which values mattered most to them - 

community focus, collaboration, equality, respect and innovation - but above all that 

they hoped for a óhappy and healthyô city. 

This optimistic and ambitious vision for the future is one that feels right as the CCG 

transitions into the ICB. There remains work to be done, but we are hopeful for a 

future where we can address the inequalities the pandemic has laid bare and deliver 

on that vision for Portsmouth, working more closely with our partners across 

Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. It is also pertinent timing for me personally as I 

head towards retirement and step down from my role in summer 2022. 

As we transition into the ICB, we remain committed to making Portsmouth's vision for 

a 'happy and healthy' city a reality, and to continue the important work being 

delivered at place through Health and Care Portsmouth. 

 
 
 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows 

Chair of Governing Board, NHS Portsmouth CCG 
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SECTION 1 PERFORMANCE REPORT 

This section of the annual report provides an overview of our performance across 

our range of responsibilities between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022. These include 

our main areas of focus over the past year (section 1.3), our performance against 

important national targets, and actions we have taken to improve this (section 1.4). 

Later sections of the report provide updates on some of our other key statutory 

requirements and responsibilities including sustainability (1.5), quality (1.6), how we 

have engaged with patients, public and our key stakeholders (1.7), and reducing 

inequalities (1.8). 

1.1 Overview 

Established in April 2013, the CCG is responsible for planning, buying, and ensuring 

the quality of healthcare services in Portsmouth including hospital care, primary care 

(provided in local GP surgeries), urgent and emergency care, and most community 

health services, including mental health and learning disabilities. We commission for 

a registered population of approximately 233,200 spending around £373 million per 

annum. Our geographical boundaries match those of Portsmouth City Council. 

We are a membership organisation, led by five local GPs elected to represent all the 

GP practices in the city. 

We want people who live in the city to be able to lead longer and healthier lives 

knowing that, when they need help, they can get it quickly and easily with the 

minimum of fuss. We achieve this by working with a number of organisations 

including every GP surgery in the city, other NHS providers, voluntary and 

community organisations and other organisations that provide, or support the 

provision of, health and care services or have a role in looking after Portsmouth 

residents. 

1.2 The context in which we work ς Health and Care Portsmouth 

Our vision is for everyone in Portsmouth to be enabled to live healthy, safe and 

independent lives, with care and support that is integrated around the needs of the 

individual at the right time and in the right setting. We will do things because they 

matter to local people, we know that they work and we know that they will make a 

measurable difference to their lives. 

- Health and Care Portsmouth vision statement 

The local picture 
 

Health and Care Portsmouth describes both a way of working across the wider 

health and care system in the city, and the structural arrangements that support the 

deepening integration between partners. 
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The city developed a Blueprint for Health and Care in Portsmouth in 2015, agreed by 

the five main participants in the local system at that point ï the CCG, the council, 

Solent NHS Trust, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS University Trust (PHU) and the 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance. This blueprint set out a range of commitments 

and aspirations and has provided the roadmap for improving and enhancing place- 

based care. 

At the heart of Health and Care Portsmouth is partnership working to take down 

ówallsô between services and organisations so that residents experience seamless 

services and receive the support they need. For Portsmouth CCG and Portsmouth 

City Council this has meant an ongoing commitment to strengthen and deepen the 

integration between executive, commissioning, planning and finance functions to 

ensure a joined-up approach and that resources can flow more easily across the 

system. 

In 2020, we reached the end of the initial five-year blueprint and have worked hard 

throughout 2021/22 to refresh the blueprint for health and care in Portsmouth, 

recognising that the operating context has changed with the development of 

Integrated Care Systems (ICSs). This has included refreshing the working principles 

and commitments identified within the blueprint and considering how Health and 

Care Portsmouth can work alongside Portsmouth's Health and Wellbeing Strategy, 

the City Vision for 2040, and the work of the ICS at regional level. 

The national picture 

In February 2022, the government published a white paper 'Health and social care 

integration: joining up care for people, places and populations' that sets out 

expectations around the future working in Integrated Care Systems, recognising the 

need both for a robust and effective system at scale but also the importance of 

effective place-based delivery. We were delighted that our approach to place-based 

delivery was highlighted in this paper as best practice by the UK government. 

As part of an explanation on models already operating, the paper said: ñHealth and 

care leaders in Portsmouth ï including Portsmouth City Council, NHS Portsmouth 

Clinical Commissioning Group, Solent NHS Trust, Portsmouth Hospitals NHS Trust, 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance and local voluntary sector organisations ï 

developed a blueprint setting out their ambition for integrated services. 

 

ñThis Portsmouth Blueprint had at its heart the principle that first comes the person 

and family being cared for, then comes the team, and only after that comes the 

organisation. Partners have made extensive use of co-location to bring teams 

together, with the chief operating officer of Solent NHS Trust (which provides 

community and mental health services across Portsmouth, Southampton, Isle of 

Wight and Hampshire) being first to work from within the city councilôs headquarters. 

https://healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/A_blueprint_for_health_and_care_in_Portsmouth_PDF_3logos.pdf
https://healthandcare.portsmouth.gov.uk/wp-content/uploads/2018/02/A_blueprint_for_health_and_care_in_Portsmouth_PDF_3logos.pdf
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/health-and-social-care-integration-joining-up-care-for-people-places-and-populations
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ñThe civic offices now accommodate community nursing and social care, the learning 

disability service, health visiting, 0-19 young peopleôs services, and school nursing 

for the centre and south of the city. As part of this, they will explore the role that 

family hubs can play in bringing together services in the community to support 

families.ò 

 

We welcome that the white paper makes clear the importance of this place-based 

activity, which will typically align to local authority boundaries. With our well- 

established and effective model, Portsmouth is in an excellent position to work with 

partners in the ICS to deliver the aspirations set out in the white paper. 

The future 

The NHS and the patients it cares for continue to face extraordinary challenges: 

potential future waves of COVID-19, the threat presented by Long COVID, the 

impact the pandemic has had on people's mental health, delayed presentation of 

patients with more advanced conditions that havenôt sought treatment over the last 

year, and increased inequalities - to name but a few. Staff have also experienced 

sustained pressure over the last two years, and we are beginning to see impact on 

NHS services across the system. 

While it is clear we face a challenging period, there still remains reason for hope. 

The close and effective working relationship between the CCG, the council and city 

partners allows Portsmouth to take a holistic view of people's health and wellbeing. 

This will provide an effective foundation for further integration as we move into the 

ICB arrangements. Working together, we can focus on the wider determinants of 

health, for example housing, education, transport and economic opportunity. Many 

organisations in the city have identified issues around race and poverty as priority 

areas of action for the next 12 months. 

The blueprint recognised that the city operates within a wider context too, this 

centres around the acute hospital footprint of Portsmouth and South East Hampshire 

(PSEH), but also recognises the benefits from working at scale across the bigger 

geography of Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. We have well established planning 

mechanisms to support the PSEH footprint, which brings together partners in the 

area across the local authority boundaries. Portsmouth CCG has also been active 

participants in the development of the Hampshire and Isle of integrated care system 

(ICS) design and development plan, and the community-led City Vision work. 

Residents described a vision for a óhappy and healthyô city by 2040, where everyone 

can get the education, care and support for their physical and mental health needs. 

The thousands of contributions to Portsmouth's City Vision have been used to 

refresh our own blueprint, as well as working with colleagues across Hampshire and 

Isle of Wight to deliver on the ambitious targets set out in the government's vision for 

the future of the local NHS. 
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To help meet these challenges and ensure we continue to deliver towards helping 

people to live well and be able to access the health and care they need, when and 

where they need it, we will: 

¶ Continue to develop stronger integration with partners, especially the council, 

to strengthen our place based strategic commissioning arrangements. 

¶ Continue to deliver the Health and Care Portsmouth transformation 

programme, in line with the government's recognition of the importance of 

robust and responsive place-based delivery. 

¶ Maintain the crucial close working with colleagues across the region as we 

move towards a new way of working as an Integrated Care System (ICS) 

across Hampshire and Isle of Wight. 

1.3 Reviewing our year 
 

The continued COVID-19 pandemic response has been the primary focus for health 

and care during the past year, as well as looking forward to recovery and focusing on 

'business as usual' activities; albeit in a slightly different way. 

 
Never before have services had to change the way they deliver in such short 

timescales, including standing down certain activities to allow capacity and resource 

for new priorities, such as delivery of the COVID-19 vaccination. 

 
Below are just a few of the ways we've seen services adapt to meet the challenges 

posed by COVID-19: 

 
Increased transition to digital 

 
With a need to reduce face to face contact and travel - especially in 2020/21 - there 

was an increased shift to providing services digitally (online, over the phone or by 

video) where possible. 

 
This has generally been well received, including by residents who have traditionally 

been more reluctant to access healthcare support digitally, noting the convenience 

that these methods can bring. 

 
The third wave of residents' research conducted by Portsmouth City Council in 

November 2021 found that 44% of residents have been able to access the NHS 

services they need over the phone, with 36% accessing services online. 

 
In 2020/21, those over 65 did express more of a preference for face-to-face 

appointments than younger respondents, and this continues to be reflected in 

2021/22. While it is important not to lose the ground gained in offering services 

remotely, more work will need to be done to understand if this has a detrimental 
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impact on some residents, particularly those in more vulnerable groups who we 

know tend to have greater healthcare needs. 

 
Primary care 

 
The pandemic has had a significant impact on the way health services are delivered 

across the country, including GP services, which are seeing higher demand than 

before the pandemic and increased pressures around winter and spring. Primary 

care, like the wider healthcare system, is also experiencing significant workforce 

challenges. 

 
Our 12 GP practices in Portsmouth remained open throughout the pandemic, 

adapting, and developing new and innovative ways of working. They have worked 

together through primary care networks, and we have seen practices join forces to 

deliver services in ways that best support patients while also helping the practice 

increase resilience. This has been especially true with the COVID vaccination 

programme and booster jabs alongside their day-to-day responsibilities. 

 
Practices benefitted from the NHS Winter Access Fund (WAF) which has provided 

for some additional capacity over the winter period to support practice resilience in 

delivery of services. This includes GPs, nurses, healthcare assistants and some non- 

patient facing staff, enabling practices to run clinics that they would otherwise have 

not had the resources for. The extra sessions have been provided through a mixture 

of locums, additional hours undertaken by the practice teams, and an alternative 

provider offering remote consultations. The WAF has also seen practices enhance 

their capacity through innovation and by adopting more efficient solutions. Examples 

include the purchase of equipment, which has supported faster and more accurate 

monitoring/diagnosis, and the implementation of new technology to support more 

efficient processes for pathology. 

 
Ease of telephone access to the surgery continues to present a challenge for some 

patients and this is being tackled through the WAF to assist practices to move to 

modern cloud hosted telephony systems. These systems will provide improved and 

more resilient telephone access for patients whilst providing increased functionality, 

control, and visibility to practices. 

 
Further partnership work has also been seen with acute trusts, community services, 

the local authority, pharmacies and the voluntary sector to help provide the support 

that residents need in innovative ways. It has required rethinking the relationships 

that would usually exist between these organisations and adopting new working 

practices that best deliver towards safety and patient need. Health and care may 

have long faced criticisms of silo working but the pandemic has certainly made 
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significant improvements to this, which we need to ensure we maintain as we move 

towards recovery. 

 
There has been a need to strike a careful balance between reducing pressure on 

primary care to enable them to meet the challenges posed by COVID whilst not 

causing a reluctance in patients to seek support when needed. We know that some 

patients avoided using healthcare services due to fear of catching the virus or not 

wanting to put further pressure on the NHS whilst it battled COVID, and this has 

continued throughout the year. A key part of recovery planning will be looking at the 

impact of people delaying presenting to primary care. 

 
Supporting vulnerable residents 

 
Looking after the most vulnerable in our community remained a priority as the 

COVID-19 pandemic continued to affect this group. 

Care home and domiciliary care support 

There has been an integrated response via Health and Care Portsmouth (HCP) to 

support care home and domiciliary care providers across the city. We have a 

citywide approach via the Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance (PPCA), who support 

the primary care networks in delivering enhanced care to homes, with a single 

clinical director for all 39 homes. The CCG commissions Solent NHS Trust to provide 

a Care Home team to support the enhanced care to homes provision. They continue 

to offer regular multi-disciplinary teams (MDTs) in care homes and recently 

increased cover over the weekends. 

The CCG quality improvement team (QIT) leads the coordination of outbreak 

responses in care homes on behalf of HCP and maintains an up-to-date situation 

report. The team works closely with the Director of Public Health to ensure 

appropriate protocols are developed and implemented in response to COVID-19 

infection prevention and control in social care sector. This has been vital to ensuring 

care homes can support the flow of discharges from Portsmouth Hospitals University 

NHS Trust while managing the risk to new and existing residents. 

The QIT have led communications with providers for HCP during the pandemic, 

producing a regular email bulletin for social care providers on behalf of the Integrated 

Care System (ICS) supplemented with local HCP information. The team has 

continued to coordinate and chair a regular MS Teams meeting for care home 

managers. The team has worked with the communications and engagement team to 

develop new information and guidance resources for providers in Microsoft Teams. 

The QIT work with colleagues in the ICS to plan and deliver system wide learning 

and development opportunities for providers, leadership, including digital solutions 

and infection prevention and control. 
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The Medicines Optimisation Team have supported the enhanced care to homes by 

providing a weekly contact call to all elderly care homes in the city to identify and 

support with medication related problems. The team also supports the review of new 

or recently discharged residents, closely linking in with the Solent Community Care 

Home team to deliver MDTs. 

The team have also provided support and advice to care homes to ensure all 

medication processes are carried out in a safe and effective manner, including 

medication ordering process, with 74% of all care homes now ordering medication 

via the SystmOne online ordering system. 

Clinically extremely vulnerable residents: 
 

Building on last yearôs efforts by the CCG, HIVE Portsmouth and Portsmouth City 

Council to provide support to clinically extremely vulnerable residents who were 

advised by the government to shield or who had to self-isolate, this year we 

supported Portsmouth City Councilôs Reconnecting Communities Fund. This fund 

was about encouraging clinically extremely vulnerable residents to re-engage with 

their communities and get involved in local activities. In total, 13 grants were 

awarded to voluntary and third sector organisations, totalling £157,390. Recipient 

groups include Aspex Visual Arts Trust, Royal Marines Association ï The Royal 

Marines Charity, Home-Start Portsmouth, The Salvation Army and more. 

 
Mental health 

 
PositiveMinds 

 

The pandemic has impacted on the mental wellbeing of many people. From losing 

loved ones, to financial difficulties, isolation and home schooling. Our PositiveMinds 

service, which is delivered in partnership with Solent NHS Trust and Solent Mind, 

continues to offer support via face-to-face appointments, telephone conversations 

and online workshops to those feeling anxious or low. 

 
The Harbour 

 

In addition, we have launched The Harbour in partnership with Solent NHS Trust - an 

out of hours mental health support service for anyone aged 18+ to receive short-term 

support in their time of need. Initially launching over three nights, the service has 

been extended to seven nights, and offers support through text, video calls or 

telephone conversations. It's a peer-led service that will work with individuals to 

deescalate their distress and support them to create their own safety plan. Next day 

follow-up support calls are provided by a service local to the individual e.g., 

PositiveMinds in Portsmouth. 
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Kooth 
 

We have also continued to promote Kooth, an online counselling service for young 

people which has been extremely well used. In its first year in Portsmouth, there 

have been almost 1,600 registrations for the service and over 7,500 logins. Anxiety 

or stress was top reason for young people accessing counselling, with self-harm and 

suicidal thoughts also top presenting issues. 

 
Social, Emotional and Mental Health guidance 

 

We have also undertaken a city-wide review of children and young people's mental 

health support pathways; mapping out what is available and how each service can 

be accessed. 

 
What we've learnt is that professionals and families don't always know when and 

how to access the right support which identified a need for clear and comprehensive 

guidance about commonly experienced mental health issues, and when and where 

to access support. 

 
As a result, new guidance for professionals and families has been co-produced with 

partners from Portsmouth Parent Board. It will be hosted in a dedicated section for 

children and young people's mental health on the Portsmouth City Council website 

and includes: 

 
¶ A quick guide for professionals 

¶ Comprehensive guidance on a range of areas of concern 

¶ A section for young people with advice and where to get support 

Mental Health Support Teams 

Over the last three years Portsmouth have been successfully awarded NHS England 

funding to set up three Mental Health Support Teams (MHSTs). The teams are fully 

embedded in all primary and secondary schools across Portsmouth as well as City of 

Portsmouth College. The MHSTs deliver evidence based early interventions for 

children and young people with mild to moderate mental health problems. They 

promote resilience and wellbeing, support earlier intervention, enable appropriate 

signposting and deliver evidence-based support, care and interventions. The 

interventions include one to one Cognitive Behavioural Therapy work with young 

people as well as supporting parents and group work. The teams are also working 

alongside schools to develop whole mental health approaches. 

 
The MHSTs are delivered by Solent NHS and are closely aligned to the Child and 

Adolescent Mental Health service (CAMHS). The main point of contact is through the 
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school's pastoral support who links in with the named MHST practitioner for the 

school. Young people, parents and carers can speak to their school about making a 

referral to MHST. 

 
MHSTs are expected to achieve a number of outcomes which include: 

 
¶ Better mental health and wellbeing amongst children and young people with 

improved quality of life for children, young people and their families and carers 

¶ Greater continuity in education leading to better educational outcomes 

¶ Reduce the demand to specialist CAMHS and a reduction in mental health 

problems extending into adulthood 

¶ Education settings feel better equipped and supported to provide support to 

children and young people to look after their own mental health 

¶ Encourage children and young people to seek help if required 

 
Young people gain a better understanding of their mental health and wellbeing needs 

Community Mental Health Framework 

This programme of work - which aims to improve access to mental health services in 

the city - has undertaken a number of discovery events during the summer with 

people with lived experience, carers, the community and voluntary sector 

organisations including the Hive and secondary care staff. These events are critical 

to ensure whatever changes are considered will have been co-produced with people 

with lived experience, their carers, staff from both NHS provider organisations as 

well as the community and voluntary organisations from across the city. 

 
The themes from these events can be broadly categorised into three main areas: 

 
¶ Accessibility - ensuring timely access to the right support 

¶ Communication: 

o For the person being supported - developing care plans together so 

they feel in control and informed about the care and support available 

to them which is able to meet their individual needs 

o Of the services - integration and data sharing which enables teams and 

services to be better joined up so reducing duplication and delays due 

to process issues for the benefit of the individual 

¶ Trust - ability to build positive trusting relationships between the person 

seeking help and the team who support them. 

 
The project team have held five sessions to date and will be holding more to ensure 

we are able to capture a wide range of views to help influence and shape the 

transformation. 
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A mapping exercise is also currently underway to map out the existing services so 

we can see the impact any changes may have on service provision to ensure no one 

will be disadvantaged. 

 
All of this work has been complemented by promotion of national services to 

residents such as Every Mind Matters, and specific campaigns targeted at certain 

age groups i.e., young people. Mental health will be a key area of focus for recovery 

work. 

 
Autism services 

 
Through Health and Care Portsmouth, we are supporting Portsmouth Autism 

Community Forum (PACF) who have won funding for three new projects to support 

autistic adults in Portsmouth. These projects are designed to help create a city that 

works for autistic people by providing support, information and practical advice for 

autistic people themselves, as well as their family members and carers. The aim is to 

improve public understanding of autism, helping businesses and healthcare 

providers to provide more autism-friendly spaces and deliver better services. 

 
Flu 

 
Receiving the flu vaccination took on more importance this year given the potential 

dangers of contracting flu and COVID-19 at the same time. To minimise risk, new 

cohorts were added to the list of those eligible for the free vaccination. 

 
This year, we vaccinated 83.3% of those aged 65+ against a target of 75%. As with 

other CCGs, work needs to continue to encourage vaccination in some of the other 

at-risk groups who didn't meet the 75% target e.g., children under three and 

pregnant women. 

 
Reducing pressure on Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust 

 
Whilst the impact of COVID has been felt throughout health and care services, 

hospitals have perhaps seen some of the most intense pressure. This was 

particularly felt in winter with continued seasonal pressures and the move to National 

Major Incident Level 4 (to mobilise support for a potential COVID-omicron outbreak 

in November 2021). 

 
This has resulted in high bed occupancy at Queen Alexandra Hospital and, as a 

result, the hospital has been experiencing ambulance handover delays. 
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A range of different initiatives has been put in place to provide support, including the 

launch of NHS 111 First in 2020/21, schemes to reduce the level of minor injury 

attendance at the Emergency Department at Queen Alexandra Hospital, a clinical 

assessment service to review ED dispositions arising from 999 and111 calls as well 

as opportunities to bring hospital and primary care clinicians together for advice and 

guidance, or to facilitate direct patient admission to reduce flow through ED. 

 
Partners across the system have taken a proactive, multi-agency response through 

the Portsmouth and South-East Hampshire (PSEH) Urgent and Emergency Care 

Improvement Programme, which includes taking part in two national pilot schemes 

to: 

 
¶ Improve timeliness of ambulance handover, and 

¶ Improve the ease of discharge. 

 
The PSEH Urgent and Emergency Care Improvement plan focuses on: 

 
¶ Admissions Avoidance - includes increasing capacity in primary care, 

maximising capacity in urgent treatment centres, delivering a communications 

campaign around 'choose well' messaging, increasing capacity and uptake of 

virtual wards and more. 

¶ Increasing capacity and flow - includes an ambulance rapid release national 

pilot and increasing bed capacity through Southern Health NHS Foundation 

Trust, Solent NHS Trust and other partners. 

¶ Timely discharges - includes national pilot on increasing efficiency in 

appropriate patient discharge. 

 
We are also working closely with communications colleagues to ensure appropriate 

and timely messages to residents about where to get help if needed i.e., 111 online, 

urgent treatment centres (UTCs) and self-care. A video showcasing how a UTC 

works, local opening times and how to access the sites, is currently being 

investigated to share on social media, websites and in resident e-newsletters. 

 
Implementation of new Long COVID Service 

 
The CCG has worked with Southern Health NHS Foundation Trust and Solent NHS 

Trust to provide support for patients dealing with the effects of Long COVID. We 

supported with the creation of the designated Long COVID clinic in Portsmouth and 

have been promoting the national Your COVID Recovery website to residents. 
 

The Long COVID clinic is accessible by GP referral for anyone who is still 

experiencing symptoms of COVID-19 for more than 12 weeks. Patients undergo a 

number of physical, cognitive and psychological assessments. Allied Health 

https://www.yourcovidrecovery.nhs.uk/app/
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Professionals then work alongside other health teams to develop a support plan that 

will help improve the individualôs health outcomes and quality of life. Patients will also 

be informed about existing Long COVID support services and will have access to the 

óLiving with COVIDô app, offering patients education, support and encouragement. 

 
We are also part of a working group including representatives from Portsmouth City 

Council, Solent NHS Trust and Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust, as well 

as residents to look at the impact of Long COVID on the city and what support, 

education and awareness might be needed to help address this. 

 
COVID-19 vaccination programme 

 
Delivering the largest vaccination programme in NHS history would be an 

achievement at any time but to do so at speed, and during a pandemic when health 

services have already been under extreme pressure for months, is nothing short of 

remarkable. 

 
The CCG has played a key role in supporting primary care networks with the delivery 

of the vaccination programme, which was launched and led by the primary care 

networks before other sites were set up. The CCG has also closely linked with 

partners such as Solent NHS Trust, who run the vaccination centre at St James 

Hospital, and community pharmacies who are involved in the programme to ensure a 

co-ordinated approach. 

 
There has also been close working with Portsmouth City Council to target vulnerable 

groups or those who are displaying lower uptake of the vaccine. This has included 

outreach activity to vaccine hesitant groups such as individuals from Black African, 

Black Caribbean, Chinese and Eastern European communities, men, and young 

people. Activities have included pop-up clinics at Portsmouth Jami Mosque, 

Portsmouth FC, local shopping centres and community centres. 

 
The data will continue to be analysed to highlight groups we are not yet reaching. 

Current plans for 22/23 includes hyper-targeted outreach to areas of high 

deprivation, to target the 20% of the Portsmouth population not yet to take up the 

offer of the first dose of the vaccine. 

 
At the time of writing, over 430,000 doses of the vaccine had been delivered in the 

area covered by the CCG; broken down as 163,352 first doses, 153,276 second 

doses and 118,084 boosters or third doses. 

 
In addition to the mass vaccination site at St. James' Hospital, which is accessible 

via 'walk in' 8am-8pm, 4 days a week (including weekends), the universal offer 

through Primary Care Networks and the pharmacy offer through Laly's and 
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Goldchem, we are delivering a roving/pop-up model in partnership with public health 

colleagues and Solent NHS Trust. The pop-up model is being used to target 

geographical areas where we know take-up is low, and running targeted clinics to 

specific communities i.e., people experiencing homelessness, students, people 

experiencing substance misuse. We also know there is low uptake in specific ethnic 

groups (most notably Eastern European, Black African and Black Caribbean) and 

are running pop-up clinics targeted at these communities, offering translated 

materials, utilising community champions, engaging on the ground and trialling 

clinics in different settings i.e., churches/mosques/football grounds. 

 
Targeted marketing campaigns have also been run for Eastern European 

communities, including the development of a translated website, and co-produced 

videos and interviews with members of Black African and Black Caribbean 

communities. 

 
Uptake also remains low among younger people (18-24) particularly in more 

deprived communities. To address this, we've established a working group for a 

specific geographical area (Somerstown) to adapt a new approach based on local 

knowledge and insight. This group has already begun to identify key insights in 

relation to young people and students - lack of interest in getting vaccinated now that 

there is no need to prove vaccination status; sense that they are not at risk so no 

need either; continued concerns around fertility, for example. 

 
Community conversation insight gathering is also happening with community groups, 

voluntary sector organisations, small informal groups and others to identify some of 

the barriers, issues and ideas people may have to support increases in uptake. 

 
Primary Care Estates 

 
North Harbour Medical Group 

 

There is a proposed move for the North Harbour Medical Group (NHMG) from their 

current location in Cosham Health Centre to a purpose-built premises on the 

Highclere site (currently an underused car park) in Cosham. 

 
Planning permission has been submitted and it is hoped approval will be granted in 

March 2022. The business case remains with NHS England for final approval. The 

projected completion date is spring 2023. 

 
The reason for the move is that Cosham Health Centre is an older building in poor 

condition and it's not financially viable to carry out repairs. The new premises will be 

more modern with good on-site parking facilities and improved access. The new 
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location is a short distance from Cosham Health Centre and is well served by public 

transport. 

 
University Surgery Practice 

 

The University Surgery Practice has been preparing to move into new larger modern 

premises in the heart of Commercial Road, just 0.5 miles from the current site and 

immediately adjacent to the Cascades shopping centre, throughout 2021/22. To 

better reflect that the practice supports University students and wider Portsmouth 

residents they are also changing their name to The UniCity Medical Centre. 

 
Refurbishment work to the new UniCity Surgery Practice premises has been slightly 

delayed by electric and internet connectivity issues which are currently being 

resolved. Completion is now expected in late May 2022. The practice will move in 

shortly afterwards. 

 
The move is necessary due to University redevelopment plans and a growing 

population, which means the practice needs to be able to accommodate more 

patients. It will also allow them to offer additional services. Patient care will continue 

at the current site until the new building is ready for the practice to move into. 

 
Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 

 

A decision was made in 2020/21 not to re-procure the contract to provide primary 

care services through the Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre when it comes to an end 

on Thursday 30 September 2021. As a result of this, the practice was closed on this 

date. 

 
This decision was made due to a number of factors: 

 
¶ The future of the building that currently houses the surgery is uncertain and 

the condition of the building is poor. 

¶ The requirement to therefore relocate the practice patients regardless of any 

contract change 

¶ Considerable investment is taking place in the new premises for the University 

practice in the city centre which is due to open between December 2021 and 

January 2022 (0.4 miles from the current Guildhall Walk premise) 

¶ The University practice and others in the city have capacity to take on the 

patients from Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 

¶ The NHS national direction of travel is towards bigger, co-located or merged 

practices which are more sustainable for the future 

¶ The ability to offer patient choice, alongside minimum disruption for patients 
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¶ It is the most sensible option financially allowing more investment in primary 

care services and the wider NHS offer overall, bringing greatest potential 

benefits for patients 

 
The CCG undertook a managed transfer of patients, which offered patients a choice 

of nearby practices. 

 
John Pounds Surgery 

 

We have been working closely with the Lake Road practice group, Portsmouth City 

Council, HIVE Portsmouth and local residents to look at increasing the opening 

hours at the surgery, which had reduced due to COVID and some long-standing 

challenges in relation to the lease and the capacity challenges within primary care. 

Progress is being made with the lease and there is ongoing discussion with the 

Practice and Council. 

 
Support for asylum seeker accommodation 

 
Since February 2022, Portsmouth CCG and Trafalgar Medical Group Practice have 

been supporting, and continue to support, the Home Office and refugees arriving in 

the city. This is by providing medical support to families in need who have been 

provided with temporary accommodation at a private hotel while their applications 

are being processed. 

 
Staff wellbeing 

 
Given the increased pressure and challenges posed by the pandemic over the past 

year, coupled with a move to remote working, which has been in place for the last 12 

months, an area of focus has been on staff wellbeing and resilience. 

 
We've been promoting the Employee Assistance Programme that we have as part of 

our HR arrangements with Portsmouth City Council and the national support that has 

been provided for NHS staff. We've continued with the Staff Engagement Group and 

encouraged staff to either provide feedback direct to this group via the email address 

or to speak with their staff representative, which all teams have. We've also looked to 

provide ongoing communication through regular one to one conversations and team 

meetings, emails from the senior team, Team Brief virtual meetings and intranet 

articles. 



Page 21 

 

 

1.4 How we performed this year 

Performance 

As a CCG, we monitor our performance using a broad range of measures in order to 

provide as complete a view as possible of how we are delivering on behalf of our 

population. 

 
Performance and progress is monitored against delivery of: 

 
¶ NHS Constitution Rights and Pledges. 

¶ NHS Operating Plan Commitments. 

¶ Local CCG Priorities. 

¶ NHS Outcome Framework ï CCG Annual Assessment. 

 
Performance and progress against the key constitutional standards is captured 

through the CCGôs Performance Report. This report is used to provide the Governing 

Board and the Executive Committee with a high level overview of the overall CCG 

performance against key constitutional targets and other standards that define an 

effective commissioner. 

 
In June 2021, NHS England and NHS Improvementôs published its approach to 

oversight for 2021/22, which continued to develop its expectations around system- 

led delivery of integrated care. This builds upon the vision set out in the ñNHS Long 

Term Planò1, ñIntegrating care: Next steps to building strong and effective integrated 

care systems across Englandò2, the White Paper ñIntegration and innovation: 

Working together to improve health and social care for allò3, and aligns with the 

priorities set out in the 2021/22 Operational Planning Guidance. 

 
In 2021/22, the CCG continued to respond to the impact that COVID-19 had on local 

populations and endeavoured to provide the full range of non-COVID services within 

an evolving local and regional context. Significant pressures developed in November 

2021 with the emergence of the Omicron variant that impacted greatly on service 

capacity. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

1 NHS Long Term Plan 
2 NHS England » Integrating care: Next steps to building strong and effective integrated care systems across 
England 
3 Integration and innovation: working together to improve health and social care for all (HTML version) - GOV.UK 
(www.gov.uk) 

https://www.longtermplan.nhs.uk/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.england.nhs.uk/publication/integrating-care-next-steps-to-building-strong-and-effective-integrated-care-systems-across-england/
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all/integration-and-innovation-working-together-to-improve-health-and-social-care-for-all-html-version
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The table below details the CCGôs performance in the last three months in relation to NHS Constitution standards and other key 

performance indicators. 

 

Source: NHS England https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/ , NHS Digital https://digital.nhs.uk/search/document- 

type/publication/publicationStatus/true?area=data&sort=date , GOV.uk https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/
https://digital.nhs.uk/search/document-type/publication/publicationStatus/true?area=data&sort=date
https://digital.nhs.uk/search/document-type/publication/publicationStatus/true?area=data&sort=date
https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics
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Performance against NHS Constitution Standards 

999 Ambulance Response Times 

As a result of significant demand, South Central Ambulance Service has not 

achieved the majority of 999 response time targets over the last 6 months. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
Accident and Emergency 

Due to our main provider (Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust) taking part in 

a national pilot, performance relating to standard Accident and Emergency remain 

suspended although performance is monitored locally. 

Recognising the significant pressures with urgent care the Portsmouth and South 

East Hampshire local delivery system is leading on a targeted urgent care 

improvement plan that includes participation in national pilots and has been 

supported by NHSE. 

 

Planned Care 

Cancer Care 

The CCG has consistently performed well against the national cancer standards. 

 
 
 
 
 
Despite the pandemic, NHS staff have worked hard to prioritise cancer services and 

the majority of CCG patients have received their cancer treatment on time. As part of 

the Wessex Cancer Alliance, the CCG continues to work closely with provider 

colleagues to ensure timely referral, diagnosis and treatment of patients. 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) 

The pandemic has had a significant impact on the delivery of elective care and, as a 

result, there has been an increase in patients who are waiting for treatment. The 

table below shows the number of CCG patients who were on waiting lists in the three 

months up to the end of January 2022. 
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Target Novem 

IAPT Access 

IAPT Recovery 

IAPT Waiting Times - 6 weeks access tre 

IAPT Waitin 

Org Indicator 

 

 
 

As part of the system approach to recovering elective activity, the CCG is working 

closely with its main provider Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust (PHU) and 

wider system colleagues to ensure patients continue to benefit from common 

tracking of waiting lists; consistent clinical review and prioritisation as well as 

accessing appropriate treatment in a timely manner from locally implemented 

changes and transformation opportunities. 

Diagnostic Test Waiting Time 

In January 2022, 68% of the CCGôs patients requiring any one of fifteen diagnostic 

tests were seen within the 6 weeks 
 

Indicator 
 Org 

   

 

 

Diagnostic 6 week waits 

The CCGôs performance is mostly influenced by the results of PHU who missed the 

target in January 2022, recording 63% compared with the national standard of 99%. 

Both the CCG and PHU are active participants in plans that involve all parties across 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight to create additional capacity and efficiency through 

collaborative working across pathology and imaging networks. 

 

Mental Health 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies (IAPT) 

The CCG has worked closely with Solent NHS Trust to ensure people have 

continued to receive the support they need during the pandemic. 
 

The CCG continues to work with Solent NHS Trust to expand capacity and improve 

quality in order to meet the ambitions set out in the Mental Health Implementation 

Plan 2019/20ï2023/24. 

Out of Area Placements 

Despite significant pressures, only 1 CCG patient was being treated in an out of area 

inpatient facility at the end of 2021/22. 

Indicator Org Target Novembe 

RTT incomplete waits under 18 Weeks 

Overall size of the waiting list 

Number 52+ week RTT waits 

Number 78+ week RTT waits 

Number 1 

PCC 
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Dementia Diagnosis 

Due to the pandemic, GPs have had a reduced opportunity to be able to offer 

assessment and diagnosis to people who need. We are that some of these reasons 

include residents being reluctant to visit their GP due to fears of catching COVID or 

adding to the pressure on the NHS. 
 

Indicator 
 Org 

   

 

 

Estimated diagnosis rate 

It is anticipated performance will improve as more people begin to use GP services 

as normal. 

 

Performance against the CCG Annual Assessment Framework 

NHS England conducts annual assessment every year to determine CCGs overall 

performance rating through the use of aggregated performance against a number of 

indicators to determine the thresholds that place a CCG into one of the following four 

possible overall performance categories: 

¶ Outstanding. 

¶ Good. 

¶ Requires improvement. 

¶ Inadequate. 

Based on this framework, Portsmouth CCGôs overall performance for 2019/20 (the 

most recent available) has been rated as ñGoodò which is the same as the previous 

year. 

1.5 Ensuring we develop in a sustainable way 

We are committed to improving working conditions, tackling climate change and 

protecting the environment. Sustainability has become increasingly important as the 

impact of peopleôs lifestyles and business choices are changing the world in which 

we live. As a CCG, we believe we can support sustainable development in the local 

area by focusing on three areas: 

¶ In our commissioning of health care services ï ensuring we support 

environmental and social sustainability in our processes and approaches 



Page 26 

 

 

¶ In our relationship with our member practices ï to promote sustainable 

development across all our member practices 

¶ As an organisation ï taking actions to be a responsible organisation in 

respect of environmental and social sustainability 

Although we are a small organisation, we still have a responsibility to ensure we 

behave in a responsible, ethical and sustainable manner. To achieve this we work as 

part of Health and Care Portsmouth to support Portsmouth City Council to improve 

working conditions, tackle climate change, and protect the environment. We work as 

a member of the Health and Wellbeing board and in partnership with our local Public 

Health colleagues in taking forward this approach within the city. 

During 2021/22 the CCG continued to support carbon reduction, and the revision of 

the new Climate Change Strategy and Carbon Action Plans for the city. These 

set out the foundations for the council, its suppliers and the wider city to come 

together to take action against climate change by focusing on projects that will have 

the most impact on carbon emissions. The city has already reduced carbon 

emissions by 41% - bringing the annual carbon emissions down from approximately 

1.3 million tonnes of carbon dioxide to 751,084 tonnes in 2019. 

This has been achieved through a number of schemes including: 

¶ Energy 

- Solar panel installations (current capacity to annually generate 6 GWh, 

enough for 1,400 family homes) 

- Decarbonisation of public sector buildings and assets through insulation, 

smart controls, lower carbon energy systems, solar panels, batteries, and 

LED lighting) 

- Future-proofing social housing, reducing residents' energy costs 

- Improved sustainability requirements in planning requirements 

- LED street lighting, reducing energy demand by 40% 

¶ Greening 

- Rewilding and urban meadows with 799 new trees planted in 2021/2022, 

and 150,000 new plants at council-owned housing estates 

¶ Waste 

- Food waste trial rollout across the city 

¶ Travel, Transport and Infrastructure 

- Improved and greener public transport, with 105 lower emissions busses 

- 36 on-street electric vehicle charging points 

- Active travel support, with a range of schemes to promote active travel 

including ñbike doctorò bike services and repair clinics, on-street bike 

hangars, marked quieter cycle routes, guided rides, bikeability training 

for children and the óPompey Monster Walk to School Challengeô, and 

the trial of electric scooters across the city, provided by Voi 
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- Portsmouth International Port aiming to become the first zero emission 

operations port in the UK 

The new city Carbon Action Plan prioritises actions that will reduce carbon and 

address some of the city's health, social and economic inequalities, across: 

¶ Travel and transport 

¶ Buildings and infrastructure 

¶ Business and the green economy 

¶ Waste and consumption 

¶ Natural environment 

¶ Engagement and partnerships 

It recognises that 38% of the cityôs emissions are estimated to come from transport 

(285,020 tonnes CO2), closely followed by energy consumed in private homes (31%, 

230,117 tonnes CO2) and commercial activity (15%, 116,461 tonnes CO2). The 

Carbon Action Plan will be further developed with residents and businesses under 

the leadership of the Portsmouth Climate Action Board which the CCG actively 

supports. 

As a commissioner of health care services we manage a budget in excess of £300m 

and with these funds we need to ensure we are taking a sustainable approach. As 

part of our plans we continue to: 

¶ Seek to approach procurement in a sustainable way both in terms of 

procurement processes but also including include sustainability as part of our 

criteria when relevant in our reviews of pathways of care. 

¶ Ensure our providers share with us their monitoring and reporting on 

sustainability matters as part of our approach to quality (also reviewed via 

their annual reports). 

¶ Implement our Estates Strategy alongside our local health and care partners. 

The work to date includes: 

¶ Continuing to review services (alongside our current providers), which will 

include efficient utilisation of estate with a view to rationalising estate, where 

possible and minimising void space (see void space below); 

¶ A review of leased estate ï to ensure a process is in place to critically review 

requirements prior to any renewing of leases; 

¶ Ensuring that any void space has a future plan to utilise or close down the 

accommodation. 

We continue to encourage our member practices in order to raise their awareness 

and consider their practice to improve efficiency and reduce carbon emissions in the 

future. Many carbon saving initiatives also have a positive impact on health and 

wellbeing of practice staff and their patients as well as offering productivity and 

financial benefits. Our focus includes: 
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¶ All practices now share the same record system (SystmOne) to allow 

electronic sharing of information and reduce the transfer of paper records. 

Solent NHS Trust and the Councilôs adult social care team share the same 

system. 

¶ Continuing to broaden the scope of services available under óadvice and 

guidanceô and promoting their use to avoid outpatient attendance and to 

reduce footfall to the hospital. 

¶ Significant increase in the uptake and use of e-referrals to enable direct 

booking of appointments. 

¶ Supporting practices to adopt other electronic alternatives to paper referrals in 

addition to e-referrals - for example to the new social prescribing team. 

¶ Promoting the roll out of telephone triage, web consultations (e-consult) and 

other IT solutions avoiding the need for all patients to attend surgery. 

¶ Embedding the Electronic Prescribing System (EPS) with its additional 

functionality for repeat dispensing. 

¶ E-consult system in place for patients at home during the pandemic. 

¶ Implementation of the óvirtual wardô enabling vulnerable patients to stay in 

their own homes whilst being regularly monitored. 

Sustainability as an organisation 

Although we do not own any property we still have a responsibility to ensure we 

behave in a responsible, ethical and sustainable manner. Our lease for our 

headquarters and associated costs for energy, water and waste usage is now 

managed by Portsmouth City Council as our landlord (following our move in 

February 2016). The CCG continues to work with Portsmouth City Council to ensure 

that we identify areas for improvement. 

Due to the COVID-19 pandemic, the CCGôs consumption of carbon relating to 

heating and light reduced significantly as staff followed national guidance to work 

from home. 

1.6 Improving Quality 

The NHS Constitution clearly articulates that patients have a right to high quality 

care. Under the Health and Social Care Act 2014, the CCG holds the responsibility 

for ensuring continual quality improvement of all locally commissioned NHS services. 

A quality service is one that recognises the individual needs and circumstances of 

the patient and ensures services are accessible, appropriate and effective for all and 

where workplaces support and empower staff to deliver high-quality care, that is 

safe, clinically effective and delivers a positive experience for patients. 

The requirements for quality from our providers are set out in their contracts, which 

include a quality dashboard of key indicators with thresholds set for acceptable 

levels of care. Our quality assurance system ensures that we have early warning of 
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any concerns and can address issues with providers to drive improvement. During 

the pandemic, a hold was placed nationally on some of the quality reporting, and 

face-to-face quality walk rounds from within the system, by external bodies such as 

the Care Quality Commission, NHS England and NHS Improvement, were 

significantly curtailed, and became more targeted at areas where there was a clear 

identified concern. This reduction in reporting has continued over the last year to 

enable the vaccination programme to proceed and to support the system during this 

time of significant pressure. 

The CCG Quality and Safeguarding Committee (QSC) receives a monthly report on 

the work carried out by the Quality and Safeguarding Team. This continued during 

the pandemic and the last year in a reduced format due to reporting by providers 

being suspended nationally and members of the team being deployed to support in 

other ways. Through review and discussion at the QSC meeting the report supports 

the committee in meeting its terms of reference, primarily, to assure the Governing 

Board that the services the CCG commissions on behalf of the people of Portsmouth 

are safe, of high quality and that any quality concerns and risks are monitored and 

managed effectively even in a time of extreme pressure. 

The QSC reviews quality exceptions, risks relating to commissioned services 

(including GP practices), directing and mandating the Quality and Safeguarding team 

to undertake further actions to ensure required improvements are made, risks are 

mitigated, and progress is evidenced. The committee ensures exceptions and risks 

are formally escalated to the Governing Board where it deems necessary. 

Additionally, the committee receives annual updates on children and adults 

continuing healthcare, Transforming Care, Mental Capacity Act and Prevent 

agendas. 

The CCG pre-pandemic had adopted a collaborative, partnership approach to 

assuring quality with providers by joining up processes through attendance at 

provider quality boards and serious incident panels, joint posts and reducing 

reporting requirements. This approach has served us well during the pandemic and 

beyond whilst other routes to seek assurance have been reduced. This has been 

advanced further by the development of a Portsmouth and South East Hampshire 

system approach to quality assurance, which has significantly reduced providers 

having to respond to two CCGs. We have worked closely over the last year to 

develop PSEH Local Delivery System (LDS) quality oversight in preparation to the 

change to Integrated Care Boards. In addition, the CCG is represented at the ICS/B 

Quality Board to ensure that quality oversight is maintained during this period of 

transition. 

Quality assurance site visits have been limited during the pandemic to minimise 

workload and risk of outbreaks however the Safeguarding and Quality Team have 

supported Infection Prevention Control visits and training and have provided help 

where needed. The team did undertake quality visits at all the Primary Care Network 



Page 30 

 

 

(PCN) vaccination sites. Members of the quality team have also provided support to 

the PCNs as part of the delivery of the vaccine programme. 

The Quality Team have maintained their support to providers with Infection 

Prevention and Control and delivery of respirator FIT tester training. The quality team 

also of see the loan process for the fit testing kits to all providers in Portsmouth 

including care homes and domiciliary care. 

Vaccination Serious Incident 

The role of the quality team includes working with providers to enhance and improve 

patient safety. The CCG has a statutory function in the oversight of all Serious 

Incident Investigations. The CCG also has the responsibility of ensuring the 

Investigations are also undertaken in Primary Care when a serious incident has 

occurred and in unusual situations undertaking serious incident investigation. 

In June 2021, it was identified that a GP from a Portsmouth Primary Care Network 

(PCN) Local Vaccination Centre (LVS) had been vaccinating patients outside of an 

approved NHSE / CCG vaccination site between 14.01.21 and 04.06.21. This was 

without the knowledge of the CCG, PCN Clinical Director, PCN, Partners or Staff. A 

total of 350 patients were impacted by this incident with a total of 404 vaccines given 

over 30 different dates. 

The CCG quality team led the investigation, working closely with HIOW ICS and 

NHS England SE Region, including contacting over 400 individuals identified as 

potentially being part of the incident. The investigation did not identify any significant 

patient harm. There is no evidence to support the claim that these vaccines would 

have otherwise been wasted. The location that the GP administered the vaccines 

was an unauthorised vaccination site so records are not clear, and the cold chain 

could not be guaranteed. It is possible that the vaccines were kept at an appropriate 

temperature but there were no records of fridge temperatures to support this. As a 

result, Public Health England recommended that everyone should be offered a 

further vaccination as a precaution. 

Learning and recommendations are identified below and were shared widely to 

reduce the risk of this type of incident happening again. 

Learning 

¶ This was a deliberate act by a lone GP. The LVS involved was unaware that 

this was happening. 

¶ There was significant pressure to ensure that there was zero wastage of 

vaccine. 

¶ There was significant levels of media criticism and coverage of the JCVI 

cohorts especially related to education staff. 

¶ Engaging in peer support and attending learning events may have helped to 

protect against undue pressure. 
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¶ Pinnacle (electronic vaccine recording system) functionality- Pinnacle only 

allows you to capture individuals into one of the approved categories. People 

can only be recorded as having been vaccinated as housebound, care home 

or at an LVS. 

¶ At the start of the vaccine programme Pinnacle regularly crashed and finding 

patients on the system was often difficult. 

¶ PCNs were not able to use Foundry to support stock monitoring in the early 

part of the vaccine rollout. Foundry is the workflow management and data tool 

used initially by mass vaccine centres and NHS Trust settings. 

¶ The variation in the number of doses that can be obtained from each vial. For 

each box (975 doses) of Pfizer vaccine there is a potential variation of 195 

doses. 

¶ The enhanced service does not enable close monitoring of the people being 

recorded as having received vaccine. The ability to vaccinate a lot of people 

not registered with the LVS and even out the area, including students and 

military personnel, means that it is quite usual to see out of area people in the 

system. 

¶ The enhanced service does not require an LVS to have a system to record 

any vaccines being removed from the LVS or to require a second signature 

for the removal of vaccine vials 

Recommendations 

For the PCN and All Local Vaccination Sites (LVS) 

¶ Remind all staff that vaccine should not be removed from site unless 

authorised to do so as part of a roving team or for Care homes/housebound 

patients. This should be clearly recorded e.g., who was told and when. 

¶ Message to all GPs, practitioners, and nurses to explicitly remind them not to 

treat friends and family except in an emergency situation. This should be 

clearly recorded e.g. Who was told and when? 

¶ Implement a system for sign out of vaccine being removed from the premises. 

¶ Instigate regular stock counts either daily or at least before and after each 

vaccine clinic depending on size of LVS. 

¶ Fridge digital lock code to be changed with a limited list of people who have 

the code. The code to be changed at regular intervals. 

¶ Have systems in place to minimise lone working in the premises and for 

access to the site outside of normal hours to be monitored e.g. signing in/out 

process. This is for personal and fire safety as well as security 

¶ Due to a second incident identified, Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning 

Group to work with the Primary Care Network to commission an external 

review of the Primary Care Networkôs Governance processes and their 

implementation. 
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Safeguarding 

The CCG publishes an annual report covering the safeguarding of adults and 

children, which is published on our website. This is in addition to the annual 

safeguarding reports published by the Portsmouth Safeguarding Children 

Partnership (PSCP) and Portsmouth Safeguarding Adults Board (PSAB). The CCG 

continues to be an active partner further developing the PSCP and PSAB in 

collaboration with Hampshire Police, and Portsmouth City Council. 

The CCG supports with chairing of some sub-groups of both PSCP and PSAB. The 

CCGôs safeguarding team chairs the PSCPôs learning from cases group and the 

Harmful Practices Group. The level of positive relationships and integrated roles 

continues to be invaluable to help keep adults and children safe. The CCG has 

maintained regular peer support and safeguarding supervision with safeguarding 

leads in GP practices across the city albeit virtually. 

Care Home and Domiciliary Care Support: 

Four years ago in response to concerns about the quality of residential and nursing 

homes in the city, the CCG and Portsmouth City Council recruited a joint team 

(Quality Improvement Team) to work proactively with care providers to support 

quality improvement. This approach has led to an improvement in CQC ratings and 

a significant improvement in relationships with care providers, which has been very 

significant in how the CCG and the council have supported the Care Home Sector 

during the pandemic and now as we move towards recovery. 

Principles for Remedy ï complaints handling 

We have in place policies for handling complaints and claims management 

(principles for remedy) that adhere to the six principles of good practice outlined in 

the HM Treasury Guidance on Managing Public Money (October 2007) as well as 

Health Services Parliamentary Ombudsman guidance on óPrinciples of Remedyô 

(2010) and NHS England managing NHS complaints guidance. These are: 

¶ Getting it right 

¶ Being customer focused 

¶ Being open and accountable 

¶ Acting fairly and proportionately 

¶ Putting things right 

¶ Seeking continuous improvement 

This ensures that effective and timely investigations and response can be instigated 

for any claim, including allegations of negligence, public liability or personal injury 

and also works to reduce the occurrence of incidents and events, which may give 

rise to future claims. 

Portsmouth CCG received two complaints this year and signposted 55. 
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1.7 Engaging people and communities (Patient and Public 

Involvement) 

Engaging people and communities 

The ongoing impact of the pandemic has meant that we have been more limited on 

patient and public engagement throughout 2020/21, but, as restrictions have eased, 

we have been able to conduct some engagement work. This includes: 

Coronavirus resident survey 

Further to Portsmouth City Council's research with residents about the impact of the 

pandemic in 2020-21, we worked with the council again in November 2021 for wave 

three of the research. 

Restrictions on the overall length of the survey meant there were limitations on the 

questions that could be asked around health and care, but top-level responses were 

gained to understand how COVID impacted on people being able to access services, 

and a new question around confidence in accessing services was added for wave 

three. The findings included: 

¶ 69% of residents feel confident that they would know which NHS service to 

use 

¶ 16ï24-year-olds, and residents in PO1, show the least confidence in knowing 

which service to use 

¶ Females are more confident in accessing all services, particularly their GP 

practice (11%-point difference between men and women) 

¶ Residents are most confident knowing how to access pharmacy services 

(88%) 

¶ Levels of confidence with accessing other NHS services are lower with 

around a quarter of residents feeling unconfident about which services to use 

¶ 44% of residents said they have been able to access the NHS services they 

need over the phone, compared to 36% online and 31% in person 

¶ 19% of residents said they haven't been able to access the services they 

need 

¶ A larger proportion of residents with a disability say they have not been able 

to access the services they need (37%-point difference) 

¶ 24% of residents say they have sought support for their mental health in the 

last 12 months 

¶ Females are more likely to have sought support; as are residents aged 16-24, 

over 64s, those with higher salaries, and those with a disability 

¶ The majority of residents (56%) went to their GP for support, and over a third 

(36%) went to Talking Change 
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These findings will form the basis on further engagement as part of the recovery 

work. 

 
You can see more on this research including methodology and sample sizes here: 

https://www.coronavirussurvey.portsmouth.gov.uk/ 
 

Primary Care 

Guildhall Walk Healthcare Centre 

There has been a significant programme of patient engagement and work with the 

practice to ensure the smooth transition of patients to alternative practices ahead of 

Guildhall Walk Medical Centre closing on 30 September 2021. 

The CCG considered the different options to ensure that the 8,400 registered 

patients will have continued and ongoing access to primary care services and did 

this through what is called a ómanaged transferô, which offers patients a choice of 

nearby practices. This secured the transfer of all registered patients to other 

practices in Portsmouth in an organised and facilitated way without any 

inconvenience to patients. 

 
The three nearest practices which all had capacity and are rated óGoodô by the Care 

Quality Commission are: 

¶ The University Surgery ï currently located a four-minute walk from Guildhall 

Walk and scheduled to move to new and improved premises in 2021 

¶ The Somers Town Health Centre ï currently located an eight-minute walk 

from Guildhall Walk 

¶ The Southsea Medical Centre ï currently located a 13-minute walk from 

Guildhall Walk 

 
Prior to September 2021, the CCG had written twice to all patients to inform them of 

the decision and outline the next steps, and to invite them to attend one of three 

online patient information events, covering different days of the week and times of 

the day. 

 
The practice also added details of the events to their website, promoted on social 

media and displayed a poster that we created. These events provided further 

information about the process of selecting a new practice and enabled patients to 

ask any questions. 

 
A bespoke email address was created for patients to ask questions or raise 

concerns. Fortnightly meetings were held with the practice to understand any 

feedback that went directly to them and to ensure communications to patients was 

aligned with the practice. A frequently asked question document was created to 

ensure that practice staff have accurate information to provide to patients. 

https://www.coronavirussurvey.portsmouth.gov.uk/
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North Harbour Medical Group 

We've supported the practice in communicating with patients about the proposed 

move to new premises on the Highclere site. We also liaised with the appointed 

contractor to assist in letters to residents living nearby to this new location to notify 

that planning permission was going in for the relocation of the practice here. There 

have been some delays to the project and the completion date is now spring 2023. 

University Practice 

We supported the practice in patient engagement around their move to new 

premises on Commercial Road which was originally planned for December 2021 and 

has since been delayed to May 2022. 

John Pounds Surgery 

We have been working closely with the Lake Road practice group, Portsmouth City 

Council, HIVE Portsmouth, Portsea Action Group (PAG) and residents to look at 

increasing the opening hours at the surgery. There is ongoing discussion with all 

partners as we look to increase provision. 

Support for asylum seekers and refugees 
 

In February 2022, Portsmouth CCG and Trafalgar Medical Group Practice have 

been supporting, and continue to support, the Home Office and asylum seekers 

arriving in the city. This is by providing medical support to families in need who have 

been provided with temporary accommodation at a private hotel while their 

applications are being processed. 
 

From March 2022, the CCG has also worked closely with the council to provide 

support for Ukrainian refugees arriving in the city, through the government's 'Homes 

for Ukraine' scheme. This includes providing translated health information in 

Ukrainian and Russian to families arriving at host family accommodation locally and 

ensuring primary care colleagues are aware of the arrival of families into the city. 

 
Mental health 

Kooth 

Work is ongoing to promote Kooth, which has been very well received. Kooth has 

achieved good engagement with schools, primary care and CAMHS who are actively 

signposting into the service, though no referral is needed, and young people can 

register themselves. The convenience and anonymity of an online service has been 

rated highly. 
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Community Mental Health Framework 

Work is ongoing with a variety of stakeholders to make accessing mental health care 

simpler, smarter and more joined-up, so there is no wrong door for getting support. 

We are working with people with lived experience of mental health services, carers, 

staff, providers and voluntary organisations and have already held a number of 

events to start the discussion. We are now running more workshops to shape and 

inform services and have established a mental health lived experience network with 

our partners at HIVE Portsmouth. 

COVID-19 Vaccination Programme 

As already mentioned in our review of the year in 1.3, we've been working closely 

with Portsmouth City Council and Solent NHS Trust to engage with groups that the 

data is showing are more hesitant to take up the offer of the vaccine. This includes 

individuals from Black African and Black Caribbean communities, Chinese and 

Eastern European, mostly men, and mostly aged between 18 and 34 years. 

Relationships are being built with key stakeholders in these groups so that 

meaningful insights can be gained and used to inform activity to boost confidence in 

the vaccine. Activities have included pop-up vaccine clinics in community locations 

such as the Jami Mosque in Southsea, Fratton Park football stadium in Fratton, 

Cascades and Gunwharf shopping centres, libraries, community centres and 

supermarkets. 

Working closely with Brunel Primary Care Network, we have also supported their 

outreach programme at Society of St James to vaccinate individuals with substance 

misuse and rough sleepers who were attending a soup kitchen in Portsmouth city 

centre. 

A website has been developed for Eastern European communities across 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight with information translated into multiple European 

languages. The work specifically focused on targeting Polish, Lithuanian, Romanian 

and Hungarian populations across Portsmouth with targeted activities to businesses, 

places of worship and workplaces. 

Future engagement work will focus on a wider health and wellbeing offer to engage 

the remaining 20% in Portsmouth not yet to have their first vaccine to learn more 

about the support available through the council and NHS. A targeted approach is 

being taken in one specific area of the city where we know has low uptake and high 

areas of deprivation. If successful, the model will be rolled out across other areas of 

the city. 
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Working with our patient groups 

Patient Participation Groups 

All of our practices have a Patient Participation Group (PPG), though some are 

larger and more active than others. We have engaged with PPGs this year around 

the idea of developing Practice and Patient Charters. There was significant 

discussion around this and in the end we decided not to pursue, but it may be 

something that we consider again in the future. We have also attended some of the 

more recent PPG meetings that are beginning to meet again in person. 

Working with our partners 

HIVE Portsmouth 

HIVE Portsmouth help to connect people and organisations so that they can share 

and support one another. It is a strategic partnership consisting of a representative 

group of the voluntary and community sector, NHS Portsmouth Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Portsmouth City Council. As documented elsewhere in 

this report, this partnership has been instrumental in enabling our swift response in 

engaging with and supporting residents, especially the most vulnerable, during the 

pandemic. 

HIVE Portsmouth's well-established relationships with key voluntary and third sector 

organisations in the city, helps us to engage with important groups, for example 

those with disabilities. 

We are already working with HIVE Portsmouth on specific projects such as the 

Community Mental Health Framework and will look to further strengthen this 

relationship moving forward. 

Portsmouth City Council 

As referenced elsewhere in this report we linked with the city council on the resident 

research they were planning to understand the impact of the pandemic so that we 

could get some insights on access to health services and how people wanted to see 

these delivered in the future. This research ran in November 2021. You can see 

more on this research here: www.coronavirussurvey.portsmouth.gov.uk/ 

We've also been a key player in the extensive city vision work that PCC has been 

doing to understand what residents want the city to look and feel like in 2040. Named 

'Imagine Portsmouth', it will allow us to amplify the partnership work weôve been 

doing as part of Health and Care Portsmouth by enabling us to be connected even 

wider so that we can truly embed health into city planning and ensure that it's as 

easy as possible for residents to live healthy and independent lives. You can find out 

more on Imagine Portsmouth here: https://imagineportsmouth.co.uk/ 

http://www.coronavirussurvey.portsmouth.gov.uk/
https://imagineportsmouth.co.uk/
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Healthwatch Portsmouth 

We value our links with Healthwatch who act as the independent champion for health 

and social care in the city making sure people can have their views and experiences 

heard by those who run, plan and watch over health and social care services. 

NHS England Assurance Rating 

We have been assessed as part of the NHS Englandôs assurance programme 

relating to our engagement with patients and the public, and we received a rating of 

ógreenô (good) against the Patient and Community Engagement indicator. This, 

essentially, looks at how well the CCG is engaging with local people and 

communities in relation to the commissioning of services. 

We recognise the importance of this assessment and will continue to try to meet the 

highest possible ratings as it evolves. 

 

Staff engagement within the CCG 

 
Intranet and digest 

We continue to use our intranet as a primary means of communication with our staff, 

however we have also recently joined Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight's 

Stay Connected internal platform, ahead of the integration into the ICB. On both 

channels, we publish several articles a week covering items such as updates to 

internal policies and future ways of working, partner updates, and any engagement 

opportunities for staff. These are summarised in a weekly digest email. 

Team Briefs 

We've continued to hold regular Team Brief events, which have moved to MS Teams 

during the last year. These are a chance for members of the senior team to provide 

updates and to answer staff questions. The agenda for these is informed by staff 

input. 

Staff engagement group 

This group are currently meeting virtually bi-monthly. There is a representative from 

each team in the CCG and this group cover a wide range of CCG business topics 

considering new draft policies, responding to staff concerns/suggestions and 

representing the views of colleagues to senior managers. Recent items discussed 

have been COVID safe working practices and redefining how we work. The staff 

engagement group representatives actively seek views from their team and staff are 

encouraged to feed into the staff engagement group either directly or via their 

representative. 
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Staff emails 

Important updates or those with more urgency are sent to staff via email and can be 

further followed up with an intranet article or Team Brief discussion. 

PCC learning and development 

CCG staff are invited to attend lunch and learn sessions and other relevant learning 

and development opportunities held by Portsmouth City Council. These sessions 

cover a wide range of topics including city developments and skills around things like 

time management. 

Staff wellbeing 

Access to a free flu vaccination for those not covered by the national programme 

were again offered this year, though the process was made slightly more 

complicated by COVID. This meant we couldn't hold the physical clinics in the 

Central Library that have proved so popular previously instead an alternative 

provision was set up to allow staff to obtain their vaccination via a local pharmacy. 

The extra work to ensure that we still had an offer for staff helped to demonstrate 

how much their wellbeing means to the CCG. 

This was further demonstrated via the encouragement to use the Employee 

Assistance Programme that we have as part of our HR arrangements with PCC and 

the national support that has been provided for NHS staff to help look after the 

mental wellbeing of our staff over a challenging year. 

Internal reporting 

The work to engage people and communities through patient and public participation 

is reported bi-monthly into the Health and Care Portsmouth Executive Committee, 

alongside ad-hoc updates with senior managers across the CCG and Portsmouth 

City Council. 

1.8 Reducing health inequality 
 
Our commitment to equality and diversity is driven by the principles of the NHS 

Constitution, the Equality Act 2010 and the Human Rights Act 1998, and also the 

duties of the Health and Social Care Act 2012 (section 14T) to reduce health 

inequalities, promote patient involvement and involve and consult with the public. 

As a public authority we have a duty to have ñdue regardò to the aims of the Public 

Sector Equality Duty (PSED) of the Equality Act 2010 in the exercise of our 

functions. This includes annual review of progress against specific and measurable 

equality objectives. We use the NHS Equality Delivery System 2 (EDS2) to set 

equality objectives through consultation and engagement with our statutory and 

voluntary sector partners, patients and the public and our staff. 
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Long standing and deeply rooted health inequalities that affect people's health, 

wellbeing and quality of life have been further exposed and exacerbated by the 

pandemic. These include gender, ethnicity, living situation, wealth, disabilities and 

mental illness. Many people face economic insecurity as the country begins to 

recover from the impacts of the coronavirus pandemic. Below are some of the 

activities we're doing to help mitigate health inequalities: 

 
¶ Working in partnership with Solent NHS to support residents with learning 

disabilities and reduce the number who need to be seen as inpatients. 

¶ Working with Portsmouth City Council and primary care networks on helping 

to make the COVID-19 vaccination accessible to those groups who have 

lower uptake, such as our black communities and rough sleepers. 

¶ Our community mental health framework activity engaging with residents from 

across diverse groups to ensure that mental health services reflect the needs 

of all those who might need to access them. 

¶ Part of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight CCG engagement work on online and 

video consultations and using technology to support your health. 

 
Our workforce 

 
We recognised that circumstances can change as individual members of staff begin 

or cease to identify with one or more protected characteristics such as pregnancy. 

Staff are able to self-administer this information through the Electronic Staff Record 

(ESR). Used collectively and anonymously, these records inform internal workforce 

monitoring and help us to ensure no protected characteristic is disadvantaged in the 

experience of the workforce. It is also used to inform external reporting against the 

Indicators of the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES). 

 
Our Human Resources Policies govern our employeesô rights not to be discriminated 

against at work. These policies cover: Absence Management; Adoption Leave and 

Pay; Annual Leave; Buying Annual Leave; Disciplinary; Disclosure and Barring; 

Employee Over Payment and Underpayment; Exit Interviews; Flexible Working; 

Grievance, Bullying and Harassment; Guidance on Working Time Regulations 2019; 

HR Framework; Maternity Criteria Table; Maternity Leave and Pay; Maximising 

Success and Potential Individual Performance Review; Occupational Health 

Guidance; Organisational Change Policy; Paternity Leave and Pay; Pay Progression 

CCG guidance; Recruitment and Selection; Redeployment; Redundancy Procedure; 

Reimbursement of Travel Costs Guidance; Relocation Policy Shared Parental Leave 

and Pay; Special Leave; Staff Learning Agreement; Statutory and Mandatory 

Training; Substance Misuse; Travel Loans; Whistleblowing Policy Freedom to Speak 

Up 2020. 
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On recruitment staff undertake essential training on equality and diversity through an 

e-learning programme. Staff also undertake equality and diversity training relevant to 

their posts. 

 
A Staff Handbook provides information on policies and contact details of Human 

Resources staff. The Staff Handbook and all CCG policies are available on the staff 

intranet. 

 
Our Staff Engagement Group has been meeting virtually via MS Teams during the 

CCG office closure due to the COVID-19 pandemic. Staff are able to raise concerns 

directly with their teamôs staff engagement representative, a designated staff 

engagement inbox has also been created during the pandemic to add another route 

via which staff may contact the Group. 

 
We complete annual assessment against the indicators of the NHS Workforce Race 

Equality Standard (WRES). An action plan is approved by the Clinical Executive 

Group for the coming year. The findings of this report are submitted to NHS England. 

Owing to the small workforce we employ the information contained within the report 

is not in the public domain in accordance with Data Protection legislation. 

We have made progress on the actions from our baseline assessment against the 

metrics of the NHS Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES). Further 

guidance is awaited from NHS England on implementation of the WDES to clinical 

commissioning which will be considered alongside the existing actions. 

 
Embedding equality in the commissioning cycle 

 
The CCG has a centralised view of projects and reporting that is co-ordinated by the 

Planning and Performance Team. All projects are set up on MS Teams. This 

includes a project plan which contains a risk register and list of steps to take to 

ensure good project governance. The process includes completion of and saving 

completed Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) on a project MS Teams Channel. 

During the COVID-19 pandemic and home working, project management via an MS 

Teams Channel has provided ease of access to projects and plans for individuals 

and teams across the CCG. This has included projects and plans related directly to 

management of Phases 1 and 2 of the COVID 19 vaccination programme and Winter 

2020/2021 Phase 3 COVID-19 influenza vaccination programme. 

 
Monitoring contracts with NHS provider organisations 

 
CCG contracts with provider organisations are monitored at monthly and quarterly 

clinical quality review meetings with representatives of each provider organisation. 
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Monitoring of provider contracts includes equality metrics as described in the NHS 

Standard Contact and specifically under Service Conditions 13, Equity of Access and 

Non-Discrimination. 

 
The main providers contracted by the CCG for the people of Portsmouth are: 

¶ Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust 

¶ Solent NHS Trust 

¶ Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance 

¶ Practice Plus Group (formerly Care UK) which runs St Maryôs NHS Treatment 

Centre 

¶ South Central Ambulance Service NHS Foundation Trust 

 
Our Equality Objectives 

 
Objective 1 

 

Ensure the CCG fully understands and fulfils its responsibilities for equality and 

diversity in order to become a nationally recognised leader on equality, diversity and 

inclusion. 

 
This will include: 

 
¶ Timely Equality Impact Assessments (EIAs) whenever new projects, 

proposals or policies, commissioning and strategies are being developed 

¶ Progress against the NHS Workforce Race Equality Standard (WRES) 

¶ Implementation of the NHS Workforce Disability Equality Standard (WDES) to 

NHS commissioning 

 
As cited in (5) above, this report has been compiled in accordance with the specific 

duty of the Public Sector Equality Duty of the Equality Act 2010. It therefore provides 

evidence of how have met that duty during 2021.This includes timely completion of 

EIAs as integral to the development of commissioning projects and plans. In 

addition, we have completed our assessment against the Indicators of the NHS 

WRES and an action plan for 2021/22 approved by our Executive Committee 

We await further guidance on the implementation of the WDES to clinical 

commissioning. In the meantime, we have followed up on actions from our baseline 

assessment against the WDES Metrics. Both this and the outcomes of WRES 

assessment for 2020/21 will inform our Working Group to Support Safe Transition to 

the ICB in 2022. 

 
We have addressed the challenges to updating our equality objectives within the 

context of the COVID-19 pandemic and the abolition of CCGs (originally planned for 
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31 March 2022, but now delayed until 30 June 2022) and creation of a Hampshire 

and Isle of Wight ICB. 

 
Objective 2 

 

Work in partnership with local stakeholders and embed a multiagency approach to 

the delivery of healthcare services. Address health inequalities in differential access 

to services and worse health outcomes for identified groups and in localities. 

 
During 2021, the following initiatives have sought to address health inequalities 

working with our statutory and voluntary and community sector partners: 

 
¶ Community Mental Health Framework Programme - a project to transform 

adult community mental health service. The project will be co-produced and a 

range of virtual discovery events have held to get ideas on how best to work 

together and to discuss what matters most about community mental health 

services in Portsmouth. Sessions have been held for people with lived 

experience, carers, Voluntary Community and Social Enterprise organisations 

and various age groups with more targeted sessions to take place. 

¶ Portsmouth Autism Community Forum - following a successful bid to fund 

projects to support autistic adults in Portsmouth, we helped the project team 

to recruit 16 people (autistic adults, their parents and carers) to help shape 

the programme. This group will help shape training for professionals, peer 

support groups and employment support. 

¶ Children and Young People's Mental Health guidance - following engagement 

with around 50 professionals, parent representative groups, schools, 

providers and families, new guidance for professionals and families has been 

co-produced with partners and will be hosted on a new designated section of 

the Portsmouth City Council website (launched January 2022) 

¶ Home care recruitment - campaign developed in partnership with care 

providers across the city using insight from their staff and clients. The focus of 

the campaign is to attract new talent to the industry, capitalising on the focus 

on social care seen through the pandemic to provide resilience to the vital 

domiciliary care sector as demand for care at home continues to grow 

¶ Multi-agency working on the COVID-19 vaccination programme to raise 

awareness, address concerns and maximised uptake of the vaccine. To 

address vaccine inequalities the delivery model has included a roving (bus) 

model, walk in clinics and pop-up clinics in community settings. It has been 

informed by insight work to understand vaccine hesitancy amongst young 

people. Engaging with trusted community voices and provided bespoke 

messaging based on feedback, a range of media has been used to include: 

¶ Social media, particularly targeted at younger age groups 
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¶ Voluntary sector information cascades such as that provided by Portsmouth 

Friendship Centre 

¶ Webinars and Q&A sessions with Black and Minority Ethnic (BAME) 

communities 

 
Services and groups engaged have included the following: 

 
¶ Alcohol and substance misuse services 

¶ Care Homes and Nursing Homes 

¶ Carersô Groups 

¶ Children and young peopleôs services 

¶ Chrysalis (Gender Matters) 

¶ City Council leads for: Asylum seekers and refugees 

¶ City Council Looked After Children Leads 

¶ Community and faith leaders and groups, particularly those from the Muslim 

community where vaccine hesitancy has been a barrier 

¶ Education establishments 

¶ Homeless charities and hostels 

¶ Learning Disabilities teams in health and social care 

¶ Portsmouth MIND 

¶ Solent NHS Trust: 

¶ Drug and Alcohol Services 

¶ Sexual Health Services 

Objective 3 

Improve access to healthcare for everyone routinely and when they need medical 

help fast but it is not a life-threatening situation Achieve year on year improvement in 

bringing primary, community and adult social care together with specialists from local 

hospitals and third sector organisations as a single extended primary care team. 

 
We continue to work with our GP members and statutory and voluntary and 

community sector organisations to remove traditional boundaries between the 

different organisations that provide health and social care. During 2021 the following 

initiatives have been rolled out to improve care pathways for patients in the context 

of the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic: 

 
eConsult: 

 
¶ Work on the use of online consultation (e-Consult) to provide all patients with 

an electronic route into primary care (general practice) with a view to 
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enhancing equitable access and supporting COVID compliant safety 

measures. 

 
NHS 111 First 

 
¶ Embedding the NHS 111 First project which has now been in place for one 

year. Patients can access urgent and emergency care: 

 
o Via NHS 11 online or telephone where they are directed to the most 

appropriate setting to meet their needs. They may also be allocated an 

appointment. Their assessment may include review by an NHS 111 

clinician. 

o As ñwalk insò to the Hospital Emergency Department without prior 

contact with NHS 111, they will be seen and treated in the Emergency 

Department of directed to the NHS 111 iPad on site from which they 

will be directed to the most appropriate setting to meet their needs. 

o As ñwalk insò to St Maryôs Urgent Care Centre without prior contact with 

NHS 111, they will be assessed and directed to the most appropriate 

care to meet their needs. This may be onsite or at another NHS site. 

Commissioners are currently investigating the use of an NHS 111 iPad 

in the Urgent Care Centre. 

 
Primary Care Networks 

 
¶ In their role to tackle neighbourhood health inequalities, we are supporting 

identification of equality leads for each Primary Care Network in the city. This 

is a leadership role. The equality lead is therefore a member of the wider 

Primary Care Network to support everyone in addressing health inequalities. 

As at December 2021 three of our Primary Care Networks have identified 

health inequalities leads. 

¶ The social prescriber role has been embedded and developed during 2021 

across all Primary Care Networks plays a vital role in connecting vulnerable 

people in a healthcare setting with community and voluntary sector 

¶ Funding has been made available to Primary Care Networks through a new 

Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme. This is to recruit up to an additional 

20,000 full time equivalent posts nationally across specific roles over the next 

five years. The Additional Roles Reimbursement Scheme has been put in 

place to develop additional capacity through new roles in general practice and 

so address workforce shortage. The scheme entitles Primary Care Networks 

to access funding to support recruitment across specific reimbursable roles 

such as: 

 
o Clinical pharmacists 
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o Chiropodists/podiatrists 

o Dieticians 

o First contact physiotherapists 

o Mental health practitioners 

o Pharmacy technicians 

o Physician associates 

o Paramedics 

o Social prescribing link workers 

Enhanced Care Home Team 

¶ The multi-disciplinary Enhanced Care Home Team continues to provide 

proactive review and reactive care to care home residents. This includes 

those residents who have complex needs and changing presentations. The 

multi-disciplinary team includes GP cover and meets every five weeks. It 

works closely with our safeguarding and vulnerable adultsô team who are 

seeking expansion of education to support homes to feel more confident in 

procedures, identifying care needs and escalating issues to the most 

appropriate support. Support is also provided by the Portsmouth 

Rehabilitation and Reablement Team (PRRT) and a medical advice line to 

answer questions and advice. 

 
Homeless Outreach Service 

 
¶ The homeless outreach service provided by a GP and Matron set up in 

February 2020 continues to provide a range of primary care services. This is 

largely through weekly outreach session delivered in hostels and the 

homeless day service. During the pandemic it has also been through 

accommodation of homeless people in two hotels in the city as part of the 

Governmentôs ñEveryone Inò agenda. In 2021 the service: 

¶ Has forged strong links with drug and alcohol teams and mental health 

services to ensure people have timely access to such support 

¶ Delivered early roll out of the COVID-19 vaccination programme to homeless 

people, visiting hotels and administering vaccines in street settings, working 

alongside the Fire Service who provided a vehicle. 

¶ Is being re-designed and enhanced with the expected addition of a Nurse 

Associate and will be known as the Health Inclusion Service. The aim will be 

to identify health problems early and support people with existing conditions to 

manage them well and so reduce unplanned urgent care. 
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Deprivation Scheme 

 
¶ We are commissioning a deprivation scheme with two main parts. The first 

part is on hold due to the COVID-19 pandemic. This is, for general practices 

to deliver an enhanced health check to patients that meet certain criteria. 

¶ The aim will be to pick up health conditions and take up of screening and 

other health interventions with a view to reducing health inequalities. 

¶ The second part is supporting homeless patients that are registered with a 

view to supporting equal access to appropriate levels of service from general 

practices and ensure their health needs are effectively addressed as part of 

supporting Health Inclusion Service across the city. 

 
Objective 4 

 

Engage with diverse communities and consult with them when undertaking equality 

impact assessments and other commissioning activities. There will be a particular 

focus on groups and in localities that face specific inequalities in health and health 

outcomes. 

 
Our assessment of equality impact on our commissioning projects and plans 

includes consultation and engagement with patients and members of the public. 

Patient experience data also informs individual projects and plans. Our equality 

impact assessment template includes two questions specifically aimed at addressing 

inequalities in health and health outcomes. These are: 

 
¶ What are the health impacts, positive and/or negative? For example, is there 

a positive impact on enabling healthier lifestyles or promoting positive mental 

health? Could it prevent spread of infection or disease? Will it reduce any 

inequalities in health and well-being experienced by some localities, groups, 

ages etc? On the other hand, could it restrict opportunities for health and well- 

being? 

¶ Health inequalities are strongly associated with deprivation and income 

inequalities in the City. Have you referred to Portsmouthôs Tackling Poverty 

Needs Assessment and Strategy (available on the JSNA website)? This 

identifies those groups and geographical areas that are vulnerable to poverty. 

Does this have a disproportionately negative impact on any of these groups 

and, if so, how? Are there any positive impacts? If so, what are they?ô 

 
Engagement when undertaking equality impact assessments during 2021 has 

included the following projects: 

 
¶ NHS 111 First - using feedback gathered from extensive research, a pilot 

scheme was run in the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire area which 
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has now become business as usual and continues to contribute to managing 

demand for urgent care. 

¶ Guildhall Walk contract end - supported the practice and primary care team as 

the contract for the provision of primary care at this site ended. This closure 

happened while there were coronavirus restrictions in place, but to counter- 

balance that a range of patient engagement work was undertaken including 

three letter communications, three online engagement events for patients and 

an online FAQ page 

¶ COVID-19 vaccination uptake ï ongoing review of the EIAs for Phases 1 and 

2 and Phase 3 in response to consultation and engagement with trusted 

community voices and community leads and voluntary and community sector 

organisations, and patient and public feedback. This has informed roll out of 

the COVID-19 vaccine programme. As a result, the delivery model continues 

to be reviewed and flexed and adapted to maximise uptake, particularly by 

those groups that face health inequalities. 

 
Objective 5 

 

Strengthen commissioning and partnership working so that the communities we 

serve feel informed and supported to be as involved as they wish to be in decisions 

about their care. 

 
During 2021 we have worked with stakeholders to deliver the following programmes 

of work: 

 
¶ A new Adult Social Care Strategy has also been launched during 2021. It is 

shared between NHS and City Council staff working across adult services and 

places co-production, choice and control over care and working with the 

community at the heart of services for adults in Portsmouth. The Strategy 

includes the creation of a monthly co-production working group with 

colleagues across Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 

¶ Supporting carers - eight-week programme of activities for carers to help them 

get out and about again after lockdown, and promotion of Employers for 

Carers - advice for employers on supporting staff who are carers 

¶ Community Mental Health Framework Programme ï A project to transform 

adult community mental health services. The project is being co-produced. A 

range of virtual discovery events have been held to gain ideas on how best to 

work together and to discuss what matters most about community mental 

health services in the city. Sessions have been held for people with lived 

experience, carers, voluntary and community sector organisations and various 

age groups. More targeted sessions are planned 

¶ Children and Young People's Mental Health guidance - Following 

engagement with around 50 professionals, parent representative groups, 
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schools, providers and families, new guidance for professionals and families 

has been co-produced with partners and will be hosted on a new designated 

section of the Portsmouth City Council website (due to launch in January 

2022) 

 
Objective 6 

 

Work with all levels of staff to ensure the CCG has a representative and supported 

workforce and inclusive leadership. Build on current work to strengthen staff 

partnership arrangements. 

 
The challenges presented by the COVID-19 pandemic and remote working have re- 

focused work with all levels of staff via MS Teams. Information sharing and cascades 

are driven by our staff Intranet. 

 
During late summer and early autumn 2021 face-to-face contact via MS Teams as 

part of new ways of working in the office has started the transition to a hybrid model 

of working. The range of activities has included: 

 
¶ Staff Engagement Group ensuring a member from each team joins in 

meetings via MS Teams 

¶ Individual team meetings via MS Teams 

¶ Staff Intranet has become central to all types of information to our staff 

¶ Staff encouraged to meet and work in our offices in line with COVID-19 

guidance: 

¶ ñClean out to Help Outò individual team days in our offices as part of 

introducing new ways of working 

¶ Christmas day in the office in which individual Teams have determined their 

arrangements for events together such as Christmas lunch 

 

1.9 Health and wellbeing strategy 

Portsmouthôs Health and Wellbeing Board sets the strategic outcomes for the cityôs 

health and social care. These outcomes incorporate the findings from our ongoing 

Joint Strategic Needs Assessment (JSNA) and take account of feedback from 

people in the city, users of our services and their representatives as well as national 

and local evidence. 

We are an active equal partner within the Health and Wellbeing Board and this has 

included ensuring our joint health and wellbeing strategy remains current and 

relevant. We work closely with members of the Health and Wellbeing Board in 

developing and implementing the Health and Care Portsmouth programme. 
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The strategy is built around four themes, each with a set of priorities: 

 

Health and Wellbeing Board strategy priorities 
 

Theme Priorities 

Support physical good health - Reduce the harms from tobacco and 

other substances; 

- Reduce the harms from physical 

inactivity and poor diets; 

- Focus on good physical health in 

children and young people. 

Support social, emotional, 

mental and economic health 

- Promote positive mental wellbeing 

across Portsmouth; 

- Reduce the drivers of isolation and 

exclusion. 

Make improvements for 

marginalised groups fastest 

- People with complex needs; 

- People in the armed forces community; 

- Children and people with special 

educational needs and disabilities and 

their families; 

- Looked after children and care leavers. 

Improve access to health and 

social care support in the 

community 

- Implementation of the Portsmouth 

Blueprint for Health and Care. 

 

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board are also involved in our CCG business. 

Some are members of our Governing Board and Primary Care Commissioning 

Committee which enables us to involve them formally in our planning and reporting 

procedures including this report, in accordance with Section 14Z15 of the NHS Act 

2006. 

The Board are in the process of refreshing the strategy and this will take into account 

the learning from the pandemic and how we recover from the impacts. The strategy 

will also reflect the wider system changes that are taking place, as we move towards 

working as part of an Integrated Care System. 

 

1.10 Social matters, human rights, anti-corruption and anti-bribery 
 
The CCG is committed to making progress on all social and environmental matters, 

and human rights and their associated regulations and guidance. 
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The CCG is a GP-led organisation, responsible for planning, commissioning and 

designing many of the health services needed by the areaôs population. 

 
The CCG makes decisions about health services based on the feedback we receive 

from patients and carers. This ensures the services we purchase and re-design are 

the ones local residents inform us that they need and are able to access. 

 
The CCG is committed to making sure that there is equality and inclusion in 

everything that we do, but more specifically: 

 
¶ How we commission services on behalf of the population we serve; 

¶ How we recruit and support the development of all of our staff; 

¶ How we proactively engage and support everyone who uses our services, 

especially given the diversity of our population. 

 
Our work in embedding equality into the commissioning of health services is 

underpinned by regularly engaging with our stakeholders. We believe that 

engagement with, and drawing on the expertise of, residents, patients, services 

providers and third sector organisations, is critical. This interaction helps us to 

shape top quality, value for money services that satisfy the needs of our diverse 

population. 

 
Anti-corruption and bribery 

 
The CCG is committed to reducing the level of fraud, bribery and corruption within 

the organisation to an absolute minimum and keeping it at that level, freeing up 

public resources for better patient care. The CCG has a zero-tolerance policy of any 

fraud, bribery or corruption and aims to eliminate all such activity as far as possible. 

 
The Fraud and Security Management Service is active in the prevention and 

deterrence of fraud, bribery and corruption through its attendance at the Audit 

Committee, involvement in policy-setting and sharing of information through 

webpages and attendance at CCG meetings. 

 
The CCG has established a positive training and awareness culture to ensure all 

staff have access to regular training and information provided by the local fraud 

team. 

 
Throughout the year there has been a regular flow in fraud alerts brought to the 

attention of the CCG as criminals attempt to exploit potential control weaknesses as 

a result of changing operating models. 
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During this financial year, a local GP was sentenced after pleading guilty to the 

charge of fraud by abuse of position from the Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance 

(PPCA). 

PPCA have taken some important lessons from this period, and we have been 

working closely with them and our external auditors to make sure that there are 

strong financial controls within the organisation to ensure such an incident could not 

reoccur. 

 

1.11 Conclusion to performance report 
 
In my opinion this report gives an accurate perspective of the performance of the 

CCG between 1st April 2021 and 31st March 2022. 

 
 
 
 
Maggie McIsaac 

Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 2 ACCOUNTABILITY REPORT 

This Accountability Report has two main sections: 
 

PART A Corporate Governance Report ï including Membersô Report and 

Governance statement 

PART B Remuneration and Staff Report 

 

The CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit 

Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, 

gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this 

report at Section 6. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual 

Report at page 78. 

 
 
 
 

Maggie McIsaac 

Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 2 PART A 

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT 

This Corporate Governance Report includes our Membersô report, the Statement of 

Accountable Officerôs Responsibilities (2.10) and our Governance Statement (2.11). 

 

2.1 aŜƳōŜǊǎΩ ǊŜǇƻǊǘ 
 
This section of the report contains information about our membership, the way we 

work as a CCG and some of our legal responsibilities. 

 

2.2 Member profiles 
 
The CCG is the clinically led commissioning organisation for Portsmouth City, 

working to boundaries coterminous with Portsmouth City Council, and with a 

registered population of around 224,500. 

 
We were authorised in December 2012 and started our first full year of operation on 

April 2013 fully authorised, without conditions. 

 
The CCG is constituted by its 12 member GP Practices and is run on their behalf by 

a Governing Body (known locally as a Governing Board). We are strongly clinically 

led by a team of five elected GPs, with a Clinical Leader Dr Linda Collie and a 

Clinical Chair, Dr Elizabeth Fellows. 

 
Information about our leadership team can be found in the following sections. 

 

2.3 Member practices 
 
At the end of 2021/22 we had 12 member practices. These form five Primary Care 

Networks (PCNs). 

 
The table that follows shows our membership position as at 31st March 2022. 
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Member 

(Contract) 

Primary 

Care 

Network 

Provider & Provider Address Providing services at: 

Derby Road 

Group Practice 

Island City Derby Road Group Practice 

27-29 Derby Road North End PO2 

8HP 

27-29 Derby Road 

358 Copnor Road 

Sunnyside 

Medical 

Centre 

Island City Sunnyside Medical Centre 

The Pompey Centre Fratton Way 

PO4 8TA 

Sunnyside Medical 

Centre 

East Shore 

Partnership 

Brunel East Shore Partnership 

St Cuthbertôs Church Hayling Ave 

PO3 6BH 

St Cuthbertôs Church 

Milton Road 

Lake Road 

Practice 

Island City Lake Road Practice 

Nutfield Place PO1 4JT 

Lake Road Practice 

John Pounds Medical 

Centre 

Trafalgar 

Medical Group 

Practice 

Portsmouth 

South Coast 

Trafalgar Medical Group Practice 

25 Osborne Road PO5 3ND 

25 Osborne Road 

Eastney Health Centre 

The Drayton 

Surgery 

Portsmouth 

North 

The Drayton Surgery 

280 Havant Road PO6 1PA 

280 Havant Road 

1 Wootton Street 

The 

Lighthouse 

Group Practice 

Brunel Southsea Medical Centre 

Carlisle Road PO5 1AT 

 
Devonshire Practice 

262 Devonshire Avenue PO4 9EH 

Southsea Medical Centre 

 

 
Devonshire Practice 

The University 

Surgery 

Brunel Drs Lawson & Alalade 

The Nuffield Centre St Michaelôs 

Road PO1 2BH 

The Nuffield Centre 

Kirklands 

Surgery 

Portsmouth 

North 

Kirklands Surgery 

111 Copnor Road PO3 5AF 

111 Copnor Road 

North Harbour 

Medical Group 

Portsmouth 

North 

North Harbour Medical Group 

The Cosham Health Centre Vectis 

Way PO6 3AW 

The Cosham Health 

Centre 

Portsdown 

Group Practice 

Portsdown Portsdown Group Practice 

92 Kingston Crescent North End 

PO2 8AL 

Cosham Park House 

Surgery 

Crookhorn Surgery 

3 Heyward Road 

92 Kingston Crescent 

194 Allaway Avenue 

Somerstown Central 

Health Centre 

Craneswater 

Group Practice 

Portsmouth 

South Coast 

Craneswater Group Practice 

34-36 Waverley Road PO5 2PW 

34-36 Waverley Road 

Salisbury Road 
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2.4 Composition of Governing Body 

The Governing Board has had the following composition from 1 April 2021 to 31st 

March 2022: 

¶ Maggie MacIsaac, Accountable Officer 

¶ Dr Linda Collie, Clinical Executive and Clinical Lead 

¶ Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Chair of the Governing Board and Clinical Executive 

¶ Helen Atkinson, Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council 

¶ Karen Atkinson. Registered Nurse Representative 

¶ Alison Jeffery, Director of Childrenôs Services, Portsmouth City Council (left 

31 August 2021) 

¶ Dr Carsten Lesshafft, Clinical Executive 

¶ Margaret Geary, Lay Member 

¶ Graham Love, Lay Member 

¶ Dr Nick Moore, Clinical Executive (left 24 November 2021) 

¶ Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

¶ David Scarborough, Practice Manager representative of member practices 

(left 12 November 2021) 

¶ Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

¶ Dr Simon Simonian, Clinical Executive 

¶ Michelle Spandley - Chief Finance Officer 

¶ Tahwinder Upile - Secondary Care Specialist Doctor Lay Representative 

¶ David Williams - Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council 

¶ Jo York, - Managing Director 

 
The gender split of the Governing Board throughout the year: 

¶ 1 April 2021; Females 10 Males = 8 

¶ 31 March 2022; Females = 10 Males = 6 

 
Changes in the Governing Board membership throughout the year can be found in 

2.13: Attendance at meetings 2021/22. 

 
CCG Staff gender breakdown for those not already included above: 

 
 

Gender Number % of total 

headcount 

Female 70 72 

Male 27 28 

Grand Total 97 100 
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2.5 Committees including audit committee 
 
Audit Committee 1 April 2021 ï 31 March 2022: 

 

¶ Andy Silvester, Lay Member (and Audit Committee Chair) 

¶ Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

¶ Graham Love, Lay Member 

¶ Karen Atkinson, Governing Board Nurse Representative 

 
The Remuneration Committee membership 1 April 2021 ï 31 March 2022: 

 

¶ Graham Love, Lay Member (and Remuneration Committee Chair) 

¶ Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

¶ Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

¶ Mr Tahwinder Upile, Secondary Care Doctor on the Governing Board 

¶ Dr Elizabeth Fellows, Clinical Chair of the Governing Board 

 
The Primary Care Commissioning Committee membership 1 April 2021 ï 31 March 

2022: 

 

¶ Margaret Geary, Lay Member (Chair) 

¶ Helen Atkinson, Director of Public Health 

¶ Mark Compton, Director of Transformation 

¶ Simon Cooper, Director of Primary Care and Medicines Optimisation 

¶ Jason Eastman, Associate Director of IM&T 

¶ Dr Nick Moore, Clinical Executive (GP) (left November 2021) 

¶ Julia OôMara, CCG Nurse Advisor 

¶ Jackie Powell, Lay Member 

¶ David Scarborough, Practice Manager Representative (left November 2021) 

¶ Andy Silvester, Lay Member 

¶ Michelle Spandley, Chief Finance Officer 

¶ Jo York, Director, Deputy Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth 

 
Further details about our Governing Board and Senior Managers, including 

membership of, and attendance at committees can be found in our Governance 

Statement along with information on the purpose of each committee. 

 

2.6 Register of Interests 
 
The CCG maintains two Registers of Interest, one detailing committee membership 

(including administrative support) which is published on the CCG website on a 
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quarterly basis. The other, includes all remaining staff employed by the CCG and is 

published on the website on an annual basis. These can be found at the following 

link: www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm 

 

2.7 Personal Data Related Incidents 
 
There have been no personal data related incidents reported to the information 

commissionerôs office during the 2021/22 financial year. 

 

2.8 Statement of Disclosure to Auditors 
 
Each individual who is a member of the CCG Governing Board at the time of writing 

the Membersô Report has confirmed: 

¶ so far as the member is aware, there is no relevant audit information of which 

the CCGôs auditor is unaware that would be relevant for the purposes of their 

audit report 

¶ the member has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken in order to 

make him or herself aware of any relevant audit information and to establish 

that the CCGôs auditor is aware of it. 

 

2.9 Modern Slavery Act 
 
The CCG fully supports the Governmentôs objectives to eradicate modern slavery 

and human trafficking but does not meet the requirements for producing an annual 

Slavery and Human Trafficking Statement as set out in the Modern Slavery Act 

2015. 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/About-Us/What-we-do/lists-and-registers.htm
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2.10 Statement of Accountable hŦŦƛŎŜǊΩǎ Responsibilities 
 
The National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) states that each Clinical 

Commissioning Group shall have an Accountable Officer and that Officer shall be 

appointed by the NHS Commissioning Board (NHS England). NHS England has 

appointed the Chief Clinical Officer to be the Accountable Officer of the CCG. 

 
The responsibilities of an Accountable Officer are set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in the Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. They include 

responsibilities for: 

 
¶ The propriety and regularity of the public finances for which the Accountable 

Officer is answerable, 

¶ For keeping proper accounting records (which disclose with reasonable 

accuracy at any time the financial position of the Clinical Commissioning 

Group and enable them to ensure that the accounts comply with the 

requirements of the Accounts Direction), 

¶ For safeguarding the Clinical Commissioning Groupôs assets (and hence for 

taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other 

irregularities). 

¶ The relevant responsibilities of accounting officers under Managing Public 

Money, 

¶ Ensuring the CCG exercises its functions effectively, efficiently and 

economically (in accordance with Section 14Q of the National Health Service 

Act 2006 (as amended)) and with a view to securing continuous improvement 

in the quality of services (in accordance with Section14R of the National 

Health Service Act 2006 (as amended)), 

¶ Ensuring that the CCG complies with its financial duties under Sections 223H 

to 223J of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended), NHS England has 

directed each Clinical Commissioning Group to prepare for each financial year 

financial statements in the form and on the basis set out in the Accounts Direction. 

The financial statements are prepared on an accruals basis and must give a true and 

fair view of the state of affairs of the Clinical Commissioning Group and of its net 

expenditure, changes in taxpayersô equity and cash flows for the financial year. 

 
In preparing the financial statements, the Accountable Officer is required to comply 

with the requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued by the Department of 

Health and in particular to: 
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¶ Observe the Accounts Direction issued by NHS England, including the 

relevant accounting and disclosure requirements, and apply suitable 

accounting policies on a consistent basis 

¶ Make judgements and estimates on a reasonable basis 

¶ State whether applicable accounting standards as set out in the Group 

Accounting Manual issued by the Department of Health and Social Care have 

been followed, and disclose and explain any material departures in the 

financial statements, and 

¶ Prepare the financial statements on a going concern basis. 

 
To the best of my knowledge and belief, and subject to the disclosures set out below, 

I have properly discharged the responsibilities set out under the National Health 

Service Act 2006 (as amended), Managing Public Money and in my Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
Disclosures: Nil 

 
I also confirm that: 

¶ As far as I am aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the 

CCGôs auditors are unaware, and that as Accountable Officer, I have taken all 

the steps that I ought to have taken to make myself aware of any relevant 

audit information and to establish that the CCGôs auditors are aware of that 

information. 

¶ That the annual report and accounts as a whole is fair, balanced and 

understandable and that I take personal responsibility for the annual report 

and accounts and the judgments required for determining that it is fair, 

balanced and understandable 

 
 
 
 

 
Maggie MacIsaac 

Accountable Officer 



Page 61 

 

 

SECTION 2 PART B 

GOVERNANCE STATEMENT 

2.11 Introduction and context 
 
NHS Portsmouth CCG is a body corporate established by NHS England on 1 April 

2013 under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). 

 
The clinical commissioning groupôs statutory functions are set out under the National 

Health Service Act 2006 (as amended). The CCGôs general function is arranging the 

provision of services for persons for the purposes of the health service in England. 

The CCG is, in particular, required to arrange for the provision of certain health 

services to such extent as it considers necessary to meet the reasonable 

requirements of its local population. 

 
As at 1 April 2021, the CCG has not been subject to any directions from NHS 

England issued under Section 14Z21 of the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended). Details about the CCG can be found at: www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

 

2.12 Scope of responsibility 
 
As Accountable Officer, I have responsibility for maintaining a sound system of 

internal control that supports the achievement of the clinical commissioning groupôs 

policies, aims and objectives, whilst safeguarding the public funds and assets for 

which I am personally responsible, in accordance with the responsibilities assigned 

to me in Managing Public Money. I also acknowledge my responsibilities as set out 

under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and in my Clinical 

Commissioning Group Accountable Officer Appointment Letter. 

 
I am responsible for ensuring that the clinical commissioning group is administered 

prudently and economically and that resources are applied efficiently and effectively, 

safeguarding financial propriety and regularity. I also have responsibility for 

reviewing the effectiveness of the system of internal control within the clinical 

commissioning group as set out in this governance statement. 

 

2.13 Governance arrangements and effectiveness 
 
The main function of the governing body is to ensure that the group has made 

appropriate arrangements for ensuring that it exercises its functions effectively, 

efficiently and economically and complies with such generally accepted principles of 

good governance as are relevant to it. 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/
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The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, culture and values 

by which the CCG is directed and controlled. Governance arrangements are 

identified within the CCGôs Constitution and associated documents including the 

Scheme of Reservation and Delegation, Standing Orders, Financial Policies and 

Corporate Policies. Collectively these documents detail the role and responsibility of 

Governing Board members and employees of the CCG along with the arrangements 

for conducting business through the Governing Board, its committees and sub- 

committees. 

 
Whilst there are a number of elected Governing Board GP members, additional roles 

have been developed by the members, enhancing and shaping the CCGôs 

accountability framework. These roles include: 

 
¶ Practice Commissioning Lead GPs 

¶ Practice Prescribing Lead GPs 

¶ Practice Lead Managers 

 
In this way the CCG has continued to gain involvement from a broader membership 

of primary care in developing and delivering its work programme than just those 

members involved in the work of the Governing Board. The CCG continues to abide 

by, and amend, its Constitution to reflect the changing NHS landscape. 

 
Terms of reference are in place and kept under review for each of the Governing 

Boardôs committees and sub-committees. Each Governing Board, committee and 

sub-committee meeting has formal minutes which set out both the attendance of 

members and the coverage of their work. It is through this structure that the CCG 

continues to: 

 
¶ agree its commissioning strategies, financial strategies and supporting 

operating plans 

¶ ensure the CCG meets its statutory duties in respect of such requirements of 

the management of Conflicts of Interest, equality and diversity, information 

governance and working in partnership with the Local Authority via the Health 

and Wellbeing Board and jointly funded posts sitting across both the CCG and 

City Council 

¶ put in place and monitor effectiveness of the CCGôs policies and procedures, 

and 

¶ develop plans for service review and transformation and oversee their 

implementation and evaluation. 

 
Information about the Committees of the CCG is detailed in the following sections. 
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Summary of the Coverage of the Work of the CCG Governing Board and Committees 
 

 Governing Board 

The Governing Board has delegated authority from its members to undertake the full range of functions required of a CCG. 

It has a focus on corporate and financial governance, risk management as well as setting vision and strategy and approving commissioning 

plans prepared for it. It also ensures the CCG meets its legal and statutory requirements. The constitution sets out the following functions: 

¶ ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise its functions effectively, efficiently and economically and in 

accordance with the CCGôs principles of good governance (its main function) 

¶ ensuring that the CCG has appropriate arrangements in place to exercise any functions formally delegated to it by NHS England under 

section 13Z of the 2012 Act as set out in agreed delegation agreements 

¶ determining the remuneration, fees and other allowances payable to employees or other persons providing services to the CCG and 

the allowances payable under any pension scheme it may establish under paragraph 11(4) of Schedule 1A of the 2006 Act, inserted 

by Schedule 2 of the 2012 Act 

¶ approving any functions of the CCG that are specified in regulations 

¶ leading the setting of vision and strategy 

¶ approving commissioning plans including the production of annual plan 

¶ monitoring performance against plans and producing an annual report 

¶ ensuring that expenditure and use of resources do not exceed the limits set 

¶ providing assurance of strategic risk 

¶ producing an annual report 

¶ oversight of declaration and registration of interests and management of conflicts of interest 

¶ working with NHS England to improve the quality of primary medical services, particularly to take account of need and unexpressed 

demand 

¶ working with NHS England to improve the quality of specialist services, and 

¶ working with the Local Authority on health promotion, prevention and protection matters and as part of the Health and Wellbeing Board. 
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Audit Committee Remuneration Committee Quality & Safeguarding 

Committee 

Primary Care Commissioning 

Committee 

The Audit Committee 

supports the Governing 

Board in discharging its 

functions related to 

overseeing efficiency, 

effectiveness, economy and 

governance. The Committee 

reviews the establishment 

and maintenance of an 

effective system of integrated 

governance, risk 

management and internal 

control, across the whole of 

the CCGôs activities that 

support the achievement of 

the CCGôs objectives. 

This includes providing the 

Governing Board with an 

independent and objective 

view of the CCGôs financial 

systems, financial information 

and compliance with laws, 

regulations and directions 

governing the CCG in so far 

as they relate to finance. 

The Remuneration Committee 

makes recommendations to the 

Governing Board on 

determinations about the 

remuneration, fees and other 

allowances for employees and 

for people who provide services 

to the CCG and on 

determinations about allowances 

under any pension scheme that 

the CCG may establish as an 

alternative to the NHS pension 

scheme. 

The Quality and Safeguarding 

Committee supports the 

Governing Board in 

commissioning effective and 

safe services that provide a 

positive experience of 

healthcare for patients. 

The committee supports the 

Governing Board in fulfilling its 

responsibilities to safeguard 

vulnerable adults and children 

through formal arrangements 

and requirements as set out in 

quality and safeguarding 

legislation. 

Furthermore, the committee 

reviews and escalates issues 

and risks relating to quality 

and safeguarding through 

systems and processes which 

enable the CCG to deliver its 

strategic framework for quality 

and safeguarding. 

The Primary Care Commissioning 

Committee (PCCC) has been 

delegated the exercise of the following 

functions by NHS England: 

¶ GMS, PMS and APMS 

contracts (including the design 

of PMS and APMS contracts, 

monitoring of contracts, taking 

contractual action such as 

issuing branch remedial notices 

and removing a contract) 

¶ Newly designed enhanced 

services (Local Enhanced 

Services and Directed 

Enhanced Services) 

¶ Design of local incentive 

schemes as an alternative to 

the Quality Outcomes 

Framework (QOF) 

¶ The establishment of new GP 

practices in the geographical 

area 

¶ Approving practice mergers 

¶ Making decision on 

ódiscretionaryô payments. 
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The Governing Board reviews its effectiveness, in partnership with its Membership Body, during the course of the year as set out 

within its governance strategy and plans and through its programme of audit and scrutiny. In addition, internal audits have been 

undertaken to seek further assurance regarding the CCGôs arrangements for the discharge of its statutory duties and to ensure it is 

legally compliant. The Governing Board has kept under review its performance and effectiveness during the year involving 

members, stakeholders and the public through a range of mechanisms. 

Attendance at meetings 2021/22 

The tables below show participation and attendance for the year at the CCGôs Governing Board and supporting Committees: Audit 

Committee, Remuneration Committee, Quality & Safeguarding Committee and Primary Care Commissioning Committee. 
 

Key: 

P In attendance D Deputy 

Attendance 

A Apologies N/A No longer attends or left 

organisation 

 No Meeting 

 

Governing Board - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position May 

21 

Jul 

21 

Sep 

21 

Nov 

21 

Jan 

22 

Feb 

22 

Helen Atkinson Director of Public Health, Portsmouth City Council P P P P  P 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse P A P P  P 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Lead/Clinical Executive P A P P  P 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive P P P P  A 

Margaret Geary Lay Member P A V P  P 

Alison Jeffery Director of Childrenôs Services P P N/A N/A  N/A 

Sally Hodges Interim Director of Childrenôs, Families and Education (PCC) N/A N/A N/A V  N/A 

Sarah Daly Director of Children, Families and Education (PCC) N/A N/A N/A N/A  V 
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Dr Carsten Lesshafft Clinical Executive P P P P  P 

Graham Love Lay Member P P P P  P 

Maggie MacIsaac Chief Executive Officer P V V   V 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive A P A P  N/A 

Jackie Powell Lay Member P P P P  P 

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative P P V N/A  N/A 

Andy Silvester Lay Member P P P A  V 

Dr Simon Simonian Clinical Executive P P A P  P 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer P A P P  P 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor P P P P  V 

David Williams Chief Executive, Portsmouth City Council P V P P  P 

Jo York Managing Director V V V V  V 

 

 

Audit Committee - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position 
June 

21 

Sept 

21 

Dec 

21 

March 

22 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse P P P P 

Graham Love Lay Member P A P P 

Jackie Powell Lay Member P P P P 

Andy Silvester Lay Member (Chair) P P P P 
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Remuneration Committee - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position 
Jul 

21 

Mar 

22 

Dr Elizabeth Fellows Chair of Governing Board/Clinical Executive P P 

Graham Love Lay Member P P 

Jackie Powell Lay Member P P 

Andy Silvester Lay Member P P 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Specialist Doctor A P 

 

Quality and Safeguarding Committee - Attendance Log 
 

 
Member Name 

 
Position 

April 

21 

May 

21 

June 

21 

July 

21 

Aug 

21 

Sep 

t 

21 

Oct 

21 

Nov 

21 

Dec 

21 

Jan 

22 

Feb 22 Mar 

22 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse V V V A V V V V  V V V 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Director V V A A V V A A  V V A 

Margaret Geary Lay Member V V V A V V V A  A V V 

Katie Hovenden Clinical Associate V V A V A V V V  V V N/A 

Tina Scarborough Director of Q&S V V V V V V V V  V V V 

Jo York Managing 

Director 

N/A N/A A A A A A V  A A A 
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Primary Care Commissioning Committee - Attendance Log 
 

Member Name Position 
May 

21 

Jul 

21 

Sep 

21 

Nov 

21 

Jan 

22 

Mar 

22 

Margaret Geary Lay Member (Chair) V V A V  V 

Helen Atkinson Director of Public Health A A V A  A 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Lead/Clinical Executive N/A N/A N/A N/A  V 

Mark Compton Director of Transformation A A V V  A 

Simon Cooper Director of Medicines Optimisation & Primary Care V V V A  A 

Jason Eastman Associate Director of IM&T A A A A  A 

Dr Nick Moore Clinical Executive (GP) V V V V  N/A 

Julia OôMara CCG Nurse Advisor V V V A  A 

Jackie Powell Lay Member V A V A  V 

David Scarborough Practice Manager Representative V A A N/A  N/A 

Andy Silvester Lay Member V A A A  A 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer V A V V  A 

Jo York Deputy Chief of Health and Care Portsmouth A A A A  V 
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2.14 UK Corporate Governance Code 
 
The CCG is not required to comply with the provisions of the UK Corporate 

Governance. 

 

2.15 Discharge of Statutory Functions 
 
In light of recommendations of the 1983 Harris Review, the clinical commissioning 

group has reviewed all of the statutory duties and powers conferred on it by the 

National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended) and other associated legislative and 

regulations. As a result, I can confirm that the clinical commissioning group is clear 

about the legislative requirements associated with each of the statutory functions for 

which it is responsible, including any restrictions on delegation of those functions. 

Responsibility for each duty and power has been clearly allocated to a lead Director. 

Directorates have confirmed that their structures provide the necessary capability 

and capacity to undertake all of the clinical commissioning groupôs statutory duties. 

2.16 Risk management arrangements and effectiveness 
 
Risk management is recognised as being everybodyôs business and is embedded in 

all the CCGôs activities. Equality impact assessments are incorporated into all 

relevant commissioning plans and policies. Consultation and engagement is 

undertaken with staff, subject matter experts and stakeholders in the development of 

individualôs aspects of the CCGôs work. Incident reporting in relation to both the CCG 

as a statutory organisation and employer as well as a commissioner of services is 

encouraged from staff and other stakeholders in line with the CCG policies and 

approach to risk. 

2.17 Capacity to handle risk and risk assessment 
 
The CCG has outlined its approach to risk and has a supporting risk management 

framework. The approach to risk recognises that living with, and understanding risk 

is an everyday part of our commissioning responsibilities. Risk is an inevitable part of 

managing healthcare but it must be managed in such a way that the consequences 

of commissioning decisions can be properly understood before they are made. 

The CCGôs approach is to develop a balanced and proportionate approach to risk 

management which is substantively robust whilst not unnecessarily bureaucratic ï 

balancing the CCGôs obligations to exercise safely, efficiently and economically, with 

its duties to drive improvements in services, promote innovation, and reduce 

inequalities. Our risk management framework sets out our risk appetite which is 

driven by the values and behaviours agreed by the Governing Board. From the 
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Governing Board, through our committees and onwards to our staff we have clearly 

understood protocols for the reporting and management of risk. The CCGôs 

Governing Board reviewed its risk appetite against the current strategic objectives 

and no change was made. 

The Governing Board retain oversight of the Assurance Framework which is 

presented alongside the Corporate Risk Register and is also reviewed by the Audit 

Committee at each of its meetings and operational management group meetings. 

This ensures that the identification and management of risk is óliveô and continues to 

remain a high priority for the organisation. Committees and groups oversee risk 

registers and named individuals have responsibility for the day to day management 

of risks within their portfolio. 

Staff receive training and support as part of induction, through ongoing staff activities 

and communications (including staff bulletins, specific training events and the staff 

handbook) and the development and promotion of the CCGôs policies and 

procedures to understand and manage risk and to feel supported in reporting risks of 

any kind. The CCGôs technology system continues to be used to monitor and assist 

in managing risks alongside the planning and performance functions of the CCG. 

Our approach to risk recognises that in order to commission healthcare successfully 

we need to work with many stakeholders and as part of this we explain our approach 

to risk, keep them informed of our risk position and seek their input into our plans 

and risk management actions. This is most visible through the Governing Boardôs 

review and ratification of the GBAF. 

The control mechanisms contained within our Risk Management Framework were 

chosen as the best to support our approach to risk and our values, whilst meeting 

our responsibilities with regard to risk management and were informed by external 

legal and risk management expertise and advice. 

The Governing Board Assurance Framework 

There is an ongoing well-defined process to assessing risk. Risks are assessed as 

part of the development of any individual plan, work programme or business case 

and are a requirement of our planning and performance approach and integrated into 

our planning and performance process. 

The Governing Board sets the CCGôs strategic objectives. The Executive then 

identifies, on its behalf, the strategic risks related to delivering these and 

incorporates these into the GBAF. Teams are required to review and update their 

team risk registers on a regular basis which are then reviewed through the CCGôs 

committee structures and included within the strategic risks where felt appropriate 

via the Corporate Risk Register. The GBAF and Corporate Risk Register are 

reviewed by the Audit Committee, the Governing Board and its sub-committees as 

detailed above. 
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Throughout the 2021/22 financial year, the CCG updated its strategic objectives 

amended its GBAF as a result. A number of key risks to the achievement of its 

strategic objectives were identified. These include meeting constitutional targets, 

financial balance, and the transition of the organisation toward the Integrated Care 

Board. Controls have been put in place in order to mitigate these risks and factors 

influencing these risks along with scores are reported through Performance, Finance 

& Quality Reports and Governing Board Assurance Framework (GBAF) at the 

Governing Board and its sub-committees. 

The CCG identified the following strategic risks on the GBAF: 

¶ Commissioning the right services for the population of Portsmouth ï ensuring 

engagement and consultation with local people and stakeholders. 

¶ Helping to develop and shape the new Integrated Care Board 

¶ Meeting Constitutional targets 

¶ Ensuring the CCG transfers in a timely and safe manner 

The CCGôs ability to comply with its license and actions taken to identify any 

principal risks identified to compliance are included as part of the CCGôs Governing 

Board Assurance Framework and risk management processes. Effectiveness and 

performance is overseen by the Governing Board and through its committees and 

sub-committees as well as via the Executive. Review of effectiveness of the CCGôs 

operating model and structures are overseen by the Governing Board and 

development needs identified are included within its strategies and underpinning 

plans. 

2.18 Other sources of assurance 
 
Internal Control Framework 

 
A system of internal control is the set of processes and procedures in place in the 

clinical commissioning group to ensure it delivers its policies, aims and objectives. It 

is designed to identify and prioritise the risks, to evaluate the likelihood of those risks 

being realised and the impact should they be realised, and to manage them 

efficiently, effectively and economically. 

The system of internal control allows risk to be managed to a reasonable level rather 

than eliminating all risk; it can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute 

assurance of effectiveness. 

The Audit Committee has oversight on behalf of the Governing Board of the internal 

control mechanisms of the CCG. The Accountable Officer, supported by the 

Executive and wider executive team, oversees the management and delivery of the 

internal control mechanisms. The Audit Committee bases its assessments, and 

therefore assurance, on the effectiveness of the controls of the CCG upon: 
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¶ Assurance provided by the Governing Board and committees work 

programmes; 

¶ A review of the CCGôs policies and procedures; and 

¶ With assurance from internal audit, external audit and other identified sources 

of assurance. 

Annual audit of conflicts of interest management 

The revised statutory guidance on managing conflicts of interest for CCGs 

(published June 2016) requires CCGs to undertake an annual internal audit of 

conflicts of interest management. To support CCGs to undertake this task, NHS 

England has published a template audit framework. 

The CCG has undertaken a Conflicts of Interests review through their Internal Audit 

Service during quarter four of the 2021/21 financial year. The CCG achieved 

óreasonableô assurance for the Management of Conflicts of Interest from the Internal 

Auditors. 

Data Quality 

The CCGôs Commissioning Support Provider (NHS South, Central and West 

Commissioning Support Unit) acts as the Data Services for Commissioners Regional 

Offices (DSCRO). Staff processing and providing data to the CCG follow strict rules 

on accessing, analysing and processing data. NHS South, Central and West 

Commissioning Support Unit provides the CCG with its data on which the CCG 

conducts its business. 

This data is regularly reviewed by the Governing Board and its committees and data 

is adapted to meet their needs. The Governing Board finds the data acceptable. The 

CCG in partnership with the Commissioning Support Unit has quality control 

processes in place to assure itself of the quality of data used to ensure it is 

acceptable and improvement plans are in place where needed. 

Information Governance 

The NHS Information Governance Framework sets the processes and procedures by 

which the NHS handles information about patients and employees, in particular 

personal identifiable information. The NHS Information Governance Framework is 

supported by an information governance toolkit and the annual submission process 

provides assurances to the clinical commissioning group, other organisations and to 

individuals that personal information is dealt with legally, securely, efficiently and 

effectively. 

We place high importance on ensuring there are robust information governance 

systems and processes in place to help protect the information we are ultimately 

responsible for. We have an established information governance management 

framework which is accompanied by a suite of information governance and 

information security policies. These are complemented by additional guidance and 
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procedures in line with the Data Security and Protection toolkit and good information 

management practice. We have ensured all staff receive a face to face induction 

regarding their responsibilities and undertake annual information governance training 

with all staff. We continue to review and utilise our staff information governance 

handbook to ensure staff are aware of their information governance roles and 

responsibilities. 

There are processes in place for incident reporting and investigation of serious 

incidents. We have embedded an information risk assessment and management 

programme to enhance an information risk culture throughout the organisation. 

Through a process of regular review we continue to identify opportunities for 

improvement as part of the annual information governance action plan. 

The Governing Board continues to receive Information Governance Training as part 

of its annual training programme. The Head of Governance continues in the role of 

Data Protection Officer who reviews all data quality impact assessments for the 

CCG. There have been no incidents reported through the Data Protection Officer. 

Business Critical Models 

In line with best practice recommendations of the 2013 MacPherson review into the 

quality assurance of analytical models, the CCG has an appropriate framework and 

environment in place to provide quality assurance of business-critical models. 

The CCGôs Business Continuity Plan is updated and reviewed on a regular basis - in 

particular during the latter part of the year in response to emergency planning and 

resilience arrangements. 

In addition, the CCG submitted assurance of compliance with the Emergency 

Preparedness, Resilience and Response Core Standards to NHS England. The 

CCG tested internal and external cascade arrangements and the Emergency 

Planning Officer attended meetings within the CCG to discuss business continuity. 

In response to COVID-19, the CCG has been operating in business-critical mode 

from 24 March 2021. The revised way of working continued throughout the 2021-22 

financial year. 

Third party assurances 

The CCG has arrangements in place with Portsmouth City Council for the provision 

of complaints, freedom of information requests, learning and development and 

Human Resources (HR) services. Assurance is overseen by the Executive. Regular 

reports are reviewed by committees of the Governing Board. 

The CCG also has an agreement in place with NHS South, Central and West CSU 

for the provision of Contracting, Information Governance and Business Intelligence 

services. Assurance is provided by Service Audit Reports and overseen by the 

CCGôs Audit Committee. 
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Work of the Local Counter Fraud and Security Service is overseen by the Audit 

Committee which includes regular work programme reports and an annual report. 

NHS Shared Business Services provide payroll services for the CCG. External Audit 

undertakes an audit each year in respect of the financial management of the CCG. 

The outcome of this audit is included and forms part of the CCGôs Annual Report and 

Accounts. 

 

2.19 Control issues 
 
No control issues were highlighted. 

 

2.20 Review of economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the use of 

resources 
 

The CCGôs Constitution sets out how the CCG will act effectively, efficiently and 

economically. It describes how responsibility for this is delegated to the Governing 

Board and the Audit Committee with advice from the Chief Finance Officer and 

through the use of value for money reviews, benchmarking, audit assurance 

processes and other tools ensuring the best use of resources. The Constitution also 

sets out how the CCG meets its general financial duties. The CCGôs supporting 

Prime and Detailed Financial Policies set out the controls in place for managing the 

CCGôs use of resources to ensure good corporate governance, internal control and 

management of risks. 

 
The CCGôs overall rating against the NHS England Improvement Assessment 

Framework was ógoodô. 

 
Under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as amended by the Health and Social 

Care Act 2012), CCGs have a statutory duty to involve the public in commissioning 

(section 14Z2). In addition to meeting statutory responsibilities, effective patient and 

public participation helps CCGs to commission services that meet the needs of local 

communities and tackle health inequalities. 

 
NHS England has a legal duty to assess how well each CCG has discharged its 

public involvement duty, as well as a commitment to supporting continuous 

improvement in public participation. The CCG achieved a score of óGreen Starô. 

 

2.21 Delegation of functions 
 
The CCG already has in place a number of joint arrangements with Portsmouth City 

Council, including Continuing Health Care, Better care Fund, and Health and Care 

Portsmouth Commissioning Team. 
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2.22 Counter fraud arrangements 
 
The NHS Counter Fraud Authority has responsibility for policy and operational 

matters relating to the prevention, detection and investigation of fraud, bribery and 

corruption in the NHS. The Fraud and Security Management Service is contracted to 

work with the CCG in determining appropriate systems and process for the 

prevention, identification and managing of the risks, and investigation of possible 

fraud. Their work is overseen by the CCGôs Chief Finance Officer. 

Activity of the Local Counter Fraud Specialists which is undertaken on behalf of the 

CCG is reported to and reviewed by the Audit Committee. The Audit Committee 

oversees compliance with the Government Functional Standard GoVS 013: Counter 

Fraud and the NHS Counter Fraud Authority Requirements. The Audit Committee 

receives quarterly progress reports which include the implementation of action plans 

addressing any areas for improvement. This year the Counter Fraud Functional 

Standard Return resulted in the CCG achieving an overall green rating. 

During the 2021/22 financial year, there were nine allegations of fraud requiring 

investigation. There was no evidence of fraud against the CCG but a local GP was 

sentenced after pleading guilty to the charge of fraud by abuse of position from the 

Portsmouth Primary Care Alliance (PPCA). 

The CCG continues to work with the Fraud and Security Management Service to 

ensure that all relevant policies are reviewed and provide the most up-to-date 

guidance and requirements for CCG staff. 

2.23 Head of Internal Audit Opinion 
 
Following completion of the planned audit work for the financial year for the clinical 

commissioning group, the Head of Internal Audit issued an independent and 

objective opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the clinical commissioning 

groupôs system of risk management, governance and internal control. The Head of 

Internal Audit concluded: 

 
ñMy overall opinion is that Reasonable assurance can be given that there is a 

generally sound system of internal control, designed to meet the organisationôs 

objectives, and that controls are generally being applied consistently. However, some 

weakness in the design and/or inconsistent application of controls, put the 

achievement of particular objectives at risk. 

The basis for forming my opinion is as follows: 

i. An assessment of the design and operation of the underpinning Assurance 

Framework and supporting processes; and 

ii. An assessment of the range of individual opinions arising from risk-based 

audit assignments, contained within internal audit risk-based plans that 
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have been reported throughout the year. This assessment has taken 

account of the relative materiality of these areas and managementôs 

progress in respect of addressing control weaknesses. 

Additional areas of work that may support the opinion will be determined locally but 

are not required for Department of Health purposes e.g. any reliance that is being 

placed upon Third Party Assurances. 

The following matter has had an impact on the Head of Internal Audit Opinion: 

¶ A Board Assurance Framework and Corporate Risk Register were not 

reported to the Governing Board for much of the yearò 

 
During the year, Internal Audit issued the following audit reports: 

 

Area of Audit Level of Assurance Given 

Critical Financial Assurance and Payroll Substantial 

Health & Wellbeing, Quality Reasonable 

Governance Review follow-up Reasonable 

Conflicts of Interest Reasonable 

Risk Management and BAF Limited 

Health and Care Portsmouth Integration Reasonable 

Partnership working Advice only 

Safe Transfer Advice Only 

 

2.24 Review of the effectiveness of governance, risk management and 

internal control 

My review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the 

work of the internal auditors, executive managers and clinical leads within the clinical 

commissioning group who have responsibility for the development and maintenance 

of the internal control framework. I have drawn on performance information available 

to me. My review is also informed by comments made by the external auditors in 

their annual audit letter and other reports. 

 
Our assurance framework provides me with evidence that the effectiveness of 

controls that manage risks to the clinical commissioning group achieving its principal 

objectives have been reviewed. 

 
I have been advised on the implications of the result of this review by: 

¶ The Governing Board 

¶ The Audit Committee 

¶ The Quality & Safeguarding Committee 

¶ Internal audit 
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¶ Regular Assurance meetings with NHS England/NHS Improvement 

 
Conclusion 

I can conclude that no significant internal control issues have been identified. 

 
 
 

 
Maggie MacIsaac 

Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 3 PART A 

REMUNERATION 

3.1 Remuneration Committee 
 
The membership and attendance at the CCGs Remuneration Committee is set out 

within our Governance Statement. 

In addition to members of the Governing Body, the Committee notably received 

support during the course of the year from the CCGôs Human Resources support 

provider (Portsmouth City Council) for which the CCG had a contract for services in 

place. The Accountable Officer, Chief Finance Officer and Managing Director, 

Deputy Chief Finance Officer and Head of Governance were also variously in 

attendance at meetings to provide support and answer specific questions of the 

Committee. The Committee was satisfied that the advice received was objective and 

independent. 

3.2 Policy on the remuneration of senior managers 
 
We have adopted Agenda for Change terms and conditions for all our staff including 

senior managers and Governing Board members. Spot salaries for senior managers 

have been established by the Remuneration Committee in line with NHS England 

guidance published in 2012 (óClinical Commissioning Groups: Remuneration for 

Chief Officers and Chief Finance Officersô.) These are reviewed annually. We intend 

to continue this approach for the foreseeable future. Remuneration awarded to 

Governing Board members as the senior managers of the organisation are set out 

below. 

We do not currently operate performance related pay. 

A summary of duration of contracts, and notice periods is contained within the 

following table. In line with UK Corporate Governance Code, the majority of 

Governing Board members are appointed for a fixed term and subject to re- 

appointment/re-election. The duration of contracts has been agreed with member 

practices as part of the agreement of our Constitution. Contracts do not provide for 

early termination but do provide for either party to give and receive paid notice for 

early termination. 

The CCG was informed of a delay in the establishment of the Integrated Care Board 

on 24 December 2021. As a result of this delay, the Remuneration Committee met 

and agreed to extend contracts of Governing Board members. These are detailed in 

the table below. 



 

 

 
 
 
 

Summary of contract and notice periods for Governing Board and Senior Manager 
 

Name Role CCG Start Date Contract Extension Notice Period 

Dr Elizabeth 

Fellows 

Chair 1 April 2013 31 May 2022 No further action 3 months 

Andy Silvester Deputy Chair (Lay 

Member) 

1 Feb 2014 30 September 

2022 

No Further Action 3 months 

Maggie MacIsaac Accountable Officer 1 April 2021 N/A No Further Action 3 months 

Dr Simon Simonian Clinical Executive 1 June 2019 31 May 2022 Extend contract to 30 September 2022 3 months 

Dr Carsten 

Lesshafft 

Clinical Executive 1 June 2019 31 May 2022 Extend contract to 30 September 2022 3 months 

Dr Linda Collie Clinical Leader (Clinical 

Executive) 

1 April 2013 31 March 2022 Extend contract to 30 September 2022 3 months 

Margaret Geary Lay Member 1 Oct 2017 30 Sept 2023 No Further Action 3 months 

Graham Love Lay Member 1 Oct 2017 30 Sept 2023 No Further Action 3 months 

Jackie Powell Lay Member 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 Extend Contract to 30 June 2022 3 months 

Karen Atkinson Registered Nurse 20 March 2019 19 March 2022 Extend Contract to 30 September 2022 3 months 

Dr Tahwinder Upile Secondary Care Dr 1 April 2013 31 March 2022 Extend Contract to 30 June 2022 3 months 

Michelle Spandley Chief Finance Officer N/A N/A No Further Action 3 months 

Jo York Managing Director N/A N/A No Further Action 3 months 

David Williams PCC Rep N/A N/A No Further Action N/A 

Helen Atkinson Dir of Public Health  N/A No Further Action N/A 

 
In addition, the Portsmouth City Council Chief Executive and Director of Public Health are voting members of the CCGs Governing Board by 

virtue of their appointment to their roles with Portsmouth City Council. They are not employed by the CCG. 

With the publication of the White Paper in February 2021, these posts will continue until such time as their term expires or the CCG ceases to 

exist as a legal entity (if this is prior to the dates stated above). 
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3.3 Remuneration of Very Senior Managers 
 

All Very Senior Managers remuneration is agreed and reviewed by the 

Remuneration Committee which enables the CCG to ensure that this remuneration is 

reasonable. 

The Salary and Allowances table that follow contain further disclosures on the 

remuneration of the CCGôs senior managers. The pensions disclosure calculations 

are based on officer service only and do not include any benefits in respect of 

practitioner service. 

All other employees of the CCG were employed on terms and conditions of 

employment in line with the Agenda for Change framework. Remuneration was 

reviewed annually for all staff and any uplifts were in accordance with the Agenda for 

Change framework. 

3.4 Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension 

entitlements) 2021/22 

The following sections within the Remuneration and Staff Report are subject to audit; 

Pension Benefits as at 31 March 2021, Senior Manager Remuneration, Pay Multiples, 

Pay Ratio, Compensation on early retirement for Loss of Office and Payment to Past 

Members. 
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Senior manager remuneration (including salary and pension 

entitlements) 2020/21 comparator 
 

3.5 Pension benefits as at 31 March 2021 
 

3.6 Cash equivalent transfer values 
 

A cash equivalent transfer value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capital value of 

the pension scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time. The 

benefits valued are the memberôs accrued benefits and any contingent spouseôs (or 

other allowable beneficiaryôs) pension payable from the scheme. 

A CETV is a payment made by a pension scheme or arrangement to secure pension 

benefits in another pension scheme or arrangement when the member leaves a 

scheme and chooses to transfer the benefits accrued in their former scheme. The 

pension figures shown relate to the benefits that the individual has accrued as a 
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consequence of their total membership of the pension scheme, not just their service 

in a senior capacity to which disclosure applies. 

The CETV figures and the other pension details include the value of any pension 

benefits in another scheme or arrangement which the individual has transferred to 

the NHS pension scheme. They also include any additional pension benefit accrued 

to the member as a result of their purchasing additional years of pension service in 

the scheme at their own cost. CETVs are calculated within the guidelines and 

framework prescribed by the Institute and Faculty of Actuaries. 

3.7 Real increase in CETV 

This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include 

the increase in accrued pension due to inflation or contributions paid by the 

employee (including the value of any benefits transferred from another scheme or 

arrangement). 

3.8 Compensation on early retirement of for loss of office 

There have been no payments in the current or previous financial year for loss of 

office. 

3.9 Payments to past members 

There have been no payments to past members. 

3.10 Fair Pay Disclosure ς Pay ratio information 

As at 31 March 2022, remuneration ranged from £20,000-£25,000 to £145,000- 

£150000 (+/-0% against 2020/21: £15,000-£20,000 to £145,000-£150,000) based on 

annualised, full-time equivalent remuneration of all staff (including temporary and 

agency staff). Total remuneration includes salary, non-consolidated performance- 

related pay, benefits-in-kind, but not severance payments. It does not include 

employer pension contributions and the cash equivalent transfer value of pensions. 

Remuneration of NHS Portsmouth CCG staff is shown in the table below: 
 

 25th percentile Median 75th percentile 

óAll staffô remuneration based on 

annualised, full-time equivalent 

remuneration of all staff 

(including temporary and agency 

staff) 

£31,534 £45,839 £69,666 

salary component of óall staffô 

remuneration based on 

annualised, full-time equivalent 

remuneration of all staff 

£31,534 £45,839 £69,666 
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(including temporary and agency 

staff) 

   

 

 

The ratios of staff remuneration against the mid-point of the banded remuneration of 

the highest paid director, is illustrated in the table below. 
 

Year 25th percentile pay 

ratio 

Median pay ratio 75th percentile pay ratio 

2021/22 4.68:1 3.22:1 2.10:1 

2020/21 4.82:1 3.31:1 2.38:1 

 

Reporting bodies are required to disclose the relationship between the remuneration 

of the highest-paid director / member in their organisation against the 25th 

percentile, median and 75th percentile of remuneration of the organisationôs 

workforce. Total remuneration is further broken down to show the relationship 

between the highest paid director's salary component of their total remuneration 

against the 25th percentile, median and 75th percentile of salary components of the 

organisationôs workforce. 

The banded remuneration of the highest paid director/member in NHS Portsmouth in 

the financial year 2021/22 was £145,000-£150,000 (0% change against 2020/21: 

£145,000-£150,000) and the relationship to the remuneration of the organisation's 

workforce is disclosed in the below table. 
 

Year 25th 

percentile 

total 

remuneratio 

n ratio 

25th 

percentile 

salary 

ratio 

Median total 

remuneratio 

n ratio 

Median 

salary ratio 

75th 

percentile 

total 

remuneratio 

n ratio 

75th 

percentile 

salary 

ratio 

2021/22 4.68:1 4.68:1 3.22:1 3.22:1 2.10:1 2.10:1 

2020/21 4.82:1 4.82:1 3.31:1 3.31:1 2.38:1 2.38:1 

 

In 2021/22 and 2020/21, no employees received remuneration in excess of the 

highest-paid director/member. 
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SECTION 3 PART B 

STAFF REPORT 

3.11 Number of senior managers 
 

As at 31st March 2022 our Governing Board (the senior managers directly employed 

by the CCG including Clinical Leads, Lay Members and Executive Officers) 

comprised of 7 voting members who were female and 6 voting members who were 

male. All Governing Body members are paid on local spot rates. 

 
Total number of Governing Board Senior Managers paid at local spot rates. 

 
 

 
Band 

Number 

 
Permanent 

Other (Fixed 

Term) 

Local Spot Rates 2 11 

 

3.12 Staff numbers and costs 
 

Staff costs 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

Salaries & Wages 3,176 299 

Social security costs 341 
 

NHS pension costs 646 
 

Apprenticeship Levy 4 
 

Total Staff Costs 4,169 299 

 
Staff numbers 

Description 
Number 

Permanent Other* 

General Medical Practitioner 1 8 

Senior Manager - Central Functions 12 0 

Clerical & Administrative - Central Functions 49 2 

Clerical & Administrative - Clinical Support 3 0 

Support Worker 1 0 

Nursing 5 0 
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Pharmacists - Trained 5 0 

Pharmacy Technicians 4 0 

Total Staff Numbers 80 10 

* Includes Governing Body Fixed Term Contracts, staff recharged by other NHS bodies, agency & 

temporary staff Includes agency & temporary staff, excludes Lay Members and Governing Board 

members who are not charged to the CCG. 

 

3.13 Staff composition 

Band 
Number 

Male Female 

Local Spot Rates 5 8 

Senior Managers (Band 9) 1 1 

Other Employees 17 58 

Total Staff Numbers 23 67 

Includes staff directly employed by the CCG and excludes impact of recharges to / from other CCGs 

 

 

3.14 Sickness absence data 
 

The CCG maintains overall a low rate of absence when compared to others in the 

NHS. 

 
We have a sickness absence management policy to ensure the equitable, fair and 

sensitive management of employees who are unable to fulfil their contractual duties 

due to ill health or disability. 

 
The majority of sickness absence was short term in nature. Where there is long term 

staff sickness, we have a policy to work proactively to support staff in their return to 

work. This can involve the support of occupational health services, employee 

assistance programmes and the consideration of flexible working arrangements in 

accordance with CCG HR policies. 

 
The sickness rate for NHS Portsmouth CCG for the period April 2021 ï March 2022 

was 2.76%. 

 

3.15 Staff turnover percentages 
 

Total turnover rate for 2021/22 is reported as 14.58% against headcount and 13.08% 

against f.t.e. A number of staff Tupeôd to NHS Hampshire Southampton and Isle of 

Wight CCG which artificially inflated the figure. 
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3.16 Staff engagement percentages 
 

The overall CCG response rate to the Staff Survey in 2021 was 78%. 

 

3.17 Staff policies 
 

Our responsibilities and commitments as an employer are set out in our Human 

Resources Framework. Our Framework is underpinned by a range of policies which 

seek to ensure equality and diversity within the workforce and appropriate 

arrangements to support all individuals. 

 
We are committed to working in line with current employment legislation, including 

the Equality Act 2010. This means we aim to provide a working environment free 

from discrimination, victimisation, and harassment, whether on an individual or 

institutional basis on the grounds of age, disability, gender reassignment, marriage 

and civil partnerships, pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief, sex (gender), 

sexual orientation, or any other grounds that infringe on Human Rights. 

 
We also aim to recruit a representative workforce from all sections of the community 

in order to commission healthcare services that respect and respond to the diverse 

needs of the people of Portsmouth. 

 
In line with the CCG equality, diversity and human rights policy anonymous staff 

equalities monitoring is used to identify trends and potential unfairness in 

recruitment, access to training and career progression. This looks at all protected 

characteristics and includes disability. If unfairness is found the CCG would use 

positive action to address this. 

 

3.18 Trade Union Facility Time 
 

Public sector organisations are required to report on trade union facility time, which 

is the paid time off for union representatives to carry out trade union activities. During 

2021/22 no member of staff from NHS Portsmouth CCG has acted as a Trade Union 

official. 

 

3.19 Other employee matters 
 

The CCG surveys staff on its approach to equality and diversity as part of its broader 

staff survey approach and this feedback is incorporated into our equality and 

diversity annual report as well as informing action planning for the future. 
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Information on our employee consultation and participation arrangements is reported 

to earlier in this annual report under staff engagement activities in section 1.7. 

 
The CCG has health and safety arrangements in place with specialist direction 

provided under a service level agreement from Portsmouth City Council. As part of 

this the CCG has a health and safety statement, has adopted a range of health and 

safety policies and requires all individuals to undertake relevant health and safety 

training. 

 

3.20 Consultancy expenditure 
 

The CCG spent nothing on Consultancy Fees during the financial year nor in the 

prior financial year. 

 
3.21 Off payroll engagements 

 
For all off-payroll engagements as at 31 March 2022 for more than £245* per day 

and that last longer than six months: 

 Number 

Number of existing engagements as of 31 March 2022 0 

Of which, the number that have existed: 

for less than one year at the time of reporting 0 

for between one and two years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 2 and 3 years at the time of reporting 0 

for between 3 and 4 years at the time of reporting 0 

for 4 or more years at the time of reporting 0 

*The £245 threshold is set to approximate the minimum point of the pay scale for a Senior Civil 

Servant. 

 
Table 2: Off-payroll workers engaged at any point during the financial year 

For all off-payroll engagements between 1 April 2021 and 31 March 2022, for 

more than £245(1) per day: 

 Number 

No. of temporary off-payroll workers engaged between 1 April 2021 and 

31 March 2022 
0 

Of which: 

No. not subject to off-payroll legislation 0 
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No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as in-scope of IR35 0 

No. subject to off-payroll legislation and determined as out of scope of 

IR35 
0 

the number of engagements reassessed for compliance or assurance 

purposes during the year 
0 

Of which: no. of engagements that saw a change to IR35 status following 

review 
0 

 

Table 3: Off-payroll engagements / senior official engagements 

For any off-payroll engagements of Board members and / or senior officials with 

significant financial responsibility, between 01 April 2021 and 31 March 2022: 

 
Number of off-payroll engagements of board members, and/or 

senior officers with significant financial responsibility, during the 

financial year 

 
0 

Total no. of individuals on payroll and off-payroll that have been 

deemed ñboard members, and/or, senior officials with significant 

financial responsibilityò, during the financial year. This figure should 

include both on payroll and off-payroll engagements. 
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3.22 Exit packages, including special (non-contractual payments) 
 

No exit packages or special (non-contractual) payments have been made by the 

CCG in the year ending 31st March 2022. 

 

3.23 Audit of Accountability Report 
 

Portsmouth CCG is not required to produce a Parliamentary Accountability and Audit 

Report. Disclosures on remote contingent liabilities, losses and special payments, 

gifts, and fees and charges are included as notes in the Financial Statements of this 

report at Section 6. An audit certificate and report is also included in this Annual 

Report in Section 4. 

 
 
 

 
Maggie McIsaac 

Accountable Officer 
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SECTION 4 Lb59t9b59b¢ !¦5L¢hwΩ{ REPORT 
 

Independent auditorôs report to the members of NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated 

Care Board in respect of NHS Portsmouth CCG 

 
In our auditorôs report issued on 21 June 2022, we explained that we could not formally 
conclude the audit and issue an audit certificate for NHS Portsmouth CCG (the óCCGô) for the 
year ended 31 March 2022, in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and 
Accountability Act 2014 and the Code of Audit Practice, until we had: 

¶ Completed our work on the CCGôs arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We have now completed this work, and the results 
of our work are set out below. 

 
Opinion on the financial statements 

In our auditorôs report for the year ended 31 March 2022 issued on 21 June 2022 we 
reported that, in our opinion the financial statements: 

¶ give a true and fair view of the financial position of the CCG as at 31 March 2022 
and of its expenditure and income for the year then ended; 

¶ have been properly prepared in accordance with international accounting standards as 
interpreted and adapted by the Department of Health and Social Care Group accounting 
manual 2021 to 2022; and 

¶ have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the National Health Service 
Act 2006, as amended by the Health and Social Care Act 2012. 

 
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, we drew attention to note 1.1 to the financial 
statements, which indicates that, under the Health and Care Act 2022, Integrated Care Boards 
will take on the commissioning functions of CCGs from 1 July 2022. On this date the 
commissioning functions, assets and liabilities of Portsmouth CCG will transfer to the 
Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board. 

 
No matters have come to our attention since 21 June 2022 that would have a material 
impact on the financial statements on which we gave this opinion. 

 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements - the CCGôs arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

 
Matter on which we are required to report by exception ï the CCGôs arrangements for 

securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

Under the Code of Audit Practice, we are required to report to you if, in our opinion, we have 
not been able to satisfy ourselves that the CCG made proper arrangements for securing 
economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources for the year ended 31 March 
2022. 

We have nothing to report in respect of the above matter. 

 
Responsibilities of the Accountable Officer 

The Accountable Officer of the CCG was responsible for putting in place proper 
arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and effectiveness in the use of the CCG's 
resources. 
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Auditorôs responsibilities for the review of the CCGôs arrangements for securing 

economy, efficiency and effectiveness in its use of resources 

We are required under Section 21(1)(c) of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 to be 
satisfied that the CCG made proper arrangements for securing economy, efficiency and 
effectiveness in its use of resources. We are not required to consider, nor have we 
considered, whether all aspects of the CCG's arrangements for securing economy, efficiency 
and effectiveness in its use of resources were operating effectively. 

 

We have undertaken our review in accordance with the Code of Audit Practice, having regard 
to the guidance issued by the Comptroller and Auditor General in December 2021. This 
guidance sets out the arrangements that fall within the scope of óproper arrangementsô. When 
reporting on these arrangements, the Code of Audit Practice requires auditors to structure 
their commentary on arrangements under three specified reporting criteria: 

¶ Financial sustainability: how the CCG planned and managed its resources to ensure it 

could continue to deliver its services; 

¶ Governance: how the CCG ensured that it made informed decisions and properly 

managed its risks; and 

¶ Improving economy, efficiency and effectiveness: how the CCG used information 

about its costs and performance to improve the way it managed and delivered its 

services. 

We have documented our understanding of the arrangements the CCG had in place for each of 
these three specified reporting criteria, gathering sufficient evidence to support our risk 
assessment and commentary in our Auditorôs Annual Report. In undertaking our work, we have 
considered whether there is evidence to suggest that there were significant weaknesses in 
arrangements. 

Report on other legal and regulatory requirements ï Audit certificate 

We certify that we have completed the audit of Portsmouth CCG for the year ended 31 March 
2022 in accordance with the requirements of the Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014 and 
the Code of Audit Practice. 

Use of our report 

This report is made solely to the members of NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated 
Care Board, as a body, in respect of NHS Portsmouth CCG, in accordance with Part 5 of the 
Local Audit and Accountability Act 2014. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might 
state to the members of NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board those 
matters we are required to state to them in an auditorôs report in respect of NHS Portsmouth 
CCG and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care 
Board and the members of NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board as a body 
and NHS Portsmouth CCG and the Governing Body of NHS Portsmouth CCG as a body, for 
our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

 
Iain Murray  

Iain Murray, Key Audit Partner 
for and on behalf of Grant Thornton UK LLP, Local Auditor 
London 
30 September 2022 
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SECTION 5 FINANCE REPORT 

5.1. Financial overview 
 

The CCG met all its financial and administrative duties in 2021/22, which are to 

remain within its revenue, capital and running costs allocations, and to ensure cash 

at year end is no more than 1.25% of the cash drawdown in the month of March 

2021. The full results are set out within the CCGs Annual Accounts and notes to the 

accounts at the end of this document. The key results are: 

¶ The CCG achieved an in-year revenue surplus of £22k which rounds to 

breakeven against an in-year revenue resource limit of £373.2 (including 

running costs allowance). 

¶ A cumulative revenue surplus of £7.3m against a total revenue resource limit 

of £380.5m. 

¶ The cash balance at year end was £72k which was within the target set by 

NHS England. 

¶ The CCG incurred no capital expenditure during 2020/21 

 

5.2. Review of the financial year, including contractual 

arrangements 

 
The 2021/22 NHS financial regime continued to be amended nationally to allow 

effective response to the COVID-19 pandemic. 

Planning for the year was split into H1 (April to September) and H2 (October to 

March). 

For H1 Portsmouth CCG planned and delivered a surplus of £1.6m but were always 

clear that this may reduce to support the overall delivery of the financial plan within 

the Hampshire and IoW Integrated Care System through the remainder of the 

financial year. Initial H2 plans were to deliver a further £0.5m surplus or £2.1m for 

the full year. 

At month 09 following an in-depth review of financial performance and trajectories, 

ICS partner organisations agreed to redistribute system growth allocations to bring 

every NHS organisation within the HIOW ICS to a projected breakeven position by 

the end of the financial year. As a result, Portsmouth CCG transferred funding back 

to the ICS reducing the projected £2.1m surplus to a breakeven position. 

Many of the changes to the financial framework implemented in 20/21 in response to 

the COVID-19 pandemic remained in place. Block payments remained and were 
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uplifted by inflation. We were able to agree local investments with NHS contractors 

in addition to the block and were able to support a number of investments, 

particularly in Mental Health. 

During 20/21 contracts with Acute Independent Sector providers were suspended 

locally, with NHS England contracting centrally with independent sector providers to 

ensure maximum capacity was available to the NHS locally to respond to the 

pandemic. For 21/22 Independent sector contracts reverted to being paid and 

managed locally. Additional growth funding was provided this year to support the 

recovery of elective performance. Portsmouth CCG received an additional £0.3m as 

a result of the initiative to support increased activity delivered through Independent 

Sector Providers. 

To support the continued delivery of the Mental Health transformation programme 

and Long Term Plan mental health priorities non recurrent funding of £3.1m was 

received in year which was passed to both NHS and Independent Sector services to 

maintain the progress in developing high quality services to meet the needs of the 

population. Key initiatives include the development of the No Wrong Door model, 

Improving Access to Psychological Therapies and developing new service offers for 

children and young adults. 

To support discharge from the acute sector there continued to be a nationally funded 

Hospital Discharge Programme (HDP). Patientôs care has been funded through the 

HDP until the point at which their needs and ongoing funding arrangements were 

assessed for a maximum period of 6 weeks between 1 April 2021 and 30 June 2021 

and 4 weeks from 1 July 2021 to 31 March 2022. Portsmouth CCG has received 

£4.4m national reimbursement for the Hospital Discharge Programme in 21/22. As a 

result of the scheme significant improvements in bed days lost across the system 

has been seen. Work is ongoing to maintain the improvements gained across the 

system following the withdrawal of national funding support from 1st April 2022. 

Within Primary Care additional support was given under the Winter Access Fund to 

ensure Primary Care access was maintained and for which we received £0.7m 

funding. 

The charts that follow show how the CCG applied their expenditure across the 

various commissioning areas, together with a breakdown of the amount spent per 

head of population. 
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During the financial year, the CCGôs major financial pressures were within: 

¶ Extra Contractual Referrals relating to non-Mental health, Mental Health and 

Learning Disabilities. 

Given the nature of the 2021/22 financial regime most risks were either mitigated or 

not applicable this year, particularly over-performance with providers in secondary 

care. 

Despite the pressures, expenditure was managed within the agreed control total. 

The CCG was able to provide investment into Acute, Community and Childrenôs 

services in order to improve flow and to improve care for patients. 

The CCG achieved the Mental Health Standard during 2021/22, increasing recurrent 

expenditure in Mental Health by 4.59% against a 3.75% requirement. 



95 

 

 

 
 
 

 

The CCG continues to work as part of the Portsmouth and South East Hampshire 

Integrated Care Partnership. The Integrated Care Partnership works together to 

evaluate and understand the scale of the financial challenge, and to jointly agree 

work on longer term plans to enable overall financial balance whilst delivering 

sustainable healthcare. The partnership is one of the ICPs that form part of the 

Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care System. 

The CCG has also continued to build upon and develop its integration with 

Portsmouth City Council to enable both organisations to better manage financial risk 

as well as working more efficiently on behalf of our citizens. We have continued to 

manage the Hospital Discharge Programme together and are joint working to ensure 

that the benefits of this approach continue to be realised in 2022/23. 

5.3. Quality, Innovation, Productivity and Prevention (QIPP) 
 

The NHS as a whole has to improve efficiency to offset the rising cost of healthcare 

from new technologies, population growth, complexity of need, inflation and other 

pressures. 

The national programme is now well established to release savings by improving 

quality, driving innovation in healthcare, improving productivity and preventing ill- 

health. 

The CCG would always have to identify and deliver savings each year in order to 

achieve its break-even control total. Whilst the NHS is still dealing with the impact of 

Covid-19, many planned changes to service delivery and modelling that were 

forecasted to achieve efficiency benefits have had to be put on hold. However, the 

CCG and the local system have, wherever possible, tried to drive efficiencies, 

building on previous successes and rapidly putting in place innovation, such as 

digital / virtual appointments wherever possible. 

A significant amount of focus, planning and support has gone into the restoration of 

services that have been affected as a result of the pandemic to ensure the longer 

term resilience and quality of services provided is not impacted and to retain where 

appropriate the innovative ways of working that have developed. 

5.4. Running Costs 
 

Each CCG is set a limit on how much it can spend on its administrative costs. For 

our CCG, this limit is £4.3m, which equates to £19 per head of population. The CCG 

remained within the limit for 2021/22. 
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5.5. Cash 
 

NHS England set a cash target for each CCG, insofar as cashbook balances held 

should not exceed 1.25% of the CCGs cash drawdown for February 2022. The 

CCGs target equated to a maximum cashbook balance of £330k, the actual 

cashbook balance of £72k was within the threshold. 

5.6. Better Payment Practice Code 
 

The Better Payment Practice Code (BPPC) requires CCGs to aim to pay all valid 

invoices by the due date, or within 30 days of receipt of a valid invoice. For non- 

NHS invoices, we paid 98.64% of the number of invoices in line with the BPPC 

(99.06% of the value), and for NHS invoices, we paid 99.52% of the number of 

invoices in line with the BPPC (100.00% of the value). 

NHS organisations are deemed to have complied with this measure if at least 95% of 

invoices are paid within 30 days or within contract terms. 

5.7. Fees and charges 
 

The CCG is able to charge a fee to individuals who exercise their right to obtain a 

copy of the information that the CCG holds about them. This is known as a Subject 

Access Request. The CCG operated in compliance with the cost allocation and 

charging requirements set out in HM Treasury guidance. The CCG received no fees 

and charges during 2021/22. 

5.8. Financial plan 2022/23 
 

NHS England issued initial planning guidance in December 2021,returning to the 

annual planning cycle as opposed to the half yearly approach taken in 21/22. 

The guidance confirmed the delay in Integrated Commissionign Board establishment 

until July 2022 retaining the requirement for CCG level planning in 2022/23. 

The guidance also confirmed there will be a return to signed contracts between 

commissioners and all providers (NHS and non-NHS) in 22/23. 

The National view is that systems have sufficient funding within allocations (National 

net 3.6% increase) to deliver break even in H2 and beyond. However, from 1st April: 

¶ HDP funding ceases 

¶ CoVID costs reduced by c55% (current guidance does not make provision for 

the Omicron variant) 
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¶ We anticipate a 3% pay award in addition to the National Living Wage and NI 

increases 

Published allocations for HIOW ICS indicate a reduction of circa £40m when 

compared to H2 x 2 which is the current national comparator 

Mental Health investment remains a priority within the national policy with an 

expectation that investment of at least 4.66% is delivered by every commissioning 

organisation in 22/23. 

Portsmouth CCG will produce its own financial plan to be concollidated with 

Hampshire, Southampton and Isle of Wight CCGs plan to represent the plans for the 

future commissioning organisation for the area, Hampshire and Isle of Wight ICB. 

Across the ICS partner organisations are working through the impact of material 

inflationary pressures not reflected within the funding setlement, such as the rising 

cost of fuel and gas in order to agree the finacial trajectory for 2022/23. 

5.9. External Auditors Remuneration 
 

The CCGôs external auditor is Grant Thornton UK LLP. Their audit covers both the 

CCGôs financial statements and arrangements for securing value for money in its use 

of resources. The audit fee for the 2021/22 annual accounts is £42,400 plus VAT. 
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SECTION 6 ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 

Full accounts now follow. These have been prepared under a Direction issued by the 

NHS Commissioning Board under the National Health Service Act 2006 (as 

amended). 
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - 
Annual Accounts 2021-22 

   

Statement of Comprehensive Net Expenditure 
for the year ended 

   

31 March 2022    

  
2021-22 2020-21 

 Note £'000 £'000 

Income from sale of goods and services 2 (2,126) (1,943) 

Other operating income 2 - - 

Total operating income  (2,126) (1,943) 

Staff costs 4 4,467 4,541 

Purchase of goods and services 5 370,063 346,397 

Depreciation and impairment charges 5 - 39 

Provision expense 5 623 - 

Other Operating Expenditure 5 95 73 

Total operating expenditure  375,248 351,050 

Net Operating Expenditure 
 

373,122 349,107 

Finance income 
 

- - 

Finance expense  - - 

Net expenditure for the Year  373,122 349,107 

 
Comprehensive Expenditure for the year 

  
373,122 

 
349,107 

 
Note: Due to roundings this schedule and all following schedules and notes 
may contain casting variances 
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual 
Accounts 2021-22 

Statement of Financial Position as at 
   

31 March 2022    

  2021-22 2020-21 

 
Note £'000 £'000 

Non-current assets:    

Property, plant and equipment 13 - - 

Intangible assets 14 - - 

Investment property 15 - - 

Trade and other receivables 17 - - 

Other financial assets 18 - - 

Total non-current assets  - - 

Current assets:    

Inventories 16 - - 

Trade and other receivables 17 2,270 2,387 

Other financial assets 18 - - 

Other current assets 19 - - 

Cash and cash equivalents 20 - 119 

Total current assets  2,270 2,507 

Non-current assets held for sale 21 - - 

Total current assets 
 

2,270 2,507 

Total assets 
 

2,270 2,507 

Current liabilities 
   

Trade and other payables 23 (24,942) (16,771) 

Other financial liabilities 24 - - 

Other liabilities 25 - - 

Borrowings 26 (668) - 

Provisions 30 - - 

Total current liabilities  (25,610) (16,771) 

Non-Current Assets plus/less Net Current 
Assets/Liabilities 

  
(23,340) 

 
(14,265) 

Non-current liabilities 
   

Trade and other payables 23 - - 

Other financial liabilities 24 - - 

Other liabilities 25 - - 

Borrowings 26 - - 

Provisions 30 (901) (278) 

Total non-current liabilities  (901) (278) 

Assets less Liabilities 
 

(24,241) (14,543) 

Financed by Taxpayersô Equity 
   

General fund  (24,241) (14,543) 

Revaluation reserve  - - 
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Other reserves - - 

Charitable Reserves - - 

Total taxpayers' equity: (24,241) (14,543) 

 

 
The financial statements on pages 105 to 146 were approved by the Governing Body on 20th June 
2022 and signed on its behalf by: 

 

 
Maggie MacIsaac 

  

Accountable Officer   
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22   

Statement of Changes In Taxpayers Equity for the year ended 
  

31 March 2022   

 General 
fund 

Total 
reserves 

 £'000 £'000 

Changes in taxpayersô equity for 2021-22   

Balance at 01 April 2021 (14,543) (14,543) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayersô equity for 2021-22 
  

Net operating expenditure for the financial year (373,122) (373,122) 

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial year (373,122) (373,122) 

Net funding   363,424    363,424  

Balance at 31 March 2022   (24,241)    (24,241)  

  
General 

fund 

 
Total 

reserves 
 £'000 £'000 

Changes in taxpayersô equity for 2020-21   

Balance at 01 April 2020 (17,387) (17,387) 

Changes in NHS Clinical Commissioning Group taxpayersô equity for 2020-21 
  

Net operating costs for the financial year (349,107) (349,107) 

Net Recognised NHS Clinical Commissioning Group Expenditure for the Financial Year (349,107) (349,107) 

Net funding   351,951    351,951  

Balance at 31 March 2021   (14,543)    (14,543)  
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22     

Statement of Cash Flows for the year ended 
    

31 March 2022     

  2021-22  2020-21 
 Note £'000  £'000 

Cash Flows from Operating Activities     

Net operating expenditure for the financial year  (373,122)  (349,107) 

Depreciation and amortisation 5 0  39 

(Increase)/decrease in trade & other receivables 17 117  1,508 

(Increase)/decrease in other current assets  0  0 

Increase/(decrease) in trade & other payables 23 8,171  (4,369) 

Increase/(decrease) in other current liabilities  0  0 

Provisions utilised 30 0  0 

Increase/(decrease) in provisions 30   623     0  

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Operating Activities (364,211)  (351,929) 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) before Financing 
 

(364,211) 
 

(351,929) 

Cash Flows from Financing Activities 
    

Grant in Aid Funding Received  363,424  351,951 

Net Cash Inflow (Outflow) from Financing Activities  363,424  351,951 

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash & Cash Equivalents 20   (788)     22  

Cash & Cash Equivalents at the Beginning of the Financial Year 
 

119 
 

98 

Effect of exchange rate changes on the balance of cash and cash equivalents held in foreign currencies    0     0  

Cash & Cash Equivalents (including bank overdrafts) at the End of the Financial Year    (668)     119  
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The CCG held a cleared cash position of £72k at 31st March 2002 which was within our target of £330k maximum. A Bacs payment of £740k was 
made on 31st March which cleared the bank on 5th April 2022. This has resulted in a technical credit ledger cash position and only reflects a timing 
difference in the drawdown process and cash being made available in the bank. 
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NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22 

Notes to the financial statements 

1 Accounting Policies 
 NHS England has directed that the financial statements of clinical commissioning 

groups shall meet the accounting requirements of the Group Accounting Manual issued 
by the Department of Health and Social Care. Consequently, the following financial 
statements have been prepared in accordance with the Group Accounting Manual 
2021-22 issued by the Department of Health and Social Care. The accounting policies 
contained in the Group Accounting Manual follow International Financial Reporting 
Standards to the extent that they are meaningful and appropriate to clinical 
commissioning groups, as determined by HM Treasury, which is advised by the 
Financial Reporting Advisory Board. Where the Group Accounting Manual permits a 
choice of accounting policy, the accounting policy which is judged to be most 
appropriate to the particular circumstances of the clinical commissioning group for the 
purpose of giving a true and fair view has been selected. The particular policies 
adopted by the clinical commissioning group are described below. They have been 
applied consistently in dealing with items considered material in relation to the 
accounts. 

1.1 Going Concern 
 These accounts have been prepared on a going concern basis. Public sector bodies 

are assumed to be going concerns where the continuation of the provision of a service 
in the future is anticipated, as evidenced by inclusion of financial provision for that 
service in published documents. 

 Where a clinical commissioning group ceases to exist, it considers whether or not its 
services will continue to be provided (using the same assets, by another public sector 
entity) in determining whether to use the concept of going concern for the final set of 
financial statements. If services will continue to be provided the financial statements 
are prepared on the going concern basis. The statement of financial position has 
therefore been drawn up at 31 March 2022 on a going concern basis. 

 The Health and Care Act received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022. The Act will allow for 
the establishment of Integrated Care Boards (ICB) across England and will abolish 
clinical commissioning groups. Integrated Care Boards will take on the commissioning 
functions of CCGs from 1 July 2022. On this date the Clinical Commissioning Groups 
functions, assets and liabilities are due to transfer to Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Integrated Care Board. This therefore means that the two Clinical Commissioning 
Groups of NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Hampshire, 
Southampton and Isle of Wight Clinical Commissioning Group will closedown on 30th 
June 2022, and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board will be 
established on 1st July 2022, which will have wider responsibilities than just the Clinical 
Commissioning Groups current remit. The functionality and services of NHS 
Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group will continue to be provided in the new 
organisation, with the merger and establishment of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight 
Integrated Care Board being regarded as a 'transfer of function'. 

 

1.2 
 

Accounting Convention 

 These accounts have been prepared under the historical cost convention modified to 
account for the revaluation of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, 
inventories and certain financial assets and financial liabilities. 

1.3 Movement of Assets within the Department of Health and Social Care Group 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any transfers of assets or 

liabilities as part of a reorganisation during 2021-22. 
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1.4 Subsidiaries 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any Subsidiaries. 

1.5 Associates 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group does not have any Associates. 

1.6 Joint arrangements 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group does not participate in any Joint Ventures. 
 Joint Operations are activities undertaken by the Clinical Commissioning Group in 

conjunction with one or more other parties but which are not performed through a 
separate entity. The Clinical Commissioning Group records its share of the income and 
expenditure; gains and losses; assets and liabilities; and cash flows. 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into three pooled budget arrangements 
under section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006 with Portsmouth City Council. 
The Clinical Commissioning Group has accounted for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in 
accordance with the pooled budget arrangements. 

1.7 Pooled Budgets 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a pooled budget arrangement with 

Portsmouth County Council under Section 75 of the National Health Service Act 2006. 
The Clinical Commissioning Group accounts for its share of the assets, liabilities, 
income and expenditure arising from the activities of the pooled budget, identified in 
accordance with the pooled budget agreement. 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group holds three pooled budgets with Portsmouth City 
Council - as detailed in Note 35. 

1.8 Operating Segments 
 Income and expenditure are analysed in the Operating Segments note and are 

reported in line with management information used within the clinical commissioning 
group. 

1.9 Revenue 
 In the application of IFRS 15 a number of practical expedients offered in the Standard 

have been employed. These are as follows: 
 Å As per paragraph 121 of the Standard the clinical commissioning group will not 

disclose information regarding performance obligations part of a contract that has an 
original expected duration of one year or less, 

 Å The clinical commissioning group is to similarly not disclose information where 
revenue is recognised in line with the practical expedient offered in paragraph B16 of 
the Standard where the right to consideration corresponds directly with value of the 
performance completed to date. 

 Å The FReM has mandated the exercise of the practical expedient offered in C7(a) of 
the Standard that requires the clinical commissioning group to reflect the aggregate 
effect of all contracts modified before the date of initial application. 

 The main source of funding for the Clinical Commissioning Group is from NHS 
England. This is drawn down and credited to the general fund. Funding is recognised in 
the period in which it is received. 

 Revenue in respect of services provided is recognised when (or as) performance 
obligations are satisfied by transferring promised services to the customer, and is 
measured at the amount of the transaction price allocated to that performance 
obligation. 

 Where income is received for a specific performance obligation that is to be satisfied in 
the following year, that income is deferred. 

 Payment terms are standard reflecting cross government principles. Significant terms 
include payment within 30 days. 



113 

 

 

1.10 Employee Benefits 

1.10.1 Short-term Employee Benefits 
 Salaries, wages and employment-related payments, including payments arising from 

the apprenticeship levy, are recognised in the period in which the service is received 
from employees, including bonuses earned but not yet taken. 

 The cost of leave earned but not taken by employees at the end of the period is 
recognised in the financial statements to the extent that employees are permitted to 
carry forward leave into the following period. 

1.10.2 Retirement Benefit Costs 
 Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the NHS Pensions 

Schemes. These schemes are unfunded, defined benefit schemes that cover NHS 
employers, General Practices and other bodies allowed under the direction of the 
Secretary of State in England and Wales. The schemes are not designed to be run in a 
way that would enable NHS bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme 
assets and liabilities. Therefore, the schemes are accounted for as if they were a 
defined contribution scheme; the cost recognised in these accounts represents the 
contributions payable for the year. 

 For early retirements other than those due to ill health the additional pension liabilities 
are not funded by the scheme. The full amount of the liability for the additional costs is 
charged to expenditure at the time the clinical commissioning group commits itself to 
the retirement, regardless of the method of payment. 

 The schemes are subject to a full actuarial valuation every four years and an 
accounting valuation every year. 

1.11 Other Expenses 
 Other operating expenses are recognised when, and to the extent that, the goods or 

services have been received. They are measured at the fair value of the consideration 
payable. 

1.12 Grants Payable 
 Where grant funding is not intended to be directly related to activity undertaken by a 

grant recipient in a specific period, the clinical commissioning group recognises the 
expenditure in the period in which the grant is paid. All other grants are accounted for 
on an accruals basis. 

1.13 Property, Plant & Equipment 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group Property, Plant and Equipment have no remaining 

value and are deemed to hold no further useful economic life. 

1.14 Intangible Assets 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group hold no intangible assets. 

1.15 Depreciation, Amortisation & Impairments 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group Property hold no assets which are being 

depreciated. 

1.16 Donated Assets 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group hold no donated assets. 

1.17 Government grant funded assets 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group hold no government grant funded assets. 
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1.18 Leases 
 Leases are classified as finance leases when substantially all the risks and rewards of 

ownership are transferred to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating 
leases. 

1.18.1 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessee 
 Property, plant and equipment held under finance leases are initially recognised, at the 

inception of the lease, at fair value or, if lower, at the present value of the minimum 
lease payments, with a matching liability for the lease obligation to the lessor. Lease 
payments are apportioned between finance charges and reduction of the lease 
obligation so as to achieve a constant rate on interest on the remaining balance of the 
liability. Finance charges are recognised in calculating the clinical commissioning 
groupôs surplus/deficit. 

 Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense on a straight-line basis over 
the lease term. Lease incentives are recognised initially as a liability and subsequently 
as a reduction of rentals on a straight-line basis over the lease term. 

 Contingent rentals are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are 
incurred. 

 Where a lease is for land and buildings, the land and building components are 
separated and individually assessed as to whether they are operating or finance 
leases. 

1.18.2 The Clinical Commissioning Group as Lessor 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any lessor arrangements. 

1.19 Private Finance Initiative Transactions 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group holds no Private Finance Initiative, LIFT or other 

service concession arrangements. 

1.20 Inventories 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group held no inventories at 31st March 2022. 

1.21 Cash & Cash Equivalents 

 Cash is cash in hand and deposits with any financial institution repayable without 
penalty on notice of not more than 24 hours. Cash equivalents are investments that 
mature in 3 months or less from the date of acquisition and that are readily convertible 
to known amounts of cash with insignificant risk of change in value. 

 In the Statement of Cash Flows, cash and cash equivalents are shown net of bank 
overdrafts that are repayable on demand and that form an integral part of the clinical 
commissioning groupôs cash management. 

1.22 Provisions 
 Provisions are recognised when the clinical commissioning group has a present legal or 

constructive obligation as a result of a past event, it is probable that the clinical 
commissioning group will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable estimate 
can be made of the amount of the obligation. The amount recognised as a provision is 
the best estimate of the expenditure required to settle the obligation at the end of the 
reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties. Where a provision is 
measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the obligation, its carrying amount is 
the present value of those cash flows using HM Treasuryôs discount rate as follows: 

 All general provisions are subject to four separate discount rates according to the 
expected timing of cashflows from the Statement of Financial Position date: 

 Å A nominal short-term rate of 0.47% (2020-21: -0.02%) for inflation adjusted expected 
cash flows up to and including 5 years from Statement of Financial Position date. 

 Å A nominal medium-term rate of 0.70% (2020-21: 0.18%) for inflation adjusted 
expected cash flows over 5 years up to and including 10 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date. 
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 Å A nominal long-term rate of 0.95% (2020-21 1.99%) for inflation adjusted expected 
cash flows over 10 years and up to and including 40 years from the Statement of 
Financial Position date. 

 Å A nominal very long-term rate of 0.66% (2020-21: 1.99%) for inflation adjusted 
expected cash flows exceeding 40 years from the Statement of Financial Position date. 

 
When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected 
to be recovered from a third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is 
virtually certain that reimbursements will be received and the amount of the receivable 
can be measured reliably. 

 A restructuring provision is recognised when the clinical commissioning group has 
developed a detailed formal plan for the restructuring and has raised a valid 
expectation in those affected that it will carry out the restructuring by starting to 
implement the plan or announcing its main features to those affected by it. The 
measurement of a restructuring provision includes only the direct expenditures arising 
from the restructuring, which are those amounts that are both necessarily entailed by 
the restructuring and not associated with on-going activities of the entity. 

 Further information on provisions can be found in note 30. 

1.23 Clinical Negligence Costs 
 NHS Resolution operates a risk pooling scheme under which the clinical commissioning 

group pays an annual contribution to NHS Resolution, which in return settles all clinical 
negligence claims. The contribution is charged to expenditure. Although NHS 
Resolution is administratively responsible for all clinical negligence cases, the legal 
liability remains with clinical commissioning group. 

1.24 Carbon Reduction Commitment Scheme 
 Due to the nature of its activities, the Clinical Commissioning Group is not a member of 

the Carbon Reduction Scheme. 

1.25 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
 A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose 

existence will be confirmed only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group, 
or a present obligation that is not recognised because it is not probable that a payment 
will be required to settle the obligation or the amount of the obligation cannot be 
measured sufficiently reliably. A contingent liability is disclosed unless the possibility of 
a payment is remote. 

 A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose 
existence will be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more 
uncertain future events not wholly within the control of the clinical commissioning group. 
A contingent asset is disclosed where an inflow of economic benefits is probable. 

 Where the time value of money is material, contingent liabilities and contingent assets 
are disclosed at their present value. 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any contingent assets or liabilities in 
2021-22. 

1.26 Financial Assets 
 Financial assets are recognised when the clinical commissioning group becomes party 

to the financial instrument contract or, in the case of trade receivables, when the goods 
or services have been delivered. Financial assets are derecognised when the 
contractual rights have expired or the asset has been transferred. 

 Financial assets are classified into the following categories: 
 · Financial assets at amortised cost; 

 · Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income and ; 
 · Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss. 
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 The classification is determined by the cash flow and business model characteristics of 
the financial assets, as set out in IFRS 9, and is determined at the time of initial 
recognition. 

 A thorough review of IFRS 9 has been performed and there is no material impact on 
NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group accounts. 

1.26.1 Financial Assets at Amortised cost 
 Financial assets measured at amortised cost are those held within a business model 

whose objective is achieved by collecting contractual cash flows and where the cash 
flows are solely payments of principal and interest. This includes most trade 
receivables and other simple debt instruments. After initial recognition these financial 
assets are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less any 
impairment. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly discounts estimated 
future cash receipts through the life of the financial asset to the gross carrying amount 
of the financial asset. 

1.26.2 Financial assets at fair value through other comprehensive income 

 Financial assets held at fair value through other comprehensive income are those held 
within a business model whose objective is achieved by both collecting contractual 
cash flows and selling financial assets and where the cash flows are solely payments of 
principal and interest. 

1.26.3 Financial assets at fair value through profit and loss 
 Financial assets measure at fair value through profit and loss are those that are not 

otherwise measured at amortised cost or fair value through other comprehensive 
income. This includes derivatives and financial assets acquired principally for the 
purpose of selling in the short term. 

1.26.4 Impairment 
 For all financial assets measured at amortised cost or at fair value through other 

comprehensive income (except equity instruments designated at fair value through 
other comprehensive income), lease receivables and contract assets, the clinical 
commissioning group recognises a loss allowance representing the expected credit 
losses on the financial asset. 

 The clinical commissioning group adopts the simplified approach to impairment in 
accordance with IFRS 9, and measures the loss allowance for trade receivables, lease 
receivables and contract assets at an amount equal to lifetime expected credit losses. 
For other financial assets, the loss allowance is measured at an amount equal to 
lifetime expected credit losses if the credit risk on the financial instrument has 
increased significantly since initial recognition (stage 2) and otherwise at an amount 
equal to 12 month expected credit losses (stage 1). 

 HM Treasury has ruled that central government bodies may not recognise stage 1 or 
stage 2 impairments against other government departments, their executive agencies, 
the Bank of England, Exchequer Funds and Exchequer Funds assets where repayment 
is ensured by primary legislation. The clinical commissioning group therefore does not 
recognise loss allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 impairments against these bodies. 
Additionally Department of Health and Social Care provides a guarantee of last resort 
against the debts of its arm's lengths bodies and NHS bodies and the clinical 
commissioning group does not recognise allowances for stage 1 or stage 2 
impairments against these bodies. 

 For financial assets that have become credit impaired since initial recognition (stage 3), 
expected credit losses at the reporting date are measured as the difference between 
the asset's gross carrying amount and the present value of the estimated future cash 
flows discounted at the financial asset's original effective interest rate. Any adjustment 
is recognised in profit or loss as an impairment gain or loss. 
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1.27 Financial Liabilities 
 Financial liabilities are recognised on the statement of financial position when the 

clinical commissioning group becomes party to the contractual provisions of the 
financial instrument or, in the case of trade payables, when the goods or services have 
been received. Financial liabilities are de-recognised when the liability has been 
discharged, that is, the liability has been paid or has expired. 

1.27.1 Financial Guarantee Contract Liabilities 
 Financial guarantee contract liabilities are subsequently measured at the higher of: 
 · The premium received (or imputed) for entering into the guarantee less 

cumulative amortisation; and, 
 · The amount of the obligation under the contract, as determined in accordance 

with IAS 37: Provisions, Contingent Liabilities and Contingent Assets. 

1.27.2 Financial Liabilities at Fair Value Through Profit and Loss 

 Embedded derivatives that have different risks and characteristics to their host 
contracts, and contracts with embedded derivatives whose separate value cannot be 
ascertained, are treated as financial liabilities at fair value through profit and loss. They 
are held at fair value, with any resultant gain or loss recognised in the clinical 
commissioning groupôs surplus/deficit. The net gain or loss incorporates any interest 
payable on the financial liability. 

1.27.3 Other Financial Liabilities 
 After initial recognition, all other financial liabilities are measured at amortised cost 

using the effective interest method, except for loans from Department of Health and 
Social Care, which are carried at historic cost. The effective interest rate is the rate that 
exactly discounts estimated future cash payments through the life of the asset, to the 
net carrying amount of the financial liability. Interest is recognised using the effective 
interest method. 

1.28 Value Added Tax 
 Most of the activities of the clinical commissioning group are outside the scope of VAT 

and, in general, output tax does not apply and input tax on purchases is not 
recoverable. Irrecoverable VAT is charged to the relevant expenditure category or 
included in the capitalised purchase cost of fixed assets. Where output tax is charged 
or input VAT is recoverable, the amounts are stated net of VAT. 

1.29 Foreign Currencies 
 The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any foreign currency transactions 

in 2021-22. 

1.30 Third Party Assets 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group does not hold any assets belonging to third parties. 

1.31 Losses & Special Payments 
 Losses and special payments are items that Parliament would not have contemplated 

when it agreed funds for the health service or passed legislation. By their nature they 
are items that ideally should not arise. They are therefore subject to special control 
procedures compared with the generality of payments. They are divided into different 
categories, which govern the way that individual cases are handled. 

 Losses and special payments are charged to the relevant functional headings in 
expenditure on an accruals basis, including losses which would have been made good 
through insurance cover had the clinical commissioning group not been bearing its own 
risks (with insurance premiums then being included as normal revenue expenditure). 

 The Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any losses and special payments 
cases during 2021-22 



118 

 

 

1.32 Critical accounting judgements and key sources of estimation uncertainty 
 In the application of the Clinical Commissioning Groupôs accounting policies, 

management is required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the 
carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other 
sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience 
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from 
those estimates and the estimates and underlying assumptions are continually 
reviewed. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognised in the period in which the 
estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period or in the period of the revision 
and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods. 

1.32.1 Critical accounting judgements in applying accounting policies 
 Other than Going Concern (as per note 1.1), the Clinical Commissioning Group has not 

applied any material critical judgements whilst adhering to accounting policies in 2021- 
22. 

1.32.2 Sources of estimation uncertainty 
 There are no material sources of estimation uncertainty in the Clinical Commissioning 

Groupôs accounts for 2021-22. However, for clarity our key areas requiring estimation 
are as follows: 

 - Prescribing accrual: The actual primary care prescribing costs for February and March 
are not known at the Statement of Financial Position date. As such, costs for February 
and March are forecast based upon the first ten months expenditure as well as historic 
expenditure profiles. 

 - Co-Commissioning: Actual achievement costs for Quality Outcomes Framework and 
Direct Enhanced Services are not known at the Statement of Financial Position date. 
As such, levels of achievement are estimated based on historic information. 

1.33 Gifts 
 Gifts are items that are voluntarily donated, with no preconditions and without the 

expectation of any return. Gifts include all transactions economically equivalent to free 
and unremunerated transfers, such as the loan of an asset for its expected useful life, 
and the sale or lease of assets at below market value. 

1.34 Accounting Standards That Have Been Issued But Have Not Yet Been Adopted 
 The Department of Health and Social Care GAM does not require the following IFRS 

Standards and Interpretations to be applied in 2021-22. These Standards are still 
subject to HM Treasury FReM adoption, with IFRS 16 being for implementation in 
2022/23, and the government implementation date for IFRS 17 still subject to HM 
Treasury consideration. 

 
IFRS 16 Leases ï The Standard was effective from 1 April 2021 as adapted and 
interpreted by the FReM, but has now been deferred by a further year until 1 April 2022 
following the Covid-19 pandemic. The Clinical Commissioning Group has commenced 
its assessment of the impact of IFRS 16 and through this review the Clinical 
Commissioning Group does not deem the implementation of this standard to have 
material impact on the financial statements. 

 
IFRS 17 Insurance Contracts ï Application required for accounting periods beginning 
on or after 1 January 2023, but not yet adopted by the FReM: early adoption is not 
therefore permitted. 
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Other Operating Revenue       

 2021-22 2020-21     

 Total Total     

 £'000 £'000     

Income from sale of goods and services (contracts) 
      

Non-patient care services to other bodies 1,482 1,039     

Other Contract income   644      904      

Total Income from sale of goods and services   2,126      1,943      

Total Operating Income 
 

  2,126      1,943      

 

Disaggregation of Income - Income from sale of good and services (contracts) 

  
2021-22 

   
2020-21 

 

  

Non-patient 
care 

services to 
other bodies 

 
Other 

Contract 
income 

 

 
Total 

Non- 
patient 
care 

services to 
other 

bodies 

 
Other 

Contract 
income 

 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Source of Revenue       

NHS - - - - 15 15 

Non NHS   1,482      644    2,126    1,039    889    1,928  

Total   1,482      644    2,126    1,039    904    1,943  
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Non-patient 
care 

services to 
other bodies 

 
Other 

Contract 
income 

 Non- 
patient 
care 

services to 
other 

bodies 

 
Other 

Contract 
income 

 

 £'000 £'000  £'000  £'000  

Timing of Revenue        

Point in time - - - -  - - 

Over time   1,482    644    2,126    1,376    967    2,343  

Total   1,482    644      2,126    1,376    967    2,343  



121 

 

 

 
NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - 
Annual Accounts 2021-22 

   

4. Employee benefits and staff numbers 
   

4.1.1 Employee benefits Total 
 

2021-22 

 Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Employee Benefits    

Salaries and wages 3,176 299 3,475 

Social security costs 341 - 341 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 646 - 646 

Apprenticeship Levy    4      -    4  

Gross employee benefits expenditure    4,169      299    4,467  

Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 

 
4,169 

 
299 

 
4,467 

Less: Employee costs capitalised    -      -    -  

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs    

 

4,169      
 

299  
 

  4,467  

 
4.1.1 Employee benefits 

 
Total 

  
2020-21 

 Permanent 
Employees 

 
Other 

 
Total 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Employee Benefits    

Salaries and wages 3,545 24 3,569 

Social security costs 307 - 307 

Employer Contributions to NHS Pension scheme 659 - 659 

Apprenticeship Levy    6      -    6  

Gross employee benefits expenditure    4,517      24    4,541  
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Total - Net admin employee benefits including 
capitalised costs 

 

4,517 
 

24 
 

4,541 

Less: Employee costs capitalised   -    -    -  

Net employee benefits excluding capitalised 
costs 

 
  4,517  

 
  24  

 
  4,541  

4.1.2 Recoveries in respect of employee benefits 
 

There were no recoveries in respect of employee 
benefits during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
4.2 Average number of people employed 

 
Permanently 

2021-22 2020-21 

Permanently 
employed Other Total employed Other Total 

Number Number Number Number Number Number 

Total 68 3 71 59 14 73 

 
 

4.3 Number of whole time equivalent people engaged on capital 
projects - 

 
There were no employees engaged in capital projects in 2021-22 or 
in 2020-21. 

 
 

 
4.4 Exit packages agreed in the financial year 

 
There were no exit packages or other agreed departures agreed by the Clinical Commissioning Group in 2021-22 or in 
2020-21. 
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4.5 Pension costs 

 
Past and present employees are covered by the provisions of the two NHS Pension Schemes. Details 

of the benefits payable and rules of the Schemes can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 

www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions. Both are unfunded defined benefit schemes that cover NHS employers, 

GP practices and other bodies, allowed under the direction of the Secretary of State for Health and 

Social Care in England and Wales. They are not designed to be run in a way that would enable NHS 

bodies to identify their share of the underlying scheme assets and liabilities. Therefore, each scheme 

is accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme: the cost to the NHS body of participating 

in each scheme is taken as equal to the contributions payable to that scheme for the accounting period. 

In order that the defined benefit obligations recognised in the financial statements do not differ materially 

from those that would be determined at the reporting date by a formal actuarial valuation, the FReM 

requires that ñthe period between formal valuations shall be four years, with approximate assessments 

in intervening yearsò. An outline of these follows: 

 
a) Accounting valuation 

 
A valuation of scheme liability is carried out annually by the scheme actuary (currently the Government 

Actuaryôs Department) as at the end of the reporting period. This utilises an actuarial assessment for 

the previous accounting period in conjunction with updated membership and financial data for the 

current reporting period, and is accepted as providing suitably robust figures for financial reporting 

purposes. The valuation of the scheme liability as at 31 March 2022, is based on valuation data as 31 

March 2021, updated to 31 March 2022 with summary global member and accounting data. In 

undertaking this actuarial assessment, the methodology prescribed in IAS 19, relevant FReM 

interpretations, and the discount rate prescribed by HM Treasury have also been used. 

The latest assessment of the liabilities of the scheme is contained in the report of the scheme actuary, 

which forms part of the annual NHS Pension Scheme Accounts. These accounts can be viewed on the 

NHS Pensions website and are published annually. Copies can also be obtained from The Stationery 

Office. 

 
b) Full actuarial (funding) valuation 

 
The purpose of this valuation is to assess the level of liability in respect of the benefits due under the 

schemes (taking into account recent demographic experience), and to recommend contribution rates 

payable by employees and employers. 

 
The latest actuarial valuation undertaken for the NHS Pension Scheme was completed as at 31 March 

2016. The results of this valuation set the employer contribution rate payable from April 2019 to 20.6% 

of pensionable pay. 

 
The 2016 funding valuation also tested the cost of the Scheme relative to the employer cost cap that 

was set following the 2012 valuation. There was initially a pause to the cost control element of the 2016 

valuations, due to the uncertainty around member benefits caused by the discrimination ruling relating 

to the McCloud case. 

 
HMT published valuation directions dated 7 October 2021 (see Amending Directions 2021) that set out 

the technical detail of how the costs of remedy are included in the 2016 valuation process. Following 

these directions, the scheme actuary has completed the cost control element of the 2016 valuation for 

the NHS Pension Scheme, which concludes no changes to benefits or member contributions are 

required. The 2016 valuation reports can be found on the NHS Pensions website at 

https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports. 

http://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/pensions
https://www.nhsbsa.nhs.uk/nhs-pension-scheme-accounts-and-valuation-reports
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5. Operating expenses 
   

 2021-22  2020-21 
 Total  Total 
 £'000  £'000 

Purchase of goods and services 
   

Services from other CCGs and NHS England 1,403  1,625 

Services from foundation trusts 18,614  17,744 

Services from other NHS trusts 209,346  200,284 

Services from Other WGA bodies 0  0 

Purchase of healthcare from non-NHS bodies 68,740  58,879 

Prescribing costs 32,766  32,801 

Pharmaceutical services 176  165 

General Ophthalmic services 23  37 

GPMS/APMS and PCTMS 33,483  30,932 

Supplies and services ï clinical 1,329  1,257 

Supplies and services ï general 748  615 

Establishment 1,013  668 

Premises 2,177  1,191 

Audit fees* 51  51 

Other non statutory audit expenditure    

· Internal audit services 29  29 

· Other services 12  12 

Other professional fees 29  47 

Legal fees 25  18 

Education, training and conferences   101     43  

Total Purchase of goods and services   370,063     346,397  

Depreciation and impairment charges 
   

Depreciation   -     39  

Total Depreciation and impairment charges   -     39  

Provision expense 
   

Provisions   623     -  

Total Provision expense   623     -  

Other Operating Expenditure 
   

Chair and Non Executive Members 95  88 

Grants to Other bodies   -     (14)  

Total Other Operating Expenditure   95     73  

Total operating expenditure   370,781     346,510  

 

The auditor's liability for external audit work carried out for the financial year 2021/22 is limited to £500,000 

* Audit fees include £8,480 of VAT. The net Audit Fee charges in 2021/22 was £42,400. 
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6.1 Better Payment Practice Code 

 

Measure of compliance 

 
Non-NHS Payables 

2021-22 

Number 

2021-22 

£'000 

2020-21 

Number 

2020-21 

£'000 

Total Non-NHS Trade invoices paid in the Year 6,258 97,123 5,297 93,979 

Total Non-NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 6,173 96,208 5,254 93,670 

Percentage of Non-NHS Trade invoices paid within target 98.6% 99.1% 99.2% 99.7% 

NHS Payables 
    

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid in the Year 420 232,294 891 223,440 

Total NHS Trade Invoices Paid within target 418 232,293 877 223,330 

Percentage of NHS Trade Invoices paid within target 99.5% 100.0% 98.4% 100.0% 
 

6.2 The Late Payment of Commercial Debts (Interest) Act 1998 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any late payment charges during 2021-22 or in 20 

 
7 Income Generation Activities 
The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any income generating 
activities during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
8. Investment revenue 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not receive any investment income during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
9. Other gains and losses 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not experience any gains or other losses during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
10. Finance costs 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any finance costs during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 
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11. Net gain/(loss) on transfer by absorption 
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not undertake any transfers of assets or liabilities as part of a reorganisation which required the adoption of absorption 
during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

12. Operating Leases 
        

12.1 As lessee 
        

The Clinical Commissioning Group occupies office premises owned by Portsmouth City Council. The current arrangement expired on 14th February 2022. 
Negotiations are ongoing to extend this and at the moment we have included a one year extension at current terms to recognise the commitment. 
The Clinical Commissioning Group has entered into a lease for photocopiers with Canon (UK) Ltd over five years from October 2019 
at a cost of £1k per annum. 

12.1.1 Payments recognised as an Expense 
   

2021-22 
   

2020-21 

Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Payments recognised as an expense         

Minimum lease payments - 234 2 235 - 225 2 227 

Contingent rents - - - - - - - - 

Sub-lease payments    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Total    -    234    2    235    -    225    2    227  

 
12.1.2 Future minimum lease payments 

    
2021-22 

    
2020-21 

Land Buildings Other Total Land Buildings Other Total 

£'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Payable:         

No later than one year - 218 2 220 - 218 1 219 

Between one and five years - - 2 2 - - 4 4 

After five years    -    -    -    -    -    -    -    -  

Total    -    218    4    222    -    218    5    223  
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12.2 As lessor 

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not enter into any arrangements that would constitute the Clinical Commissioning Group as being the 
lessor in 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
 

 
13 Property, plant and equipment      

 

 
2021-22 

 
Information 
technology 

  
Furniture & 

fittings 

  

 
Total 

 £'000  £'000  £'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2021 77  119  195 

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2022   77     119     195  

Depreciation 01 April 2021 77 
 

119 
 

195 

Depreciation at 31 March 2022   77     119     195  

Net Book Value at 31 March 2022   -     -     -  

Purchased   -  
 

  -  
 

  -  

Total at 31 March 2022   -     -     -  



129 

 

 

 
2020-21 Information 

technology 

 Furniture & 
fittings 

 Total 

  
£'000 

  
£'000 

  
£'000 

Cost or valuation at 01 April 2020 77  119  195 

Cost/Valuation at 31 March 2021   77     119     195  

Depreciation 01 April 2020 61 
 

95 
 

156 

Charged during the year   15  
 

  24  
 

  39  

Depreciation at 31 March 2021   77     119     195  

Net Book Value at 31 March 2021   -     -     (0)  

Purchased   -  
 

  -  
 

  -  

Total at 31 March 2021   -     -     -  

 

13.1 Economic Lives 

     

 
Assets relate to the refurbishment of the office accommodation within the Civic Offices in order to relocate the Clinical Commissioning 
Group Headquarters. Assets have been depreciated over a 5 year duration of the initial occupancy period on a straight-line basis. This 
commenced on 01 April 2016. There is no economic life remaining as at 31st March 2021. 

 
 

 
13.2 Cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets 
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The cost or valuation of fully depreciated assets still in use was as 
follows: 

  

2021-22 2020-21 

£'000  £'000 

Information technology 77 - 

Furniture & fittings    119    -  

Total    195    -  

14. Intangible non-current assets 
  

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no Intangible non-current assets during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

15. Investment Property 
  

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no Investment Property during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

16. Inventories 
  

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no Inventories during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 
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17 Trade and other receivables Current Non-current Current Non-current 
 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

NHS receivables: Revenue 76 - 132 - 

NHS prepayments 3 - - - 

NHS Contract Receivable not yet invoiced/non-invoice 373 - 5 - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA receivables: Revenue 402 - 1,000 - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA prepayments 89 - 1,136 - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA Contract Receivable not yet 
invoiced/non-invoice 

 

1,275 
 

- 
 

80 
 

- 

VAT   52    -    34    -  

Total Trade & other receivables   2,270    -    2,387    -  

Total current and non current   2,270     2,387   

Included above: 
    

Prepaid pensions contributions -  -  

 

17.1 Receivables past their due date but not impaired 

    

 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21 

 DHSC Group 
Bodies 

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies 

DHSC Group 
Bodies 

Non DHSC 
Group Bodies 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

By up to three months - 11 - 33 

By three to six months - - - - 

By more than six months   -    -    -    -  

Total   -    11    -    33  
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The Clinical Commissioning Group has not provided for the impairment of any of its receivables as at the 31st 
March 2022. 

 
18. Other financial assets 

  

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other financial assets 
during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

  

 
19. Other current assets 

  

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other current assets 
during 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

  

 
20. Cash and cash equivalents 

  

2021-22 2020-21 

£'000  £'000 

Balance at 01 April 2021 119 98 

Net change in year    (788)    22  

Balance at 31 March 2022    (668)    119  

Made up of: 
  

Cash with the Government Banking Service - 119 

Cash with Commercial banks - - 

Cash in hand - - 

Current investments    -    -  

Cash and cash equivalents as in statement of financial 
position 

 
- 

 
119 

Bank overdraft: Government Banking Service (668) - 

Bank overdraft: Commercial banks - - 
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Total bank overdrafts (668)  - 

Balance at 31 March 2022   (668)     119  

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not hold any patient monies in 2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

The CCG held a cleared cash position of £72k at 31st March 2002 which was within our target of £330k 
maximum. A Bacs payment of £740k was made on 31st March which cleared the bank on 5th April 2022. This 
has resulted in a technical credit ledger cash position and only reflects a timing difference in the drawdown 
process and cash being made available in the bank. 

 
21. Non-current assets held for sale 

   

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not have any non-current assets held for sale in 
2021-22 or in 2020-21. 

 
22. Analysis of impairments and reversals 

   

The Clinical Commissioning Group did not incur any impairments or reversals in 2021-22 
or in 2020-21. 
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Current 

 
Non-current 

 
Current 

 
Non-current 

23. Trade and other payables 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 2020-21 

 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

NHS payables: Revenue 280 - 113 - 

NHS accruals 571 - 210 - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA payables: Revenue 1,083 - 2,978 - 

Non-NHS and Other WGA accruals 22,443 - 13,029 - 

Social security costs 60 - 61 - 

Tax 49 - 52 - 

Other payables and accruals   455    -    328    -  

Total Trade & Other Payables 24,942 - 16,771 - 

Total current and non-current   24,942     16,771   

Due to them being paid a month in arrears, other payables include £407,235 outstanding pension contributions at 31 March 2022 (£280,777 at 
31 March 2021). 

 

24. Other financial liabilities 

    

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other financial liabilities in 2021-2 or 2020-21. 

 
25. Other liabilities 

    

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no other liabilities in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 
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26. Borrowings 

 

The CCG held a cleared cash position of £72k at 31st March 2002 which was within our target of £330k maximum. A Bacs payment of £740k 
was made on 31st March which cleared the bank on 5th April 2022. This has resulted in a technical credit ledger cash position and only 
reflects a timing difference in the drawdown process and cash being made available in the bank. 

 
27. Private finance initiative, LIFT and other service concession arrangements 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no private finance initiative, LIFT or other service concession arrangements in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

 
28. Finance lease obligations 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no finance lease obligations in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

 
29. Finance lease receivables 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no finance lease receivables in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 
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30 Provisions 

 
 

 
Current 

 
 

 
Non-current 

 
 

 
Current 

 
 

 
Non-current 

 

 
Other 

2021-22 

£'000 

  -  

2021-22 

£'000 

  901  

2020-21 

£'000 

  -  

2020-21 

£'000 

  278  

Total - 901 - 278 

Total current and non-current   901     278   

 
Other 

£'000 

Total 

£'000 

  

Balance at 01 April 2021 278 278 
  

Arising during the year 

Utilised during the year 

Reversed unused 

Unwinding of discount 

Change in discount rate 

Transfer (to) from other public sector body 

Transfer (to) from other public sector body under absorption 

623 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

  -  

623 

- 

- 

- 

- 

- 

  -  

  

Balance at 31 March 2022 901 901   

Expected timing of cash flows: 

Within one year 

 

- 

 

- 

  

Between one and five years 

After five years 

901 

  -  

901 

  -  

  

Balance at 31 March 2022   901    901    
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The CCG has two provisions: 

 

One relates to an ongoing HMRC investigation into the employment classification of off-payroll employees which commenced in February 2017 but relates 
to the period April 2013-March 2016. The provision has been held during 2021-22 as the investigation outcome is still awaited. It is not known when this 
matter will be concluded. This provision is for £278k. 

 
The second relates to a provision for VAT which has been reclaimed against our wheelchair provision contract. VAT advice received during 2021-22 has 
flagged that this may not be allowable and that the CCG may be liable for repayment of the VAT reclaimed, a penalty and interest. Further professional 
advise is being undertaken. This provision is for £623k. 

 
31. Contingencies 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no contingencies as at 31st March 2022 
or 31st March 2021. 

 
32. Commitments 

 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no capital commitments or other non cancellable financial commitments as at 31st March 2022 or 31st March 
2021. 
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33 Financial instruments 

33.1 Financial risk management 

Financial reporting standard IFRS 7 requires disclosure of the role that financial instruments have had during the period in creating or changing the risks a 
body faces in undertaking its activities. 

Because NHS clinical commissioning group is financed through parliamentary funding, it is not exposed to the degree of financial risk faced by business 
entities. Also, financial instruments play a much more limited role in creating or changing risk than would be typical of listed companies, to which the 
financial reporting standards mainly apply. The clinical commissioning group has limited powers to borrow or invest surplus funds and financial assets and 
liabilities are generated by day-to-day operational activities rather than being held to change the risks facing the clinical commissioning group in undertaking 
its activities. 

Treasury management operations are carried out by the finance department, within parameters defined formally within the NHS clinical commissioning 
group standing financial instructions and policies agreed by the Governing Body. Treasury activity is subject to review by the NHS clinical commissioning 
group and internal auditors. 

33.1.1 Currency risk 

The NHS clinical commissioning group is principally a domestic organisation with the great majority of transactions, assets and liabilities being in the UK and 
sterling based. The NHS clinical commissioning group has no overseas operations. The NHS clinical commissioning group and therefore has low exposure 
to currency rate fluctuations. 

33.1.2 Interest rate risk 

The clinical commissioning group borrows from government for capital expenditure, subject to affordability as confirmed by NHS England. The borrowings 
are for 1 to 25 years, in line with the life of the associated assets, and interest is charged at the National Loans Fund rate, fixed for the life of the loan. The 
clinical commissioning group therefore has low exposure to interest rate fluctuations. 

33.1.3 Credit risk 

Because the majority of the NHS clinical commissioning group and revenue comes parliamentary funding, NHS clinical commissioning group has low 
exposure to credit risk. The maximum exposures as at the end of the financial year are in receivables from customers, as disclosed in the trade and other 
receivables note. 

 
33.1.4 Liquidity risk 
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NHS clinical commissioning group is required to operate within revenue and capital resource limits, which are financed from resources voted annually by 
Parliament. The NHS clinical commissioning group draws down cash to cover expenditure, as the need arises. The NHS clinical commissioning group is 
not, therefore, exposed to significant liquidity risks. 

33.1.5 Financial Instruments 
      

As the cash requirements of NHS England are met through the Estimate process, financial instruments play a more limited role in creating and managing 
risk than would apply to a non-public sector body. The majority of financial instruments relate to contracts to buy non-financial items in line with NHS 
England's expected purchase and usage requirements and NHS England is therefore exposed to little credit, liquidity or market risk. 

33.2 Financial assets 
      

 
Financial 
Assets 

measured at 
amortised 

cost 

 

Equity 
Instruments 
designated 
at FVOCI 

 
 
 

 
Total 

 
 
 

 
Total 

 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 

 £'000   £'000 £'000 £'000 

Equity investment in group bodies    - - - 

Equity investment in external bodies    - - - 

Loans receivable with group bodies  -   - - 

Loans receivable with external bodies  -   - - 

Trade and other receivables with NHSE bodies 60   60 29 

Trade and other receivables with other DHSC group bodies 389   389 108 

Trade and other receivables with external bodies 1,677   1,677 1,081 

Other financial assets  -   - - 

Cash and cash equivalents    -      -    119  

Total at 31 March 2022   2,126     -    2,126    1,337  

 
33.3 Financial liabilities 
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 Financial 
Liabilities 

measured at 
amortised 

cost 

 
 
 

Other 

 
 
 

Total 

 
 
 

Total 
 2021-22 2021-22 2021-22 2020-21 
 £'000 £'000 £'000 £'000 

Loans with group bodies -  - - 

Loans with external bodies 668  668 - 

Trade and other payables with NHSE bodies 417  417 135 

Trade and other payables with other DHSC group bodies 434  434 6,747 

Trade and other payables with external bodies 23,981  23,981 9,776 

Other financial liabilities -  - - 

Private Finance Initiative and finance lease obligations   -     -    -  

Total at 31 March 2022   25,500    -    25,500    16,659  
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34. Operating segments 
    

 

The nature of the Clinical Commissioning Group's service is the commissioning of healthcare services. Accordingly, the Clinical 
Commissioning Group operates a single segment: Healthcare. 

 
35. Joint arrangements - interests in joint 
operations 

    

CCGs should disclose information in relation to joint arrangements in line with the requirements in IFRS 12 - Disclosure of interests in 
other entities. 

 
35.1 Interests in joint operations 

    

   
Amounts 

recognised 
in Entities 

books ONLY 

Amounts 
recognised in 
Entities books 

ONLY 

Name of arrangement Parties to the arrangement 
Description of principal 

activities 
Expenditure Expenditure 

   2021-22  

   £'000 £'000 

Better Care Fund 
NHS Portsmouth CCG and 
Portsmouth City Council 

Joint health and social care 
initiatives 

19,785 19,575 

Continuing Care 
NHS Portsmouth CCG and 
Portsmouth City Council 

Continuing Healthcare 
Pooled Budget 

18,840 18,840 

Health and Care Portsmouth Commissioning 
NHS Portsmouth CCG and 
Portsmouth City Council 

Single integrated 
commissioning team 

514 410 
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36. NHS Lift investments 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no LIFT investments in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

37. Related party transactions 

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group has not had any transactions with another organisation where a Governing 
Body Member has a controlling interest in 2021/22 and 2020/21. 

The Department of Health is regarded as a related party. During the year the Clinical Commissioning Group has had a 
significant number of transactions with other NHS entities for which the Department is regarded as the parent department. 

The Clinical Commissioning Group had a significant number of material transactions with Portsmouth Hospitals University 
Trust, Solent NHS Trust and South Central Ambulance Services NHS Foundation Trust. 

38. Events after the end of the reporting period 

The Health and Care Act received Royal Assent on 28 April 2022. Subject to the issue of an establishment order by NHS 
England NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group will be dissolved on 30 June 2022. This therefore means that the two 
Clinical Commissioning Groups of NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group and NHS Hampshire, Southampton and Isle 
of Wight Clinical Commissioning Group will closedown on 30th June 2022, and the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated 
Care Board will be established on 1st July 2022, which will have wider responsibilities than just the Clinical Commissioning 
Groups current remit. 

The merger and establishment of the Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board is regarded as a 'transfer of function'. 
The DHSC Group Accounting Manual directs that such changes should be accounted for as a ótransfer by absorptionô. The new 
NHS Hampshire and Isle of Wight Integrated Care Board will recognise all activity and balances, as well as assets and liabilities 
received as at the date of transfer (1 July 2022), after taking into account intercompany transactions. 

Funds that have been allocated to NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group from NHS England (NHSE) up until 2023-24 
in line with the Government's Five Year Forward View are still applicable and will transfer across into the newly created 
organisation. Therefore, due to the existence of allocation and plans going forward, as well as a continuation of services 
provided, it is concluded that under the Government Financial Reporting Manual (FReM) NHS Portsmouth Clinical 
Commissioning Group's financial statements have been prepared as a going concern for financial reporting purposes. 

39. Losses and Special Payments 

There were no Losses and Special Payments 
incurred in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

40. Third party assets 
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The Clinical Commissioning Group held no third party 
assets in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 

    

NHS Portsmouth Clinical Commissioning Group - Annual Accounts 2021-22     

41. Financial performance targets 
    

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group have a number of financial duties under the NHS 
Act 2006 (as amended). 

    

NHS Clinical Commissioning Group performance against those duties was as follows:     

 
2021-22 2021-22 Surplus 

 

 Target Performance (Deficit) Achieved 

 £000 £000 £000  

 
In-Year Expenditure not to exceed income 

 
375,256 

 
375,248 

 
8 V 

 
Cumulative Expenditure not to exceed income (i) 

 
382,538 

 
375,248 

 
7,290 V 

 
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- V 

 
In-Year Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
373,130 

 
373,122 

 
8 V 

 
Cumulative Revenue resource does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
380,412 

 
373,122 

 
7,290 V 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 
V 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions (ii) 

 

36,304 

 

31,433 

 

4,871 

 
V 
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Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 

4,347 
 

4,244 
 

103 V 

  
2020-21 

 
2020-21 

 
Surplus 

 

 Target Performance (Deficit) Achieved 
 £000 £000 £000  

Expenditure not to exceed income 351,091 351,050 41 V 

 
Cumulative Expenditure not to exceed income (i) 

 
358,373 

 
351,050 

 
7,323 V 

 
Capital resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
- 

 
- 

 
- V 

 
In-Year Revenue resource use does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
349,148 

 
349,107 

 
41 V 

 
Cumulative Revenue resource does not exceed the amount specified in Directions 

 
356,430 

 
349,107 

 
7,323 V 

Capital resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 

- 

 

- 

 

- 

 
V 

Revenue resource use on specified matter(s) does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions (iii) 

 

31,456 

 

29,140 

 

2,316 

 
V 

Revenue administration resource use does not exceed the amount specified in 
Directions 

 

4,357 

 

4,349 

 

8 

 
V 
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(i) As at 31 March 21 the Clinical Commissioning Group had a historic surplus allocation of £7,282k relating to prior years and an in year surplus of £41k 

giving a cumulative surplus of £7,323k. The in year 2020-21 surplus of £41k has not yet been returned to us. 
 

Therefore our cumulative surplus in 2021-22 of £7,290k is our historic surplus to 2019-20 £7,282k and 2021-22 surplus of £8k. 

(ii) 2021-22 Revenue resource use on specified matters relates to the commissioning of GP Contracts across Portsmouth, delegated by NHS England. 
Surplus expenditure was reinvested into community capacity and urgent response to support Primary Care demand and resilience. 

(iii) 2020-21 Revenue resource use on specified matters relates to the commissioning of GP Contracts across Portsmouth, delegated by NHS England. 
Surplus expenditure was reinvested in the year across GP and other community providers to enhance the Primary Care offer across the population. 

 
42. Analysis of charitable reserves 

The Clinical Commissioning Group held no charitable reserves in 2021-22 or 2020-21. 
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SECTION 7 GLOSSARY 

Some of the terms used in this report may be ones that you are not familiar with. 

This guide may help. 

 
A&E Accident and Emergency Department, often 

referred to now as the Emergency Department or 

ED 

A&E Four Hour Target A nationally set target requiring 95% patients 

attending an A&E department to be seen, treated, 

admitted or discharged in under four hours. 

STP/ICS Sustainable Transformation 

Partnership/Integrated Care System ï a group of 

NHS care provider organisations and 

commissioners working together to provide care 

to local people over a particular geographical 

area ï in our case Portsmouth, South Eastern 

Hampshire and Fareham/Gosport. Can 

sometimes also be referred to as a Local Delivery 

System (LDS). Accountable Care Systems might 

further evolve into Accountable Care 

Organisations at some point in the future (i.e., a 

single employing entity for everyone working in an 

ACS.) The NHS Five Year Forward View Next 

Steps document provides more information. 

BCF Better Care Fund 

Better Local Care The name given to the programme of work in our 

CCG area to develop new models of care, under 

our MCP vanguard programme, particularly in 

bringing primary and community care to work 

more closely together. 

BAME Black and Asian minority ethnic 

CAMHS Child and adolescent mental health services 

CCG Clinical Commissioning Group 

CEV Clinically extremely vulnerable. A list of groups 

identified as being most vulnerable to COVID-19 

can be found here. 

CHC NHS continuing healthcare 

COMPACT This is the term that refers to three CCGs in the 

South East Hampshire working collectively 

together. The COMPACT is a formal agreement 

signed by all three. 

https://www.nhs.uk/conditions/coronavirus-covid-19/people-at-higher-risk/who-is-at-high-risk-from-coronavirus-clinically-extremely-vulnerable/


147 

 

 

 

COPD Chronic obstructive pulmonary disease 

CQC Care Quality Commission 

CQUIN Commissioning for Quality and Innovation 

Payment ï allows commissioners to reward 

excellence, by linking a proportion healthcare 

providers' income to the achievement of local 

quality improvement goals. 

CSU Commissioning Support Unit 

ED Emergency Department (see A&E above) 

E&D Equality and diversity 

EIA Equality Impact Assessment 

EPRR Emergency Preparedness, Resilience 

and Response ï how we plan to respond to major 

incidents or intense pressure on services 

Equality delivery system Linked to the Public Sector Equality Duty, this is a 

tool that helps local NHS organisations review 

and improve their performance for people with 

characteristics protected by the Equality Act 

2010. 

ESR Electronic staff record 

FOI Freedom of Information 

FFT Friends and family test 

FT Foundation Trust 

FTE Full time equivalent (for staff purposes) ï 

sometimes referred to as Whole Time Equivalent 

(WTE) 

FYFV (also 5YFV) NHS Five Year Forward View document 

Governing Board/Governing 

Body 

All CCGs are required to have a Governing Body 

and locally we refer to ours as a Governing 

Board. 

GBAF Governing Body Assurance Framework 

GMS General medical services (contract) 

GP General Practitioner 

HASC/HOSP Local authority monitoring and scrutiny bodies ï 

the Hampshire Health and Adult Social Care 

Select Committee and the Portsmouth Health 

Overview and Scrutiny Panel. 

Health and Care 

Portsmouth/HCP 

The name given to the programme of work in 

Portsmouth to develop new models of care, 

particularly in bringing primary and community 

care to work more closely together. 
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Health and Wellbeing Board A forum where key leaders from the health and 

care system work together to improve the health 

and wellbeing of their local population and reduce 

health inequalities. 

HCAI/CDIFF Health Care Acquired Infection (one such 

example is CDIFF or clostridium difficile) 

HIVE Portsmouth A strategic partnership in Portsmouth consisting 

of a representative group of the voluntary and 

community sector, NHS Portsmouth Clinical 

Commissioning Group and Portsmouth City 

Council. They connect people and organisations 

to share, support and learn with the objective of 

building a happier, healthier and more connected 

city. 

ICP Integrated Care Partnership - a partnership for 

Portsmouth and South East Hampshire which 

includes all NHS providers (including primary 

care) delivering health services for people for the 

area. Local authorities are also involved. 

IG Information Governance 

IT/ICT Information technology/Information 

Communications Technology. However ICT can 

also refer to our Integrated Commissioning Team 

which is developing closer working links between 

health and local authority commissioners. 

JSNA Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 

LA Local authority 

LES Local enhanced service 

LMC Local medical committee 

LSP Local strategic partnership 

MAU Medical assessment unit 

MCP/Multi-specialty 

community provider 

Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and 

integrated primary and acute care systems 

(PACSs) are both population-based new care 

models that aim to improve the physical, mental 

and social health and wellbeing of their local 

population. Both are based around the general 

practice registered list, and apply a new model of 

enhanced primary and community care. 

MCP contract The fully integrated MCP contract will be the 

means by which new models of care will be 
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 delivered in future. It is essentially a new 

streamlined hybrid of the NHS standard contract 

and a contract for primary medical services. It will 

set national and local service requirements and 

standards. Contract duration will be much longer 

than is usual for an NHS standard contract: 10 or 

15 years. 

MDT Multi-disciplinary team. A group of different health 

and care professionals who work with care homes 

to support their residents. 

MIU Minor injuries unit 

NHSE NHS England 

NHS Five Year Forward View The NHS Five Year Forward View, published in 

October 2014, sets out a vision for the future of 

the NHS. It articulates why change is needed, 

and how we can achieve it, defining the actions 

required at local and national level to support 

delivery. 

NHS Long Term Plan Successor publication to the NHS Five Year 

Forward View published in January 2019 by NHS 

England. More information is available here. 

NHS South, Central and 

West Commissioning 

Support Unit (CSU) 

The body that provides a range of support 

services to CCGs in the Hampshire area, 

including Portsmouth 

OOH Out of hours 

PACS/Primary and Acute 

Care System 

Multispecialty community providers (MCPs) and 

integrated primary and acute care systems 

(PACSs) are both population-based new care 

models that aim to improve the physical, mental 

and social health and wellbeing of their local 

population. Both are based around the general 

practice registered list and apply a new model of 

enhanced primary and community care. 

PAM Patient activation measure 

PAS Patient administration system 

PCC Portsmouth City Council 

PCN Primary care network (see NHS Long Term Plan 

Jan 2019) 

PDP Personal development plan 

PFI Private finance initiative 

PHE Public Health England 

https://www.england.nhs.uk/long-term-plan/
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PHU Portsmouth Hospitals University NHS Trust ï 

provider of acute health services locally 

PMS Personal medical services 

Portsmouth Primary Care 

Alliance/PPCA 

A formal body representing the interests of GP 

practices in the city 

PPE/PPI Patient and public engagement/involvement 

Public Sector Equality Duty The duty came into force in April 2011 and covers 

age, disability, gender, gender reassignment, 

pregnancy and maternity, race, religion or belief 

and sexual orientation. In summary, those subject 

to the general equality duty must have due regard 

to the need to: 

- Eliminate unlawful discrimination, 

harassment and victimisation 

- Advance equality of opportunity between 

different groups 

- Foster good relations between different 

groups 

QIPP The Quality, Innovation, Productivity and 

Prevention (QIPP) programme drives forward 

quality improvements in NHS care, at the same 

time as ensuring efficiency savings. 

QOF Quality and outcomes framework 

RAG Red, amber, green assessment rating 

RTT Referral to treatment ï a nationally set target. The 

Referral to Treatment (RTT) operational 

standards are that 90 per cent of admitted and 95 

percent of non-admitted patients should start 

consultant-led treatment within 18 weeks of 

referral 

SCAS South Central Ambulance Service 

Section 75 agreement An agreement made under section 75 of National 

Health Services Act 2006 between a local 

authority and an NHS body in England. Section 

75 agreements can include arrangements for 

pooling resources and delegating certain NHS 

and local authority health-related functions to the 

other partner(s) if it would lead to an improvement 

in the way those functions are exercised. 

SIRI Serious incident requiring investigation 

SLA Service level agreement 



151 

 

 

 

STP/Sustainability and 

Transformation 

Plan/Partnership 

NHS Shared Planning Guidance in 2016 asked 

every local health and care system in England to 

come together to create their own ambitious local 

plan for accelerating the implementation of the 

Five Year Forward View (5YFV). These 

blueprints, called Sustainability and 

Transformation Plans (STPs), will be place- 

based, multi-year plans built around the needs of 

local populations. STPs will help drive a genuine 

and sustainable transformation in health and care 

outcomes between 2016 and 2021. Our local plan 

covers Hampshire and the Isle of Wight. 

The NHS Five Year Forward View Next Steps 

document refers to Sustainability and 

Transformation Partnerships ï these will oversee 

the national move towards more integrated care, 

at a local level. 

STP footprint See above. The ófootprintô reference denotes the 

geographical area covered by each separate 

STP. 

SystmOne The shared patient record system used in the city 

TARGET Local training sessions for GPs. 

Vanguard/MCP Vanguard The CCG was selected as one of 14 national 

MCP Vanguard sites (see Better Local Care) to 

be at the forefront of work to deliver new models 

of care that met with the aspirations set out in the 

NHS Five Year Forward View. 

WGA Whole Government Accounts 

WRES Workforce race equality standard 
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If you would like to get in touché 

We value your views on your local NHS. We particularly welcome comments about all 

patient services, as these help us to monitor the quality of the services we commission 

and to make improvements. 

 
We would also be interested in your views on this annual report so we can improve it 

next time. You can also request this annual report in the following versions: 

 
Translated 

Large print 

Braille 

Audio 

 
You can contact us through our website 

www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk 

or by emailing us at 

pccg.enquiries@nhs.net 

You can also follow us on Twitter 

@portsmouthccg 

If you are interested in getting involved in helping us plan, develop and deliver NHS 

services in the Portsmouth area why not join our online Healthy Discussions group or 

join a Patient Participation group through your GP surgery. Details are on our website. 

 
NHS Portsmouth CCG 

CCG Headquarters, 4th Floor, 1 Guildhall Square, Portsmouth, PO1 2GJ 

http://www.portsmouthccg.nhs.uk/
mailto:pccg.enquiries@nhs.net

